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PERFORMANCE REPORT
1.1

PURPOSE AND ACTIVITIES OF THE ORGANISATON

Established in April 2013, NHS West Cheshire Clinical Commissioning Group operates as
a statutory body. The clinical commissioning group’s stated aim is “Making sure you get
the healthcare you need” - reflecting our work to secure the provision of high quality, high
value healthcare which meets the needs of our local population.
We serve a population of approximately 261,000 residents and have 35 member GP
practices. Our member practices are grouped into three locality networks: Rural, Chester
City and Ellesmere Port and Neston. Each locality is chaired by a GP:
•
•
•

Rural: Dr Steve Pomfret (The Knoll Surgery, Frodsham)
Chester City: Dr Annabel Jones (Boughton Health Centre, Chester)
Ellesmere Port and Neston: Dr Jeremy Perkins (Neston Surgery, Neston)

The membership of the clinical commissioning group is also represented by a membership
council, which meets quarterly. The membership has delegated responsibility for
developing the clinical and financial strategy, with day-to-day management of the business
of the clinical commissioning group delegated to the governing body and senior
management team.
Using a £333million commissioning budget, NHS West Cheshire Clinical Commissioning
Group is responsible for commissioning:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Elective (or planned) hospital care
Urgent and emergency care
Community health services
Maternity services
Older people’s healthcare services
Healthcare services for children, including those with complex needs
Rehabilitation services following hospital admission
Healthcare services for people with mental health conditions
Healthcare services for people with learning disabilities and autism
Continuing healthcare support for people with complex needs who require specialist
nursing support
Some general practice and pharmacy services

Alongside local GP practices and nine integrated community care teams, care is provided
for the people of West Cheshire largely by Cheshire and Wirral Partnership NHS
Foundation Trust (for community and mental health care), the Countess of Chester
Hospital NHS Foundation Trust (for secondary and acute care) and Cheshire West and
Chester Council (for social care and broader local services).
At our borders, around 20% of patients also receive care from organisations located on the
Wirral, in East Cheshire and into Wales.
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In July 2016, the clinical commissioning group was placed in formal directions by NHS
England. As such, monthly assurance meetings with NHS England have since been held
to ensure that we meet our statutory duties.
Our 2016/17 financial recovery plan detailed a range of schemes designed to deliver
necessary savings across six programme areas – medicines management, urgent care,
complex care, elective care, starting well and being well – all supported by our work in
primary care and mental health.
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Context: the local picture
Our local population lives in both urban centres and rural villages that include areas of
affluence and of significant deprivation. West Cheshire has, a slightly older population than
the national average; the main health issues are mental health, heart disease and stroke,
diabetes, cancer and respiratory disease.
Just less than a third of local people live in areas ranked in the 40% most deprived in
England. A higher proportion of people say their daily activities are limited compared to
England average. The proportion of residents from minority ethnic groups (5.9%) is much
lower than the national rate of 20.2%.
Demand for services is increasing due to the change in our population outlined above,
changing lifestyles, the ongoing increasing expectations of the public and with new
treatments and drugs. It is estimated that 12% of people aged over 65 years have three or
more long-term conditions. The number of people with more than one long-term condition
will therefore increase as the population ages.
Our Joint Strategic Needs Assessment produced by the local authority tells us that across
Cheshire West and Chester life expectancy is slightly lower than the England average for
women and is the same as England for men. Life expectancy has been improving but at a
faster rate in men compared with women so the gender gap has narrowed.
Life expectancy is significantly lower in our more deprived areas; the gap between most
and least deprived areas is static for men and widening for women. Heart disease and
cancer are the key diseases that contribute to inequalities for men. Cancer, particularly
lung cancer, is significant for women. Death rates for cancer have increased in more
deprived areas whilst reducing in less deprived areas.
People in Cheshire West and Chester can expect to spend a higher proportion of their
lives in good health than the England average.
From our engagement with the local population we also know that we have levels of
‘hidden’ health inequalities relating to our rural population and the gypsy and traveller
community locally. Even less deprived people in our rural areas can face barriers to
accessing services due to poor transport links and this has measurable impacts on their
health outcomes.
The Health and Wellbeing Board Leader brings together key leaders from not only the
local health and care system, but also partners from wider services that contribute to an
overall well-being environment. The clinical commissioning group is represented by our
Clinical Chair and Chief Executive Officer who form part of the core membership of the
Health and Wellbeing Board.
In 2015/16, the Board updated and ratified the health and wellbeing strategy. The strategy
is the responsibility of the Health and Wellbeing Board and focuses on the most complex
and critical needs of our population and will be evaluated and updated on a regular basis
in the light of progress, feedback and the evolving needs of our communities.
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The emphasis in this strategy is on prevention, improved coordination and integration of
service delivery. This is aligned with the principles adopted in our local strategy, the West
Cheshire Way, which also gives prevention initiatives a high priority status, supported by
financial investment.
The strategy has been co-produced by residents, partner organisations and other key
stakeholders. By putting residents and partners at the centre of the planning process, the
agreed priority areas are supported not only by the Joint Strategic Needs Assessment and
which, with other data forms a sound evidence base, but are driven by local experience
and opinion.
If West Cheshire was a village of 100 people

In one year our West Cheshire village of 100 people use/have
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Delivering the Next Steps on the NHS Five Year Forward View
As highlighted in Next Steps on the NHS Five Year View, new treatments for a growing
and ageing population mean that pressures on the health service are greater than they
have ever been. However, in the face of these significant challenges we are also
presented with opportunities to operate in a different way.
The importance of collaboration and integration is clear given the current operational risks
and financial challenges facing not just the NHS but all sector partners. The local NHS,
Cheshire West and Chester Council and the voluntary sector is committed to developing a
joined-up health and care system that is safe, affordable and meets the needs of the local
population. We call this the West Cheshire Way.
The overarching aim of the West Cheshire Way transformation programme is to deliver
joined-up services which support more people to access the care they need closer to
home, enhance prevention and self-care and improve the management of long-term
conditions.
The core principles of the West Cheshire Way have never been more important to the
future of health and care in our area. We must keep in sight that treatment and outcomes
in West Cheshire are far better than ever before and that our work with partners will
ensure further improvements in 2017/18.
In West Cheshire, system-wide collaborative leadership, shared values and the pursuit of
better health and social care outcomes come before organisational sovereignty. The local
NHS and Cheshire West and Chester Council commissioners are working closely to join
up care to deliver better health, better care and better value.
There is a strong shared belief that only by creating an accountable care organisation will
these benefits be realised.
While discussions about better integration of care have been ongoing for many years,
without significant transformation there will be insufficient funding to maintain the quality
and standards that we want our population to experience.
An accountable care organisation is how we plan to deliver the leap forward in quality,
safety, patient outcomes and sustainability of health and care services in West Cheshire.
Although discussions are at an early stage, the accountable care organisation partners are
committed to further integration of services. The accountable care organisation will bring
together hospital and primary care services, physical and mental health and health and
social care. We will act as one place, one plan and one budget.
Clinical commissioning groups across Cheshire have also been discussing the potential
benefits of a unified, Cheshire-wide approach to the planning, buying and monitoring of
healthcare.
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The intention is now for the four clinical commissioning groups of Cheshire to establish a
formal joint committee which will progress the development of a unified health
commissioner approach to support the delivery of local healthcare.
Working closely with Cheshire West and Chester Council, Cheshire East Council, and
NHS England, proposals for unified health commissioning in Cheshire will be discussed
further in the coming weeks and months.
Once the proposals have been developed in more detail we will be engaging widely with
stakeholders and consulting with local people.

1.2

PERFORMANCE

1.2.1 Measuring Performance – Overview
We measure our performance in a number of ways and against a number of targets. Some
of our performance information is driven by figures that tell us how we are doing against
specific measures - such as waiting times; while other information is qualitative and gives
us a narrative account about what we are doing well and what we need to do better - such
as patient feedback, the annual 360° stakeholder survey and complaints.
Feedback from patients and the public on their experience of using the services that we
commission is recognised as a key marker of the quality of those services and a vital
source of information for quality improvement.
In 2016/17 we continued to develop a single repository for patient information so that key
themes and trends could continue to be collated and analysed. This insight and
intelligence, is critical in helping to inform commissioning and contracting decisions. The
patient experience repository includes data from a range of sources, including:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Local NHS providers
Local GP practices
Patient Advice and Liaison Service (PALS) and Complaints
Consultations
Public events and roadshows
Patient stories
Focus groups
Healthwatch Cheshire West
Friends and Family Test
Patient opinion websites

A review undertaken in 2016/17 found that “access and waiting” was the most important
issue to patients in relation to primary care, mental health services, dementia services, and
both planned and unplanned care.
For children and young people’s services, maternity services and intermediate care,
“building better relationships” was classed as being of highest importance.
For complex care, “safe high-quality care” was the most important patient issue and for
learning disabilities it was “better information, more choice”.
NHS West Cheshire Clinical Commissioning Group
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Quality in our local hospitals and community services
The quality and safety of care delivered in West Cheshire is at the heart of everything we
do. We want to ensure that the NHS services we commission are delivering high quality
care - therefore it is important that we are clear about the standards of care we expect
from our healthcare providers and how we measure them.
When we describe quality we consider these key areas:
•

Experience - how does the health care journey feel for you and your family, carers
and friends?

•

Safety - will the treatment or health care cause you any harm?

•

Effectiveness - does your treatment or healthcare work?

Every contract we have contains a number of sections. One of these is the quality
schedule which contains the standards of care we expect from services provided for local
people. These have been developed by senior clinical staff (doctors, nurses and other
healthcare professionals).
Our two largest providers are the Countess of Chester Hospital NHS Foundation Trust and
the Cheshire and Wirral Partnership NHS Foundation Trust. We have agreed a range of
quality indicators and measures that we monitor to ensure both providers are delivering
the best possible care.
We also hold regular ‘quality and performance’ contract meetings with our providers to
discuss their performance against these standards and other key national performance
indicators. Outcomes are then reported to the clinical commissioning group’s monthly
finance, performance and commissioning committee and bi-monthly quality improvement
committee, both of which report to the public governing body meeting.
Quality in General Practice
We also make sure that the services offered in general practice are of a continually
improving quality. As with other providers, there are a range of quality indicators and
measures in place that allow us to measure how well GP practices care for their patients.
Some indicators are set nationally and are part of each practice’s national contract. Others
are developed locally, drawing on the wealth of available data and through discussion with
practices and clinical leaders.
Our primary care dashboard enables the clinical commissioning group to monitor the
performance of local GP practices against a range of measures – both holistically and
individually. Measures include immunisation, prescribing, referral rates, use of planned
and unplanned hospital services etc.
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The dashboard is shared on a monthly basis with all our GP practices. It is reviewed by the
clinical commissioning group’s primary care team on a monthly basis to highlight the
progress of local practices and to identify whether any additional managerial and/or clinical
support
Additional intelligence around primary care quality is also received from NHS England and
Health Education North West which is collated with the clinical commissioning group’s
information and reported to the primary care committee, and governing body
Measuring our progress in delivering the West Cheshire Way
As people live longer lives, the NHS needs to adapt to their needs – for example helping
frail and older people to stay healthy and independent and, where possible, avoid hospital
stays. To improve prevention and care for patients, as well as to place the NHS on a more
sustainable footing, the NHS Five Year Forward View called for better integration of GP,
community health, mental health and hospital services, as well as more joined up working
with home care and care homes.
It is increasingly clear that what people want from the NHS and the wider care system are
better outcomes and more joined-up care. As a clinical commissioning group we will have
achieved our ambitions set out by the West Cheshire Way if we see:
•

More care provided closer to home;

•

Increasing patient empowerment and self-care;

•

Reduction in unplanned admissions;

•

Integrated care offering greater continuity;

•

Improved patient experience;

•

Safer services;

•

Reduction in avoidable mortality;

Performance against these outcomes is monitored by partners across West Cheshire
through the systems leadership group and exceptions and concerns are escalated to
individual organisation’s governing body (or equivalent board) meeting. Acknowledgement
of the West Cheshire Way’s continued progress, and plans for 2017/18 saw NHS
England’s New Care Models Vanguard Programme award the West Cheshire Way
£400,000 of additional funding for 2017/18.
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1.2.2 Performance Statement from Accountable Officer
NHS West Cheshire Clinical Commissioning Group has a robust governance structure in
place to monitor our quality and performance measures. We report information against key
indicators to the quality improvement committee and progress delivering against our
financial and operational plans to the finance performance and commissioning committee
and primary care committee. Oversight of our systems of internal control are undertaken
by the audit committee. All committees then report to formal governing body (meetings
held in public) where issues are discussed, scrutinised, challenged and decisions are
agreed and ratified. Overall the clinical commissioning group has improved against NHS
constitutional targets during 2016/17 (see below) and is improving financial performance
with a commitment to ensure the organisation is returned to financial balance in 2018/19,
in-line with directions set out by NHS England.
WEST CHESHIRE CCG 16/17 YEAR END PERFORMANCE SUMMARY
A&E

RTT
Measure
Admitted
Non-admitted
Incomplete

Target Achievement
90%
83.0%
95%
95.9%
92%
91.3%

Trend

Change from
15/16

Trend

Change from
15/16

Measure
Patients seen with 4 hours
Number of medically optimised patients

Target Achievement
95%
87.3%
73

Trend

Change
from 15/16

Measure

Target Achievement

Trend

Change
from 15/16

Trend

Change
from 15/16

Trend

Change
from 15/16

999

Excessive waiters
Measure

Target Achievement

26+ weeks
40+ weeks
52+ weeks

527
57
0

R1 in 8

75%

66.5%

R2 in 8
R in 19

75%
95%

64.5%
92.8%

F&F

Diagnostic tests
Measure
<6 weeks

Target Achievement
99%

Trend

Change from
15/16

Overall

96.1%

Measure

Target Achievement

Inpatient

93.0%

A&E
Outpatient
Mental health

84.0%
91.8%
89.7%

Cancer
HCAI

2 week wait
Measure
All cancer
Suspected breast symptoms

Target Achievement
93%

Trend

Change from
15/16

96.6%
96.1%

Measure
MRSA
C. diff

Target Achievement
0
72

3
0

Mixed Sex Accommodation Breaches

62 day wait
Measure
All referral
Referral from screening service

Target Achievement
85%

Referral from consultant upgrade

Trend

Change from
15/16

Measure
Breaches

83.5%
94.1%

Target Achievement
0

Trend

Change
from 15/16

35

90.7%

Mental health

31 day wait
Measure
All treatment
Surgery
Drug regimen
Radiotherapy

Target Achievement
96%
94%
98%
94%

Trend

Change from
15/16

97.2%
95.6%
98.7%
97.3%

NHS West Cheshire Clinical Commissioning Group
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Measure
Dementia

Target Achievement
67%

Trend

Change
from 15/16

67.8%

IAPT access
1.25%
1.7%
IAPT recovery
50%
52.0%
NB: Red bars in trend charts indicate months where a measure has fallen below the target, if
applicable.
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1.2.3 Public involvement/engagement and consultation
Communicating and engaging with the people of West Cheshire, partner organisations,
our GP members and the third sector is central to achieving our vision of a high-quality,
joined-up healthcare system that is safe, affordable and meets the needs of the local
population.
The clinical commissioning group holds patient and public involvement in the highest
regard. We want to ensure local people have a voice in shaping and influencing health and
care services in West Cheshire.
Overall accountability for the delivery of effective communications and meaningful
engagement is retained by the clinical commissioning group’s governing body, with a
dedicated lay member responsible for ensuring patient and public involvement is
considered and demonstrated at all stages of the commissioning cycle.
Throughout 2016/17 patients and the public were encouraged and supported to get
involved with the work of the clinical commissioning group and its priority programmes.
This involvement was either in an advisory capacity – through invitation to specific
meetings, workshops or events led by programme and clinical leads – or through regular
input to specific project-level “task and finish” work.
Examples of how patient and public involvement is bringing about positive changes include
our work with the people of West Cheshire and patient groups to refine and influence our
savings plans and public consultations.
Patient and public input has also been key in influencing our ongoing efforts to improve GP
access, for example by enhancing the local extended hours offer. The people of West
Cheshire have also helped to shape a number of other initiatives including our “Year of
Care” model which sees patients with long term conditions being cared for holistically
rather than on a disease-specific basis in primary care.
.
Furthermore, in 2016/17 our work with the National Association for Voluntary and
Community Action included the design of a training programme for patient public voice
representatives. This led to a joint workshop at the health and care innovation EXPO
exploring how the patient and public voice can be embedded into the design and delivery
of services.
NHS West Cheshire Clinical Commissioning Group’s commitment to engaging with a wide
range of patient groups and listening to their views was enhanced further in 2016/17. In
addition to working closely with a number of patient representatives to embed the patient
voice into priority programme work and co-ordinating quarterly patient participation group
chairs’ meetings and workshops, we also set up a new patient support group forum.
This forum provides an opportunity for the clinical commissioning group to forge stronger
links with key third sector groups and enables them to directly influence our work. It also
enables the clinical commissioning group to tap into the knowledge and expertise of
experienced volunteers who, through their work, enjoy excellent links into our local
communities.

NHS West Cheshire Clinical Commissioning Group
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Patient participation groups within each GP practice remain an important conduit between
practices, the practice populations and the clinical commissioning group. Rich feedback
was received from patient participation group chairs at the quarterly meetings on topics
including regional health planning, consultations, patient transport services, maternity
services, the Cheshire Care Record and patient flow in and out of hospital.
Patient representatives aligned to a number of the clinical commissioning group’s key
programmes of work continued to ensure that the patient voice was heard in relation to the
design and implementation of new initiatives.
Finally, to embed participation throughout the organisation and throughout the
commissioning cycle the clinical commissioning group has in place;
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

A communications and engagement strategy setting out the clinical commissioning
group’s commitment to patient and public involvement
A lay member for patient and public involvement on the governing body
Healthwatch and lay member representation on the finance performance and
commissioning committee and primary care committee
Representation from Healthwatch and voluntary sector at the West Cheshire
Senate
Patient representation on priority programme boards
Representation from patients, patient groups and the voluntary sector on project
steering and task and finish groups
A quarterly patient participation group forum including representation from 35 GP
practices in West Cheshire
A bi-monthly patient support group network
A ‘virtual’ patient panel
An action plan to address barriers to effective participation that are identified via the
360° survey

Themes arising from public involvement, engagement and consultation
Prior to commencing engagement activity the clinical commissioning group considers and
uses a range of sources of insight about patient and public views and experiences
including;
•
•
•
•
•
•

Feedback, intelligence and patient stories gathered from our previous engagement
activity (such as events, focus groups and consultations).
Patient Advice and Liaison Service (PALS) and complaints data.
Patient and public feedback received from local commissioned NHS providers.
Feedback from local GP Practices including the national GP patient satisfaction
survey.
Patient websites such as NHS Choices and Patient Opinion.
Insight about patient and public views and experiences collected by local
Healthwatch and the voluntary sector.

Our public involvement, engagement and consultation activity in 2016/17 has helped us to
understand that local people have the following priorities for the services they receive in
the five national patient experience indicators:
NHS West Cheshire Clinical Commissioning Group
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•

Access: As highlighted in Next Steps on the NHS Five Year Forward View most
NHS care is provided by general practice and one of the public’s top priorities is to
know that they can get a convenient and timely appointment with a GP when they
need one. In 2016/17, access to reliable health and care services continued to be
an overriding theme in West Cheshire too. Some issues concerning access to
primary care were noted, but improvement in overall patient satisfaction was also
evident. As well as benefitting from improved access during the working week, West
Cheshire patients also benefit from an enhanced extended hours offer which
provides access to planned appointments with GPs and nurses in the evenings and
at weekends including over bank holidays.

•

Information: Patients want clear information about local health services and their
clinical conditions. Encouraging signs were noted in 2016/17 in relation to patients
provided with more information, particularly in digital formats, and in the number of
patients learning to self-manage their condition/s. However, patients and their
carers still want more information (verbal and written) that is easy to understand.

•

Continuity of care: Continuity of care is very important to our local population,
particularly in relation to care pathways and treatments. Some patients told us that
they wanted a seamless integrated service that is co-ordinated across systems and
boundaries. This ranged from seeing the same GP, to better working between
health and care services.

•

Clean environment: Attention to cleanliness is very important to patients,
particularly with regard to inpatient wards and clinics. Patients also reported that
they want safe, good quality treatment by health professionals they can trust.

•

Building better relationships: Dignity and respect was a particularly strong theme
raised by children and older people. People told us that they needed emotional
support, empathy and respect from health professionals. Patients want to be
involved in their individual care, and want professionals to respect their decisions
and work in partnership with them.

Further feedback recorded during 2016/17 found that the people of West Cheshire also
have strong views in relation to the following themes:
•

Prevention and self-care: There is a strong sense locally that, where possible,
people should take more responsibility for their care – particularly when treating
minor ailments and certain long-term conditions. In terms of prevention, initiatives
such as Smile for a Mile in local primary schools are supported as a method to
make pupils more alert and engaged, but also to help tackle childhood obesity.

•

Information sharing: Next Steps on the NHS Five Year Forward View recognises
the need to harness the potential of technology and innovation, enabling patients to
take a more active role in their own health and care while also enabling NHS staff
and their care colleagues to do their jobs. In West Cheshire, the importance of
effective communication between hospitals, GPs and social workers was raised by
members of the public and patient representatives during 2016/17. There is a
strong sense that patients should not have to repeat the same story to different
healthcare professionals. Work in 2016/17 to both enhance and promote the
Cheshire Care Record information sharing system supported this.

NHS West Cheshire Clinical Commissioning Group
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•

Cosmetic procedures: A strong theme noted in responses to the service review
policy public consultation was that cosmetic procedures should not be funded on
the NHS – particularly given the current financial position. This is despite some
reservations about the potential impact on people’s mental health. As a result the
clinical commissioning group’s commissioning policy will be amended with effect
from 1st April 2017.

•

Medicine waste: Frustration was fed back in 2016/17 via a number of channels
about the scale and cost of medicines waste in West Cheshire. Support was
received for the clinical commissioning group’s work with GP practices and
pharmacies to help reduce waste particularly in relation to repeat prescribing – as
well as a medicines waste public awareness campaign called ‘What a Waste’
launched in March 2017.

•

Technology: Feedback was received during 2016/17 that the use of technology is
key to improving referral to secondary care processes and access to health and
care information. A major piece of work was launched to help streamline referral
processes. The development of initiatives such as e-Consult, which enables
patients to contact their GP practice and seek advice via the practice website, also
supported this.

Engagement and consultation
Engagement and consultation is a critical function that enables NHS West Cheshire
Clinical Commissioning Group to make informed commissioning decisions and monitor the
performance of providers.
There are some examples below of engagement events that we either organised, hosted
or attended in 2016/17 to give as many local people as possible the opportunity to
understand what we do and the chance to provide feedback and share their opinions,
questions and concerns:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Clinical commissioning group annual general meeting
Cheshire West and Chester Council’s stakeholder network
Chester Voluntary Action network forum
Chester Pride
Listen, Learn and Do dementia event
DIAL West Cheshire’s 30th anniversary celebration
University of Chester Wellbeing Fair
West Cheshire Mental Health Summit
Older People’s Network Christmas Forum

Where any clinical commissioning group proposals represent a substantial development or
variation of service we notify and work with Cheshire West and Chester Council through
the Health and Wellbeing Scrutiny Committee and formally consult with local people and
other key stakeholders with continuous focus on reducing health inequalities as set out in
the Local Government and Public Health Involvement Act of 2007.
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The clinical commissioning group provides feedback on the results of consultation and
engagement activity, and how the views of patients and the public have been considered
and impacted on decisions in a number of ways.
There is a dedicated area of the clinical commissioning group’s website called “Listening to
You” which includes;
•
•
•

A web page detailing consultation and engagement activity
A “You said we did” web page detailing outcomes of consultation and engagement
activity
An “Ideas” function that enables patients and the public to submit ideas for
new/improved service provision (responses managed by the Programme
Management Office)

Large scale consultation and engagement activities are supported by strategic
communication and engagement planning, including how to “close the loop” with feedback
to stakeholders. Strategies deployed include;
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

The publication of consultation reports on the clinical commissioning group’s
website and shared with stakeholders
Press releases detailing key activity and decisions reached
Social media activity to inform stakeholders
Discussion of the outcome of consultation and engagement activity at meetings in
public (such as governing body)
Reporting to the local Health and Wellbeing Scrutiny Committee
Communication of decisions via the patient participation group chairs forum and
patient support group networks
Communication of decisions via patient bodies such as Healthwatch and voluntary
sector infrastructure organisations such as Chester Voluntary Action and Ellesmere
Port and Neston Association of Voluntary and Community Organisations.
Communication of activity, results and decisions via the clinical commissioning
group’s annual report and communications and engagement annual report.
The clinical commissioning group’s quality improvement committee reviews how
effective our patient engagement has been and asks each programme to reflect and
feedback on changes made to their work as a result of engagement

In 2016/17 NHS West Cheshire Clinical Commissioning Group actively sought the views of
the local population in relation to two formal public consultations. The first “What should
we prescribe in West Cheshire?” sought feedback on proposals to stop prescribing a
number of “over the counter” medications and gluten-free food. The second, launched
across all Cheshire and Wirral clinical commissioning groups, sought views on proposed
changes relating to procedures of limited clinical priority.
“What should we prescribe in West Cheshire?” public consultation
A review was carried out to examine the amount of money spent on prescribing certain
medicines, treatments, products and food items. The items reviewed were either:
•

Widely available over the counter (in pharmacies or shops) at a price cheaper than
an NHS prescription
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•
•

Prescribed for conditions that have no clinical need of treatment
Supported by insufficient evidence of clinical benefit or cost effectiveness

From this review, we launched a formal eight-week public consultation to discuss
proposals to:
1) Stop prescribing treatments and medicines for short-term, minor conditions/ailments
or where there is insufficient evidence of clinical benefit or cost effectiveness
2) Stop prescribing gluten-free foods
Awareness of the consultation was raised in a number of ways and feedback accepted
through a range of channels including an online survey, mail and email correspondence,
hard copy surveys and attendance at public meetings and clinical commissioning groupled events.
In total, 572 responses were received with majority public support for both proposals. Both
proposals were subsequently approved by the clinical commissioning group’s finance,
performance and commissioning committee and ratified by the governing body. The
recommendations came into effect on 1st October 2016.
Service Review Policy Public Consultation
NHS West Cheshire Clinical Commissioning Group undertook a formal 12-week public
consultation from 25th October 2016 to 17th January 2017. The service review policy
consultation (also carried out by all other Cheshire and Wirral clinical commissioning
groups) contained a range of proposals in relation to treatments and procedures in the
following areas:
•
•
•
•
•
•

Cosmetic procedures
Dermatology
Ear, nose and throat
Fertility treatments
Trauma & Orthopaedics and Musculoskeletal
Urology and Urogynaecology

Proposals for each of the services included in the consultation were subject to either;
•

Threshold approval – This means that we proposed making changes to the
threshold that needs to be met before a treatment or procedure can be carried out.

•

Individual funding request – We proposed that some treatments and procedures are
no longer routinely carried out and an individual request for funding will need to be
completed by the referring clinician.

•

Not funded – We proposed that some services are no longer funded unless it is
considered to be a clinical exception.

Awareness of the consultation was raised in a number of ways and feedback accepted
through a range of channels including an online survey, mail and email correspondence,
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hard copy surveys and attendance at public meetings and clinical commissioning groupled events.
In total, 290 responses were received in West Cheshire. The results of the public
consultations carried out across all participating clinical commissioning groups were then
considered by clinicians alongside evidence of clinical effectiveness, cost effectiveness
and best practice.
Recommendations in relation to the implementation of the proposals were approved by the
clinical commissioning group’s finance, performance and commissioning committee and
ratified by the governing body in March 2017. The recommendations will come into effect
in early 2017/18.
Engagement with hard to reach groups
The NHS has clear values and principles about equality and fairness, as set out in the
NHS Constitution. In West Cheshire we work to ensure that whenever people need
healthcare, they not only have an equal right to access it but also to be treated fairly and
not be discriminated against.
As well as working with service partners to ensure that people with protected
characteristics (defined by the Equality Act 2010) are not discriminated against, we
actively pursue targeted engagement to ensure that their voice is heard and their
experiences and insight is shared and integrated into our commissioning processes. We
also work to ensure that we communicate with them in the most appropriate way.
In line with our commitment to meeting the accessible information standard, all of our
public reports and publications can be made available in different formats on request – for
example in different languages, Braille and “easy read”.
In 2016/17, to ensure all sections of the community were given the opportunity to have
their say on the clinical commissioning group’s work, the communications and
engagement team worked closely with a number of organisations which represent
protected groups, including:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Healthwatch Cheshire West
Cheshire, Halton and Warrington Race and Equality Centre
Youth Federation, West Cheshire College and Chester University
Age UK Cheshire and the Older People’s Network
Cheshire West Citizen’s Advice and Chester Aid to the Homeless
Cheshire Centre for Independent Living
DIAL West Cheshire
Travellers Voice and Cheshire West and Chester Council Gypsy and Traveller
leads
Young Carers Network, Inter-agency Carers Group and Cheshire West and Chester
Council’s carers lead

Communication and engagement was also a key theme at a clinical commissioning groupled equality delivery system event attended by:
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•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Deafness Support Network
Chester Voluntary Action
Cheshire Centre for Independent Living
The Proud Trust
DIAL West Cheshire
Body Positive Cheshire & North Wales
Irish Community Care Merseyside

In 2016/17 the clinical commissioning group has identified and engaged with seldom heard
groups and the diverse local population by;
•

Working closely with our equality and inclusion business partner to develop and
implement a comprehensive equality and diversity delivery plan

•

Working with service partners to ensure that people with protected characteristics
(defined by the Equality Act 2010) are not discriminated against

•

Actively pursuing targeted communication and engagement opportunities to ensure
that seldom heard groups are informed about our work, that their voice is heard and
that their experience and insight informs our commissioning (for example via the
“What should we prescribe in West Cheshire” and “Service Review Policy”
consultations carried out in 2016/17)

•

Having in place a translation and interpretation service policy to meet the needs of
people for whom English is not their first language, those with visual or hearing
impairments, people with learning disabilities and other people with specific
communication needs

•

Careful consideration of the potential impact of all projects delivered by the clinical
commissioning group on seldom heard groups and people with protected
characteristics through detailed quality, equality impact and risk assessments.

During the year we commissioned specific consultation activity led by Cheshire, Halton
and Warrington Race and Equality Centre and Deafness Support Network to ensure that
BME and deaf communities were aware of and able to shape our plans and proposals.
We attended a range of events in order to engage with seldom heard groups including;
• The ‘Listen, Learn and Do’ dementia event at Chester Town Hall
• DIAL West Cheshire’s 30th anniversary celebration
• Chester Pride
We also regularly attended a range of key meetings, events and engagement forums to
ensure two-way communication and a shared understanding of priorities, such as;
•
•
•
•
•
•

Cheshire West and Chester Council’s Stakeholder Network
Chester Voluntary Action’s network forum
West Cheshire Mental Health Forum
Learning Disability Partnership Board
The Older People’s Network
The Brightlife Partnership
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1.2.4 Review of Clinical Commissioning Group’s Business 2016/17
Clinical commissioning groups have a duty to operate within their available allocation and
this is described, in detail, in the NHS West Cheshire Clinical Commissioning Group’s
constitution. In addition, all groups are expected to comply with NHS England ‘business
rules’ which require a year-end surplus of at least 1% of total allocation.
For 2016/17 the governing body agreed a financial plan reflecting a forecast deficit of
£3.2million. However, due to in-year financial pressures and the delay in delivery of
planned efficiencies this increased to a deficit of £5.8 million as at 31st March 2017. £1.4
million of this increase related to the nationally negotiated increased cost of NHS funded
nursing care.
Since October 2015 we have been in the NHS England financial recovery programme. In
August 2016 we were subject to formal direction from the Secretary of State 1 for Health.
The key directions focused on the following 3 areas:
•

The production of an improvement plan.

•

A financial recovery plan that ensures that the CCG achieves an in-year deficit of no
greater than £3.3 million as at 31st March 2017.

•

NHS England will be involved in the process to make any new appointments to the
executive team and the next tier of management.

Significant progress has been made against our improvement plan both in terms of internal
governance and delivery of efficiencies. In addition, approximately £8 million of financial
recovery savings have been delivered. However, as at 31 March 2017 we remain in
directions as we are yet to return to financial balance.

1.2.5 Financial Performance Targets
NHS West Cheshire Clinical Commissioning Group have a number of financial duties
under the NHS Act 2006 (as amended) Performance against financial duties is reported in
Note 2 of the year-end accounts and is provided below: the performance against those
duties was as follows:

1

NHS England’s Board judged that it should use its statutory powers of intervention to issue Directions to NHS West
Cheshire CCG using powers conferred by section 14Z21 of the NHS Act 2006 (as amended)
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2 Financial performance targets
NHS Clinical Commissioning Group have a number of financial duties under the NHS Act 2006 (as amended).
NHS Clinical Commissioning Group performance against those duties was as follows:

Expenditure not to exceed income
Capital resource use does not exceed the amount specified in
Directions
Revenue resource use does not exceed the amount specified in
Directions
Capital resource use on specified matter(s) does not exceed the
amount specified in Directions
Revenue resource use on specified matter(s) does not exceed the
amount specified in Directions
Revenue administration resource use does not exceed the amount
specified in Directions

2016-17

2016-17

2015-16

2015-16

Target

Performance

Target

Performance

£000
338,253

£000
343,972

£000
338,014

£000
337,921

99

99

50

49

336,575

342,294

336,898

336,806

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

5,450

5,448

5,765

4,907

NHS West Cheshire CCG ended financial year 2016/17 with a deficit of £5.719 million. This reflects a deterioration of £2.53 million from the 2016/17 planned deficit;
made up £1.5 million in relation to nationally agreed NHS Funded Care price increases and other in-year pressures of approximately £1 million.
This year-end deficit position was achieved following the delay in investment of several in-year revenue allocations of approximately £1 million. If these actions had not
been taken the deficit would have been approximately £6.7m
As set out in the 2016/17 NHS Planning Guidance, CCGs were required to hold a 1 percent reserve uncommitted from the start of the year, created by setting aside the
monies that CCGs were otherwise required to spend non-recurrently. This was intended to be released for investment in Five Year Forward View transformation priorities
to the extent that evidence emerged of risks not arising or being effectively mitigated through other means.
In the event, the national position across the provider sector has been such that NHS England has been unable to allow CCGs’ 1% non-recurrent monies to be spent.
Therefore, to comply with this requirement, NHS West Cheshire CCG has released its 1% reserve to the bottom line, resulting in an additional surplus for the year of
£3.3m. This additional surplus has been offset against other cost pressures from the current financial year

1.2.6 Underlying Financial Position
NHS West Cheshire Clinical Commissioning Group will end financial year 2016/17 in
recurrent deficit (C£6 million). This means that on an ongoing basis the clinical
commissioning group is spending more than £6 million more than it receives in its
allocation.
In addition, we will have a cumulative deficit with NHS England of £5.8 million; resulting
from deficit as at 31st March 2017. Our improvement plan will not begin to address this
cumulative deficit until 2018/19 although we will return to financial balance at the end of
2017/18.
1.2.7 Where We Spend our Money
During 2016/17 we received a financial allocation of £337 million which equates to
approximately £1,296 per head of population. The majority of this allocation has been
spent on healthcare, or programme expenditure with an additional allowance for running
costs, or administration of £5.450 million (approximately 1.6% of total spend).
The profile of our expenditure is consistent with previous years and covers some of the
following areas:
•
•
•
•

Approximately 68% on hospital based care (including mental health).
Approximately 12% on primary care prescribing.
Approximately 8% on high cost packages of care and NHS funded nursing care.
Approximately 6% on community services (including district nursing community
therapies).
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1.2.8 Financial planning
The West Cheshire health and care economy faces an extremely challenging financial
outlook with more than £20 million of efficiencies required each year. NHS West Cheshire
Clinical Commissioning Group continues to work on a shared response to this challenge
with local partners. Efficiency plans have been brought together in the form of service
development and improvement plan progress against which will be monitored each month
via our provider quality and performance meetings.
The governing body has agreed a 2017/18 financial plan that will return the clinical
commissioning group to financial balance and, therefore, satisfy our formal directions.
However, there is a material level of risk to this plan. Following the implementation of
national inflation and efficiency rules along with local planning assumptions, the clinical
commissioning group will need to deliver in year efficiencies of £10.5 million in order to
deliver this balanced position as at 31st March 2018.
The extent of the financial challenge has meant that investment during 2016/17 will be
limited to areas that will demonstrate the most improvements in quality and financial return
on investment. The clinical commissioning group will, therefore, work closely with local
partners to reduce the cost of healthcare provision.
Better Care Fund
During the financial year NHS West Cheshire Clinical Commissioning Group has
continued to contribute to the Cheshire West and Chester Better Care Fund pooled budget
arrangement. Our contribution towards the pool was £15.905 million with a total pool of
£24.882 million. The pool was supported by a section 75 agreement that was approved by
the Cheshire West and Chester Health and Wellbeing Board in March 2016.
This arrangement will continue into 2017/18.
Running Costs
During the financial year we received a running cost allowance, or management
allowance, of £5.450 million, reflecting a reduction of approximately £300,000 from the
previous year. During the year we have been reporting a potential over spend against this
allowance of up to £400,000.
This pressure, in the main, resulted from an increase in temporary staffing levels following
a capacity and capability review. Following a detailed review at the end of the financial
year it is reported that we operated within our running cost allowance.
Better payment practice code
The better payment practice code (otherwise known as the public sector payment policy)
requires clinical commissioning groups to aim to pay all valid invoices by the due date or
within 30 days of receipt, whichever is the later. Performance against this target is
summarised below (see note 6.1 to the group’s accounts):
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Description
Numbe r of i nvoi ce s pa i d i n pe ri od
Numbe r of i nvoi ce s pa i d wi thi n ta rge t
% of invoices paid within target
Va l ue of i nvoi ce s pa i d i n pe ri od (£000)
Va l ue of i nvoi ce s pa i d wi thi n ta rge t (£000)
% of invoices paid within target

Year to Date
Pl a n
Actua l
14,546
13,800
95%
95%

95%

302,792
297,796
98%

We have achieved the target both in terms of number and value of invoices. The clinical
commissioning group is also a signatory to the prompt payment code; an initiative set up
by the Government to support small business and suppliers.
1.2.9 Financial Risks and Issues
Risks of a financial nature are detailed in the corporate risk register escalated, where
appropriate, to the governing body assurance framework. Some of the key financial risks
can be summarised below:
•
•
•

Risks to the delivery of financial duties; including allocation issues and budgetary
pressures;
Risk of not agreeing shared long term financial strategy to support the West
Cheshire Way vision
Risks of not embedding systems of sound governance

Actions to mitigate financial risks are considered by a finance, performance and
commissioning committee on monthly basis. Key issues are then escalated to the
governing body at bi-monthly meetings held in public. These reports highlight a clear
link to our organisational objectives. In particular, reports demonstrate how they
support delivery of the following objective; we will deliver financial sustainability for the
health economy providing value for money for the people of West Cheshire.
1.2.10 Going Concern Basis
NHS West Cheshire Clinical Commissioning Group governing body is required to assess
and satisfy itself that it is appropriate to prepare the year-end financial statements on a
‘going concern’ basis for at least 12 months from the date of the accounts.
To carry out this task during the financial year the governing body has considered factors
that individually or collectively, might cast doubt on the going concern assumption. The
issues considered can be summarised as follows:
•
•
•
•
•
•

Levels of financial risk.
Notified funding levels for future financial years.
Operating losses (historical and current).
Non-achievement of savings plans.
Delivery of financial duties.
Cash flow problems.
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•
•

Staff and management capability and capacity.
Non-compliance with regulatory or statutory requirements.

During January 2017 our external auditors, Grant Thornton UK LLP, issued a referral to
the Secretary of State under section 30 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014.
The referral was made because the clinical commissioning group planned to exceed its
notified allocation as at 31st March 2017.
However, the governing body is able to confirm there are no material uncertainties that
may cast significant doubt about the clinical commissioning group’s ability to continue as a
going concern for at least 12 months beyond the date of 2016/17 statement of accounts.
We certify that the clinical commissioning has complied with the statutory duties laid down
in the NHS Act 2006 (as amended). The accounts were prepared under direction: NHS
CB, under NHS Act 2006.
1.2.11 financial statements
The clinical commissioning group’s financial statements and accompanying financial
policies and notes are provided at section 4 of this report:
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1.3

PERFORMANCE / DELIVERY IN 2016/17

1.3.1 Corporate Objectives
Our aim, “Making sure you get the healthcare you need”, reflects our responsibility to
secure the provision of high quality, high value healthcare which meets the needs of our
local population.
NHS West Cheshire Clinical Commissioning Group’s corporate
objectives are:
•
•
•
•
•
•

To place patients at the centre of our commissioning decisions
To use the knowledge and experience of clinicians and managers to improve care
To work effectively with our members
To ensure financial sustainability for the health economy
To commission safe, effective care which continues to improve the patient
experience
To lead the development of a shared vision for the health and social care economy

To place patients at the centre of our commissioning decisions
We have spent a significant amount of time engaging with local people, listening to them to
understand what they need from local health services and ensuring that we continue to
embed the patient voice in the commissioning of NHS care. Most notably, this has been
achieved via the organisation of, and our attendance at a wide range of engagement
events in 2016/17 and with two public consultations.
Our annual patient insight and intelligence report is now in its fifth year of development and
highlights the patient experience intelligence gathered from a diverse range of patient and
public engagement activities undertaken in the past 12 months.
The patient voice is also consistently heard via patient representatives, who continue to
work with us on priority West Cheshire Way programmes. The clinical commissioning
group also continues to support patient participation groups (most local GP practices have
a patient participation group), to ensure that they reflect the views of their GP practice
populations. The formation of a new patient support group forum in 2016/17 has added
further significance to the patient voice.
To use the knowledge and experience of clinicians and managers to improve care
The clinical commissioning group recruits clinicians to provide leadership in relation to
specific areas of health care. Each governing body clinician sponsors a programme area
working with the relevant commissioning programme manager. They, in turn, provide
support and leadership to the individual clinical leads working with commissioning project
managers– creating a distinctive “double helix structure” which harnesses the best of both
clinical and managerial leadership.
Our clinical leads are supported by monthly clinical leads meetings at which they are able
to discuss the clinical commissioning group’s strategic plans, share learning and access
peer support. In addition, practice manager an practice nurse forums enable practice
managers and practice nurses to support and influence our work programmes too.
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Within each of our three geographical localities, there is a monthly GP Network meeting
attended by a commissioning lead GP representative from each of the GP practices within
the locality. These meetings are an opportunity for the commissioning leads to discuss
proposed changes to clinical pathways.
By working in clusters, practices continued to develop interventions to support the most
frail/vulnerable in their community in 2016/17 to help prevent hospital admissions and
support people to return home quicker.
There are also monthly GP cluster lead meetings which bring together GP and practice
manager leads in each of the nine GP clusters to discuss the development of cluster
working i.e. small groups of practices coming together to share learning and explore
opportunities for sharing resources to enhance sustainability

To work effectively with our members
The engagement of member practices is vital to our success. The core purpose of the
clinical commissioning group is to help improve the health of our population. To achieve
this, all GPs, practice nurses, practice managers and practice teams have a role to ensure
that patients receive the best care possible.
The objectives of the local member practice engagement scheme are:
•
•
•
•
•
•

To recognise and incentivise the development of clinical leadership for
commissioning at practice level;
To create explicit links between the clinical commissioning programmes and
localities;
To support the development of localities as the building blocks of the clinical
commissioning group by promoting practice engagement in the commissioning
process at locality level;
To give practices the opportunity to engage in and understand the work of the
clinical commissioning group;
To use data and information to provide clinicians with the knowledge they need to
identify and prioritise areas for quality improvement by using the individual practice
profile;
To provide an opportunity to share best practice and develop innovative solutions.

Each practice nominates a GP commissioning lead to act as the clinical commissioning
group contact for their practice. The GP commissioning lead in each member practice is
responsible for:
•

Attendance at monthly GP locality network meetings;

•

Providing the link between the practice and the GP locality network - commissioning
lead GPs act as a conduit between their practice and their locality. They will
feedback discussions at the GP locality networks and canvas the opinions of their
practice colleagues in order to support and influence commissioning decisions e.g.
regarding changes to clinical pathways.
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•

Attendance at quarterly membership council meetings - the membership council
enables every member practice to be consulted and creates the opportunity for
them to contribute to the clinical commissioning group’s strategic and operational
plans. The membership council holds the governing body to account for the
functions that the group has conferred on it through its regular meetings with the
chair and the accountable officer.

The clinical commissioning group has a strong foundation of clinical leadership which is
built into our organisational structure, with a GP clinical chair, medical director and chairs
for each of the locality networks. Collectively this senior clinical team provides input,
advice and scrutiny at key points within the clinical commissioning group’s governance
process, including the finance, performance and commissioning committee, primary care
commissioning committee and governing body.
There is additional clinical input at these meetings from our independent nurse, hospital
medical representative and our quality and safeguarding director – an occupational
therapist – providing us with a range of multi-disciplinary input.
The clinical commissioning group is overseen by a membership council bringing together
clinical representatives of all member practices and the senior management team of the
clinical commissioning group. This forum holds the governing body and the rest of the
organisation to account and provides an additional forum through which the clinical
commissioning group can listen and learn from its clinical membership.
We have a team of clinical leads, mostly comprised of local GPs with a range of clinical
interests and specialisms. They are aligned to the programme and project managers to
develop, oversee and support commissioning and review of services. and ensure the
integration of clinical and non-clinical leadership.
The clinical leads attend the GP locality Network meetings, usually in conjunction with their
programme manager, to provide updates to the GP membership on changes within
specific clinical pathways. In addition we have a number of clinical leads with wider remits
including:
•
•
•

Clinical Lead for Quality and Safety
Clinical Lead for Prescribing
Clinical Lead for Primary Care Nursing

We have taken a number of steps to further develop our communication with both clinical
and non-clinical colleagues including:
•

Improved use of the weekly bulletin, with clinical leads providing a periodic update
on their area of work and their current projects or priorities.

•

Practice visits/listening visits with member practices by senior clinicians within the
clinical commissioning group to support member practices and ‘coal face’ GPs
providing input into the clinical commissioning group’s vision and priorities.

•

A weekly blog by the clinical commissioning group Clinical Chair, hosted on the
website, providing a less formal means of communicating priorities and current
issues.
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•

The adoption of ‘kit-kat breaks’ with the Clinical Chair to provide an opportunity to
build relationships with non-clinical staff and ensure we maintain a culture of
openness and transparency.

•

Senior clinicians and clinical leads are invited to the joint team events, which have a
strong focus on supporting our staff and organisational development

•

There is a West Cheshire Senate held every two months bringing together clinical
and non-clinical staff within the clinical commissioning group and neighbouring
organisations (Acute Trust, Community Trust, Local Authority). This provides a
forum to discuss key system wide issues and share clinical and non-clinical
expertise. This is especially important as the clinical commissioning group looks
towards the development of an accountable care organisation.

•

The clinical leaders within the clinical commissioning group make themselves
available for and are proactive in seeking opportunities to engage with patients and
public, alongside their non-clinical colleagues. This is demonstrated through the
patient participation group forum, the various public consultations undertaken and
the media campaigns to support and publicise the clinical commissioning groups
clinically driven priorities.

There are monthly clinical leads meetings which bring together clinical staff to support,
develop and share the clinical commissioning group’s priorities. The clinical leads
meetings also provide a forum through which the clinical team can provide peer support
and is backed up by a process of performance development reviews to support individual
development needs. In parallel the chair and medical director both participate in the senior
management team meetings to ensure that the clinical and non-clinical teams are aligned
in their priorities and vision throughout all levels of the organisation.
To ensure financial sustainability for the health economy
In response to growing pressures on the local health service, the clinical commissioning
group developed a financial recovery plan for 2016/17 which detailed a range of initiatives
across five programme areas (starting well, planned care, unplanned care, medicines
management, continuing healthcare/complex care supported by primary care and mental
health) to realise the required efficiencies.
Some of the savings were identified via implementation of new interventions/ services,
some by changes to existing services and some by spending less on services that do not
demonstrate value for money. When making funding decisions we consider the impact on
the following strategic objectives:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

To reduce avoidable admissions and readmissions to hospital
To increase the provision of care closer to home
To improve patient experience – including better access and better use of patient
time
To deliver co-ordinated care
To improve continuity of care
To manage the delivery of safer services
To increase patient empowerment and self-care
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To commission safe, effective care which continues to improve the patient
experience
Robust measures are in place to monitor the safety and efficiency of care commissioned
by the clinical commissioning group. Effective processes are also in place to capture
patient experience feedback and ensure that is used to inform our commissioning.
To maintain our focus on prevention and self-care, we also prioritise collaboration with a
range of agencies and engagement with local communities in order to take into account
the wider determinants of health and wellbeing.
This includes building on the good practice that has begun in West Cheshire through
partnerships between health, public health and the third sector. For example, links with the
Brightlife programme, which is aimed at tackling social isolation, and work with Cheshire
Fire and Rescue Service to identify vulnerable individuals to ensure we are taking a whole
population approach to prevention particularly in relation to falls.
To lead the development of a shared vision for the health and social care economy
Working with partners; Cheshire West and Chester Council, the Countess of Chester
Hospital NHS Foundation Trust and Cheshire and Wirral Partnership NHS Foundation
Trust, we are working closely to explore how health and care could be further integrated in
West Cheshire primarily through the development of an accountable care organisation.
Key areas of agreement include adopting a whole population approach to both physical
and mental health, increasing the provision of care closer to home and promoting
supported self-care, prevention and early identification. The key aims include minimising
hospital-based care and reducing the current fragmentation of health and social care.
1.3.2 Programme key achievements in 2016/17
1.3.2.1

Developing Primary Care

The clinical commissioning group has developed a primary care blueprint which describes
the vision for general practice in the wider context of the changes happening across the
health and social care system, as part of the West Cheshire Way and aligned to the GP
Five Year Forward View.
The ambition of the developing primary care programme is to transform the way primary
care is delivered, providing timely access and continuity of care for patients (particularly
those with complex conditions) and to support practices to take on a crucial role within the
integrated health and social care teams. These multi-disciplinary teams of GPs,
community nurses and social workers support the effective delivery of co-ordinated care in
West Cheshire.
In 2015/16 Primary Care Cheshire (in collaboration with the clinical commissioning group)
was successful in bidding for £3.7m funding from the Prime Minister’s Challenge Fund, to
test new ways of working and improve access.
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That funding was used to implement the physiotherapy first and wellbeing co-ordinator
services across all local practices which provide additional and alternative capacity to
seeing a GP. These services have gone from strength to strength in 2016/17 with very
positive feedback from patients and further improvements have been achieved by
providing training to receptionists in all practices in relation to effective call handling,
signposting, social prescribing, and care navigation.
Practices, working together in clusters, have developed interventions to support the most
frail and vulnerable to remain in their community, prevent admission to hospital and, where
a hospital admission is unavoidable, ensure a safe and speedy return to their place of
residence.
In addition, funding has been used to invest in the information technology infrastructure to
support practices to work together more easily and to enable clinicians to access patient
information remotely (e.g. whilst on a home visit).
In 2016/17 the existing extended hours service has been enhanced. The service is
designed to provide patients with appointments outside core GP hours for routine care and
is available Monday to Friday from 6.30 pm–9.30 pm as well as on Saturdays from 9am–
6pm and Sundays from 10am–6pm. The service is available at a number of locations
throughout the week including: the Countess of Chester Health Park, Ellesmere Port
Hospital, Tarporley Hospital, Neston Surgery, Helsby Health Centre and Malpas Surgery.
Patients are able to make an appointment at the most convenient location for them.
Patients are now able to access a wider range of services during the extended hours
period; these include a ‘wellbeing’ service, phlebotomy, dressings, physiotherapy
assessments as well as counselling services.
A number of practices have implemented e-Consult; an online tool which directs patients,
via their practice’s website, to a number of options to deal with their symptoms. It is
designed to provide better access for patients at a time convenient to them, and provides a
range of self-help information including symptom checkers and useful videos. It also
provides information on other services that can help patients such as local pharmacy or
NHS 111. If registered patients are unsure whether they require an appointment with a GP
they can complete an online questionnaire and the GP practice will get in touch by the end
of the next working day to provide advice or arrange an appointment/prescription if
required. Thirteen practices in West Cheshire introduced the e-Consult service in 2016/17.
Millions of pounds worth of prescription medicine is wasted across West Cheshire every
year. Patients returned more than 13 tonnes worth of unused prescription medication to
local pharmacies between August 2015 and July 2016 – the same weight as a double
decker bus. Repeat prescriptions, in particular, can contribute to medicines waste in a
number of ways, including: medicines that are not required/requested by the patient;
patients stockpile medication “just in case” and patients tick every box on their prescription
slip without checking what they have at home. Even if prescription medicines are
unopened, they cannot be recycled or used by anyone else once they have left a
community pharmacy, they have to be destroyed.
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To combat this waste, a pilot scheme was launched with a small number of GP practices
in which medicines managers were tasked with contacting patients to check whether they
still needed their medication. Following success in the pilot stage, in January 2017 the
initiative was rolled out across all GP practices in West Cheshire and, in its first three
months, more than £260,000 that would otherwise have been spent on un-needed repeat
prescriptions was saved. The fact that such significant savings were identified in such a
short space of time points to the scale of the medicine waste issue in West Cheshire. To
inform patients and the public about the scale of medicines waste in West Cheshire and
seek their help in addressing the problem, the clinical commissioning group launched the
‘What a Waste’ campaign, which has attracted local and regional media coverage.
Looking ahead to 2017/18, the developing primary care programme will continue to deliver
the requirements of the GP Five Year Forward View and Next Steps on the NHS Five Year
Forward view by supporting more convenient patient access to local GP services,
expanding multi-disciplinary teams and increasing clinical pharmacy in practices.
1.3.2.2

Medicines Management

The prescribing budget for the clinical commissioning group in 2016/17 was £39million. It
is vitally important that this budget is spent effectively to provide the best outcomes for
patients whilst delivering cost-effectiveness.
Medicines management and “optimisation” support is provided by Midlands and
Lancashire Commissioning Support Unit. The aim of the medicines management
programme is to ensure cost-effective use of the prescribing and reduction of prescribing
wastage budget by reviewing medicines and other items prescribed in West Cheshire.
In 2016/17 a review was carried out to examine the amount of money spent on prescribing
certain medicines, treatments, products and food items. Following a public consultation,
the clinical commissioning group introduced policies to restrict treatments for short-term
minor conditions provided by the local NHS, and stop the prescribing of gluten free foods.
These initiatives are supported in Next Steps on the NHS Five Year Forward View.
An annual plan is developed which prioritises areas of focus in relation to primary care
prescribing. The areas of focus chosen reflect local and national priorities. In 2016/17
areas of focus included antibiotic prescribing, infant formulae and cost-effective lipid
lowering drugs.
The medicines management strategy group, chaired by the clinical commissioning group’s
Medical Director, identifies initiatives that have the potential to reduce prescribing costs
and improve quality of care. These initiatives are then tested and implemented in GP
practices which are deemed to be outliers in relation to prescribing levels. These practices
receive additional clinical support to reduce spend.
The medicines management team regularly reviews the prescribing by GPs and nurses to
ensure that best value products are used. This may result in a change to the brand of
product that some patients receive, to one that provides equivalent patient benefit at a
lower cost to the prescribing budget.
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GP and nurse prescribers receive educational sessions supported by the clinical
commissioning group and delivered by the medicines management team. Prescribers are
also proactively made aware of new guidance/publications from the National Institute for
Health and Care Excellence (NICE) and any safety concerns identified. Health care
professionals can access a wealth of information regarding medicines and prescribing via
the clinical commissioning group’s website.
West Cheshire has an area prescribing committee that is chaired by the clinical
commissioning group’s prescribing lead. The area prescribing committee has delegated
authority to approve the use of new drugs up to a value of £250,000 and reports to the
finance, performance and commissioning committee. All medicines decisions are
considered by the Area Prescribing Committee. The committee met six times during
2016/17.
A formulary developed jointly with our partner organisations, The Countess of Chester
NHS Foundation Trust and Cheshire and Wirral Partnership NHS Foundation Trust is
regularly reviewed and updated, taking account of guidance issued by NICE. All contracts
require providers to adhere to the local formulary, guidelines and process for changes to
medicines or their use across West Cheshire.
Local guidance is developed to ensure the quality of prescribing in primary care is
maintained e.g. for the care of patients with diabetes. In 2016/17 guidance has been
developed for GPs to stop prescribing non-essential accessories for patients with a stoma.
The medicines management team updates and maintains a prescribing decision support
tool that is funded by the clinical commissioning group to provide information to prescribers
at the point of prescribing. The tool incorporates safety and quality improvement messages
with guidance on the most cost-effective choice of medication. GPs are able to choose the
most cost-effective option before issuing the prescription to the patient.
Controlled drug prescribing in primary care is monitored quarterly, implementing national
guidance following the Shipman Inquiry. The commissioning support unit provides data
that indicates where prescribing appears to be outside national guidance, which is
interpreted locally by the medicines management team. Where a satisfactory explanation
for the prescribing cannot be identified, a formal letter is sent to the practice by the clinical
commissioning group’s GP clinical lead for prescribing. Outcomes and ongoing concerns
arising from this work are reported to the primary care operational group to agree any
further action required. The clinical commissioning group’s GP clinical lead for quality and
safety has investigated two specific issues of concern with the practices and prescribers in
2016/17.
The clinical commissioning group is represented at the local intelligence network by the
commissioning support unit. The quarterly report required by the NHS England
Accountable Officer for Controlled Drugs contains details of local incidents reported via
Datix, any issues identified by the medicines management team data review and any
learning.
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The prescribing of antibiotics, particularly those that increase the risk of developing other
infections like clostridium difficile, is closely monitored. In 2015/16, the clinical
commissioning group met the national targets for antibiotic prescribing and has reduced
prescribing further in 2016/17, with the expectation that the new lower national standards
will be met.
GPs and practice staff have been provided with tools and resources to promote and
support good antibiotic stewardship. Education sessions were provided during 2016/17 at
GP prescribing leads’ meetings and the medicines management team developed a search
tool to enable practices to ‘peer review’ their prescribing for individual patients.
The medicines management team provides clinical medicines optimisation and system
reviews to improve patient safety and reduce wastage of medicines and other prescribed
products. A pharmacy technician visits all care homes whether providing residential or
nursing care to identify opportunities for improved medicines optimisation. This service
delivers significant savings to the prescribing budget.
Care homes are supported to develop and implement medicines policies that reduce risk
to patients, including accurate recording of administration of medicines.
During 2016/17 the clinical commissioning group funded expert pharmaceutical support for
some of the integrated teams operating within West Cheshire. Support provided included
medication reviews and other interventions to reduce the risk of hospital admission and
streamline the care of these patients. Reviews focussed on a variety of interventions
including polypharmacy, acute kidney injury and optimising medication to reduce the
number of district nurse visits to administer medicines.
1.3.2.3

Urgent and emergency care

There is a system-wide vision for urgent and emergency care in West Cheshire. This
vision is to deliver the best quality and most appropriate urgent or emergency care to
those who need it and, once their care is complete, discharge them safely to their place of
residence. This means care delivered closer to home, fewer avoidable admissions to
hospital and shorter waiting times for treatment.
West Cheshire’s centre of emergency care is the Accident and Emergency (A&E)
Department at the Countess of Chester Hospital NHS Foundation Trust. The A&E
department has a number of services including for minor and major injuries, a Primary
Care Unit, an Ambulatory Care Unit and a recently opened admissions lounge.
During the winter of 2016/17 despite frontline staff in West Cheshire pulling out all the
stops to ensure need was met, seasonal pressures on the health care system were
heavily felt in urgent and emergency care services. To combat these pressures a ‘See and
Treat’ service was set up at the Countess of Chester Hospital NHS Foundation Trust. This
service successfully treated those patients who could be seen quickly and sent home. This
model will be further developed in 2017/18, and support integrated services in West
Cheshire to deliver the requirements set out in Next Steps on the NHS Five Year Forward
View.
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Extensive use of NHS 111 has supported a reduction in demand on urgent and emergency
services in West Cheshire by recommending self-care and redirecting patients to GP
services including the out of hours and extended hours services.
The urgent and emergency care programme also seeks to stop people coming into
hospital, if it is at all possible. To achieve this, a number of new services have been
implemented in West Cheshire. One such service is the Acute Visiting Service which
allows ambulance crews to refer patients who they believe don’t require immediate
hospital treatment, to their local GP.
GPs in West Cheshire also now have at their disposal a number of “step-up” beds. These
beds are used for the treatment of patients who do not need specialist medical input but
require medical support and observation for a short period (typically around a week) before
being discharged back to their place of residence.
The Hospital@Home Service provides both a “step-up” and “step-down” facility for patients
to be cared for within their own home by specialist nurses and GPs. This dramatically
reduces the associated risks of a hospital stay, such as hospital-acquired infections, and
allows patients to be treated where they are most comfortable.
Another “step-down” service introduced in 2016/17 is ward 34 within the Countess of
Chester Hospital NHS Foundation Trust. This ward is entirely therapy led, providing shortterm rehabilitation for those patients who are medically fit to be discharged but who may
require some intensive physical rehabilitation to ensure they are safe and can manage the
transition back into the community.
The key system-wide focus for 2017/18 will be on achieving the deliverables set out in
Next Steps on the NHS Five Year Forward View to meet the four-hour wait standard and
reduce the system reliance on hospital beds by providing more alternatives in the
community.
1.3.2.4

Starting Well

Our Starting Well ambition is to support babies, children, young people and their families in
West Cheshire to have the best start in life, to promote self-care and to reduce reliance on
hospital care.
Our core contract for maternity provision remains with the Countess of Chester Hospital
NHS Foundation Trust. We have reviewed the way the Countess of Chester Hospital NHS
Foundation Trust use the current system for payment of maternity care and are working
together to identify and implement opportunities to achieve better value for money whilst
maintaining safe, high quality care.
To offer women and their families more choice for their pregnancy care, we have
continued to commission One to One (North West) Limited to provide an alternative
midwifery-led model of care, known as ‘case loading’. This means mums-to-be build a
relationship with a single, named midwife throughout their care journey.
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For primary school children, we continue to work with Cheshire West and Chester Council
and Active Cheshire to deliver “smile for a mile”, a shared obesity prevention approach to
increase activity levels – now in 26 schools, reaching more than 4,400 children. All
children participating in “smile for a mile” are encouraged and supported to run or walk a
mile a day.
As part of our ongoing efforts to help reduce reliance on care in hospitals, we have
provided children, young people (aged 12-19 years) and their parents/carers with the
opportunity to attend self-care management courses, which encourage them to manage
long-term conditions, such as asthma, epilepsy, diabetes and mental ill health, more
successfully by understanding more about their condition and taking greater control
themselves.
Themed workshops for long-term conditions also continue to be held to offer local children,
young people and their parents/carers the opportunity to co-design their care journey to
maximise their ability to self-care, with the support of relevant clinicians. We have
commissioned training to equip and empower the local multi-agency ‘Integrated Access
and Referral Team’ to offer individuals and families advice on self-care, signpost them to
local health services and inspire conversations that lead to healthier lifestyle choices and
improve health through goal setting.
Referral management and admission advice services have helped more healthcare
professionals to access advice, support and structured education in relation to the best
management of a child/young person’s condition.
This included piloting ‘Consultant Connect’ (an advice line for GPs) from July 2016; the
further promotion of the Countess of Chester Hospital NHS Foundation Trust’s paediatric
email advice service and the introduction of Accenda (a ‘virtual basket’ for all outpatient
referrals to secondary care) enabling a consultant to review/triage referrals prior to an
appointment being offered.
In 2016/17 we have also continued to focus our efforts on pathway development and
implementation. We have reviewed and refreshed our current pathways and developed
new paediatric care pathways to support primary care. A particular focus has been on the
top 10 conditions that lead to hospital stays of less than four hours in duration.
1.3.2.5

Being Well / Planned Care

The being well programme places the patient at the centre of their care, supported by
peer-led coaching, self-care education, easy-to-use technology and a multi-disciplinary
team that empowers people to manage their condition/s at home and in the community.
The programme supports the development of services for long-term conditions and
elective care - provided in a way which is both timely and convenient for the patient.
Demand for services is being reduced through integrated working between providers,
reducing unwarranted variation. Our ongoing aims include increasing the health-related
quality of life for people with long-term conditions by 20 per cent by 2018.
The key projects included in the Being Well programme include:
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Self-Care - Patients and carers are provided with a range of self-care support and
education services to empower them and prevent their long term condition(s) deteriorating.
During 2016/17 the programme continued to deliver a range of innovative self-care and
self-management services for patients with long-term conditions:
•

Self-care management courses - 105 patients attended self-care management
courses in various locations across West Cheshire. The feedback has been very
positive.

•

Peer to peer coaching found that patients following a more focused peer led
coaching approach demonstrated greater behavioural change, improved health,
quality of life, reduced clinical symptoms and more appropriate use of health and
care. The interventions that were most linked to behavioural changes were peer
coaching, motivational interviewing and goal setting. Feedback was that patients
accessed their community more, that it broadened their outlook; it helped them to
break down their goals into smaller achievable steps. They advised that they felt
valued and supported and have started new hobbies. It was also reported that
patients felt they were more aware of career development which has improved their
mental health and wellbeing.

•

Puffell – the online patient information tool has had more themes added in 201617including for diabetes (which includes general information, a risk assessment
tool, goal setting and monitoring) and health checks (healthy heart age assessment
with connection to advice and specific content on smoking, alcohol, weight
management & activity).

Year of Care – this approach was implemented within local GP practices to enable better
management of a person’s multiple long term conditions with a holistic, empowering
person centred approach. This approach is not only predicted to reduce the number of
primary care appointments, but to also reduce the severity of some patients’ illnesses
over time as they take greater control of the management of their condition.
One of the key benefits for patients is that their test results are sent to them in advance, so
that questions can be thought through and prepared before their appointment. Shared
action plans are then produced to empower patients to take a lead in the management of
their conditions.
Year of Care was successfully piloted in four GP practices initially, the pilot showed
positive results, so was rolled out to wider practices.
Acute to Community— To complement and extend the year of care approach we have
integrated diabetic specialist nurse provision within GP clusters and their integrated teams,
supported by education and expertise from long term condition consultants. By doing this,
patients with long term conditions experiencing either acute illness or exacerbations can
increasingly be managed in the community - preventing the need for attendance at A&E or
admission to hospital.
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The acute to community project was successfully piloted in Ellesmere Port and has since
been rolled out to the Chester locality, resulting in 197 patients being seen in their
community setting. The final rollout to Rural locality is due to take place in early 2017/18.
National Diabetes Prevention Programme (NDPP) – Work continues on the joint
programme (between NHS England, Public Health England, Diabetes UK and clinical
commissioning groups) to identify patients at risk of developing type 2 diabetes. This nine
month programme builds upon the existing 6-week diabetes essentials course which is
focussed on healthy eating, lifestyle and bespoke physical exercise programmes - all of
which have been proven to reduce the risk of developing the disease.
Referral Facilitation – a new system has been introduced to support the facilitation of
referrals from primary to secondary care. This was trialled in December 2016 and rolled
out to all practices during January and February 2017.
The system standardises the
referral process and gives clinical commissioning groups real-time visibility of referrals,
allowing referrals to be clinically assessed and where appropriate, redirected to community
services, provide supporting advice and guidance, or ensure adherence with policies. The
key benefits are higher quality referrals and patients being seen and treated in the most
appropriate way, closer to home and with shorter waiting times.
GP Portal - A bespoke document management, repository and referral pathway portal for
GPs was launched in October 2016. The portal is continually being updated to include
details of referral pathways, treatments, patient information and links to NICE guidelines
for all conditions. It links to the referral facilitation system with the insight and intelligence
shared by consultants uploaded to the portal. The key benefits include better information
sharing (and transparency of information), a more accessible and ‘user-friendly’ system,
clarity around referral pathways and improved GP and patient experience. The impact and
outcomes of the projects which form part of the being well programme can be shown in the
patient journey below. This shows what the existing position is for the patient and how the
patient journey will be improved following the implementation of these projects:
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1.3.2.6

Mental Health and Learning Disabilities

Next Steps on the NHS Five Year Forward View recognised that, increasingly, the public
understand that many of our lives will at some point be touched by mental health
problems. Historically, treatment options for mental health compare unfavourably with
those for physical conditions, particularly for children and young people. The public now
rightly expect us to urgently address these service gaps.
In West Cheshire, a major emphasis has continued to be placed on children and young
people’s mental health in 2016/17. We have a children & young people’s transformation
plan that sets out our ambitions and plans to support the emotional health and wellbeing of
our children and young people. Developments this year include:
•

Primary mental health workers in child & adolescent Mental Health teams are
providing community-based mental health support for children and young people
who do not require more specialist support. Working closely with other healthcare
professionals to ensure children and young people are effectively supported in
relation to their mental health and wellbeing needs, they can provide access to
specialist services if required. They work in schools to help reduce stigma and offer
a rolling programme of training to education staff to aid their understanding of
subjects such as depression, anxiety, psychosis and self-harm.

•

Funded by the clinical commissioning group, mental health first aid training is being
offered through the local authority’s education psychologist team. The aim of the
training is to define mental health and some common mental health issues, identify
stigma and discrimination and relate to people's experiences and support people in
distress.
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•

Autism awareness training is being supported via sessions delivered by Rosebank
Autism Information & Support. The half-day sessions, open to anyone working with
people with autism, enable people to have a better understanding of what autism is
and how it may affect how people relate to the world and the people around them.
The sessions also look at some of the difficulties people with autism might
experience and things that can be done to help.

•

We have funded additional places on the “train the trainers connect five for mental
health programme”. This is based on the successful connect Five mental wellbeing
training programme, youth connect five (working title) - a programme that supports
parents and carers across Cheshire and Merseyside with knowledge, skills and
understanding to enable them, and their children, to develop resilience and
emotional wellbeing.

•

Next step cards - the clinical commissioning group funded the rollout of this unique
award-winning resource, created by Cheshire and Wirral Partnership NHS
Foundation Trust to facilitate the use of goal based outcomes within child and
adolescent mental health. The resource is aimed at professionals involved in
promoting the mental health and well-being of children and young people. They are
being used within healthcare, education or other relevant setting and are currently
being offered to all local schools and GP practices.

•

System without tiers - our plan supports the development of services without tiers,
thereby increasing access to care.

In relation to mental health and dementia, we have achieved all the national targets for
mental health. More than 50% of people experiencing a first episode of psychosis have
been treated with a National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE) approved
care package within two weeks of referral.
In addition, 75% of people referred to the improved access to psychological therapies
programme have been treated within six weeks of referral, and more than 95% have been
treated within 18 weeks of referral.
We are also required to ensure that a specific number of our population who may have
dementia are seen and diagnosed and this has been achieved. We are working closely
with Cheshire West and Chester Council to refresh the dementia strategy and to improve
care for local people living with dementia.
We have worked collaboratively with Cheshire Police to develop a street triage service
which helps ensure that people with mental health problems who come into contact with
the police are supported in the best way possible.
Following a successful mental health summit in October (delivered in collaboration with
Cheshire West and Chester Council) we have worked with stakeholders to launch a
mental health partnership board that will lead on the implementation of the key
recommendations from Five Year Forward View for Mental Health including:
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•

A seven day NHS providing access to urgent care in the same way as physical
health care.

•

Integrated mental and physical health care.

•

Promoting good mental health, preventing poor mental health and creating mentally
healthy.

Finally, in relation to learning disability, our local plan forms part of the Cheshire and
Merseyside transforming care partnerships plan. It aims to make a difference to the lives of
people with a learning disability and/or autism, ensuring they can lead fulfilling lives in the
community supported by main stream services and staff who have the skills to support
them and their needs in their local community, whenever possible. We are committed to
working in an integrated way with partners in order to improve community services,
support people to remain at home, live independent lives and reduce the need for hospital
admission.
1.3.2.7

Complex Care / Continuing Healthcare

The local complex care / continuing healthcare service operates as part of a shared
service which covers five clinical commissioning groups across Cheshire and Wirral –
including NHS West Cheshire Clinical Commissioning Group. In 2016/17 our teams saw
more patients and coped with increased demand:
•
•
•

The service experienced a 20% increase in referrals compared to 2015/16.
13% more patients were assessed for continuing healthcare/complex care
compared to 2015/16
17 % more patients who were in receipt of continuing healthcare/complex care were
reviewed compared to 2015/16.

Whilst coping with this increased demand we also brought down the time that people wait
for an assessment and decision on their continuing healthcare eligibility.
There has been an in-year increase in demand of 18% of fast-track patients for whom we
have arranged a package of care within 48 hours. Our average performance has gone up
from 72% to 91%. Our fast-track patients are often those who are approaching end of life,
so this is particularly important when supporting someone who wishes to die at home.
A daily decision making system has been introduced so that all continuing healthcare
eligibility decisions are peer reviewed by two senior and experienced staff members. This
ensures a robust and consistent application of the framework and also quality assures the
assessment to ensure that it has been completed to a new higher quality level.
We have introduced a standardised letter “suite” so that all our patients receive proactive
communication and information which is in line with the national framework for continuing
healthcare. We worked with a patient group on this project so that our language is easy to
understand. As a result, our patients are better able to understand the process that they
are going through, they know what to expect and are able to contribute more.

NHS West Cheshire Clinical Commissioning Group
Annual Report 2016/17

Page 43

Patient stories now feature in our leadership meetings so that we can share learning
throughout our teams as to what has gone well and what needs to improve.
The number of personal health budgets in place has increased from 106 to 137 – a 23%
increase. Personal health budgets offer patients greater control and flexibility and have
been shown to bring about improved health outcomes.
Enhanced transition arrangements have been brought in for young people who are moving
from children’s continuing healthcare services to adult services. Meanwhile, we have
reduced the number of patients who are in receipt of care outside of Cheshire and Wirral.
We have also introduced a family / individual assessment process which means that we
are better able to understand what matters to the individual. The form is used when family
members cannot be present or as a prompt to ensure that the wishes and requirements
which are most important to our patient are at the heart of our discussions.
A patient advisory group has been set up so that we can receive guidance and feedback
from patients and members of the public on our service to help improve the patient
experience.

1.4

OUR DUTY TO IMPROVE QUALITY

1.4.1 Commissioning High Quality Care
We ensure the services we commission are high quality by:
•
•
•
•
•

Identifying measures of improvement in quality that are robust
Incorporating these into contracts with providers of health care
Reporting on these measures in a way that supports comparative analysis and
benchmarking
Holding the providers of health care to account for their performance
Publishing this information to empower local people to make choices about the
healthcare they use

1.4.2 Contracting For Quality
Our relentless focus on improving patient safety and experience is visible in our contracts
with our providers of health care. We have contracts with NHS Trusts, independent
providers and the third sector. Local requirements included:
•
•
•
•
•
•

Eliminating avoidable deaths caused by problems with care across all healthcare
sectors.
Using audit to evidence changes in practice following serious incident investigations.
Delivering harm free care through the reduction in occurrences of avoidable harm
such as pressure ulcers, absconding incidents and inpatient falls
Zero tolerance of health care associated infections
Increasing the amount of time staff spend providing direct contact care to patients
Improving the diagnosis and treatment of dementia
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Standard NHS contracts were strengthened nationally in 2016/17 with a number of new
requirements and we held providers of acute and community and mental health services to
account for delivering on these requirements through our regular quality and performance
meetings with them. These contracting meetings focus on quality and provide an
opportunity to review areas for improvement, note good practice and monitor any
improvement activities. These meetings provide a robust mechanism where
commissioners and providers can work together to identify and strive to meet standards
that will serve to deliver services and improve quality.
1.4.3 Assuring Quality
We must ensure that national imperatives are delivered locally and we have worked with
providers to gain assurance that:
•

Outcomes for patients with sepsis and acute kidney injury improved;

•

Incidents that caused unintended consequences to patients were disclosed fully to
them and their family through the duty of candour;

•

The recognition and treatment of mental health problems is valued equally with
physical health illness;

•

Access to a range of acute hospital services seven days a week has improved;

•

Experience of care in restrictive settings for patients with a learning disability
improved.

We have invested additional resources in the quality monitoring of continuing healthcare
funded care packages and care home placements. We’ve done this jointly with the local
authority and share our assurance and concerns with each other.
Homes of concern have been supported to achieve improvements and follow up visits
undertaken until assurance has been gained regarding sustained improvement. There was
a reduction in care homes of concern across NHS West Cheshire Clinical Commissioning
Group during 2016/17 from five at the start of the year to three homes at the end of the
year classified as high risk – for example when serious concerns are raised or contract
suspensions are in place, along with significant non-compliance with CQC standards.
We have a group of care home matrons who have engaged in quality improvement
activities such as the ‘react to red’ campaign which aims to reduce harm from pressure
damage; and supported care home staff to develop skills in root cause analysis
investigations through incident reporting.
Front line service visits are part of our regular activities and in 2016/17 were targeted to
areas that had reported serious incidents or where there had been a theme identified
through low harm reporting.
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1.4.4 Delivering Quality through Partnerships
Infection prevention and control remained a priority for our health and social care economy
and MRSA infection rates have remained a challenge for the health community. However,
there have been significant improvements in the reduction of clostridium difficile during
2016/17 and to February 2017 there have been 46 cases reported against a 2016/17
objective of 78. This improvement is thought partly to be attributable to local changes in
antibiotic usage. Our local infection prevention and control network have representation
from our partners in health, social care and the independent sector. One of its principle
aims is to share best practice and learning from investigations into any incidence of a
health care associated infection.
We have continued to work in partnership with public health colleagues in our local
authority to take on the challenges of antimicrobial resistance. We recognise the
importance of reducing the overuse and incorrect use of antibiotics in primary and
secondary care and senior clinical leaders developed an improvement plan to support this
and we have seen a reduction in prescribing of antibiotics in 2016/17.
1.4.5 Improving Safety and Experience
We are fully committed to the use of the Family and Friends Test as a means of driving
improvement and hearing our populations views of the quality of care delivered locally. We
celebrate good results and have challenged our providers in hospitals, primary care,
mental health and community services to do better when results show dissatisfaction with
care. Our acute Trust has introduced a text service to capture this information and their
response rates have gone from well below national figures to broadly in line with Cheshire
and Merseyside averages.
Evidence tells us that when staff work in a more integrated way and involve patients more
in their care we can reduce patient safety incidents and improve patient experience. We
have an effective incident reporting system across our providers, including primary care
that allows for reporting of no/low harm incidents. We are using this intelligence to identify
learning and areas where we need to strengthen quality measures and shared protocols of
care. We triangulate clinical incident information against our patient experience
information.
1.4.6 Escalating Concerns
Our quality improvement committee is a subcommittee of our governing body and provides
information to the governing body on the quality of services we have commissioned by
identifying areas where performance has fallen below the expected standards. It provides
members with assurance in relation to the systems and processes that have been put in
place with regard to quality within the organisation. This includes regular reports on
complaints, serious incidents and never events and seeks to identify trends and themes
across commissioned services. In addition it reviews inspection reports from independent
bodies e.g. Care Quality Commission.
In line with the openness and transparency agenda we will continue to strengthen our
public reporting of any measures that could signal any deterioration in the quality of care
being delivered to our population.
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We are playing a full and active role in the Cheshire, Warrington and Wirral Quality
Surveillance Group and we recognise the importance of quality surveillance groups as a
mechanism for sharing soft intelligence particularly between local clinical commissioning
groups and regulators. We have supported a number of Single Item Quality Surveillance
Groups as a means of seeking additional assurance from providers when there have been
areas of increasing risk.
1.4.7 Risk Management
We manage serious incidents in line with national best practice. Our providers, including
primary care have a positive approach to reporting incidents to us. We hold a monthly
serious incident review group which oversees our role in determining:
•
•
•
•
•
•

If the incident has been adequately investigated
If the root causes and contributory factors have been identified
If the recommendations and action plan adequately address the root causes and
contributory factors
If any theme can be identified with previous serious incidents
If the action plan has been completed in a timely manner
If there are any concerns that need escalating to quality and performance contract
meetings or clinical leads

As part of our collaborative commissioning arrangements we now include services
commissioned by Public Health in our local authority as part of our Serious Incident
Management process. Senior leaders from the local authority have become members of
our serious incident review group.
1.4.8 Safeguarding
We are committed to playing an active role as statutory partners in the protection of both
children and vulnerable adults though the local safeguarding boards. We also provide
leadership as the chair of a number of sub groups for both the children and the adult
safeguarding boards. We will continue to develop our strategic leadership role through our
designated safeguarding professionals to protect both children and vulnerable adults from
abuse. This includes working collaboratively with NHS England to support national
initiatives and ensure application at local levels.
During 2016/17 we continued to contribute to Ofsted improvement plans when required
and have been active members of multi-agency Practice Improvement meetings. There is
a positive recognition of the multiagency commitment we have to our working
arrangements which help improve outcomes for children.
We have reviewed and updated our Commissioned Services Standards for Safeguarding
Children and Adults at Risk reflecting the ever changing landscape of safeguarding. The
document provides clear safeguarding standards against which we monitor healthcare
providers to ensure all service users are protected from abuse and the risk of abuse. For
adults, we have increased our effectiveness in monitoring the quality of care provided in
nursing homes by sharing information and resources across health and social care. We
have reviewed our policy and practice in light of the Care Act and delivered training to
ensure that all of our responsibilities are clearly understood.
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1.5

NHS CONSTITUTIONAL PERFORMANCE REPORTING

The clinical commissioning group has established governance to ensure oversight of
delivery of the NHS constitutional standards, as well as other locally agreed performance
measures. Performance against all constitutional, national and local contractual measures
is reviewed at the internal performance review meeting, chaired by the head of contracts
and business intelligence. From these meetings a report is prepared for the finance
performance and commissioning committee.
Local NHS providers are also held to
account for performance against constitutional standards at monthly quality and
performance meetings.
At each finance performance and commissioning committee meeting there is scrutiny of
current performance by committee members, including assessment of improvement
against action plans where targets are not being met. Where a target is being consistently
failed, a deep dive review is undertaken, in conjunction with provider colleagues, and then
discussed at the committee. An example of this is the recent deep dives undertaken into
diagnostic waiting times and 62-day cancer wait target .
The finance performance and commissioning committee reports to the governing body
which provides a further opportunity for oversight and scrutiny of improvement in
performance against the standards. As a result of this scrutiny and challenge the clinical
commissioning group has seen an improvement in performance against the constitutional
standards.
At the beginning of 2016/17 we were failing 9 targets. During the year
performance has improved, in particular against dementia and improving access to
psychological services targets. At the end of 2016/17 we were not achieving 5 standards.
However, improvement trajectories have been agreed with NHS England and
Improvement to ensure delivery of these areas during 2017/18.
At the end of February 2017 we are failing to deliver 5 constitutional performance
measures (Referral to treatment target, Diagnostics, Cancer waiting times (62 days),
Accident and Emergency, Ambulance calls). The Countess of Chester achieved the
Referral to treatment target for the first time in several months, however the performance
at Wirral University Teaching Hospital is substantially below Referral to treatment target in
all areas. A summary of performance to the end of February is provided here. The
2016/17 year-end assessment of the clinical commissioning group’s performance will be
available on www.nhs.uk/service-search/Performance/Search from July 2017.
1.6

SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT

Sustainability has become increasingly important as the impact of people’s lifestyles and
responsibility to our patients, local communities and the environment by working hard to
minimise our footprint. In order to embed sustainability within our business it is important
to explain where in our process and procedures sustainability features.
Area
Travel
Procurement (environmental)
Procurement (social impact)
Supplier’s impact
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One of the ways in which an organisation can embed sustainability is through the use
of a s ustainable d evelopment m anagement p lan.
As an organisation that
acknowledges its responsibility towards creating a sustainable future, we help achieve
that goal by running awareness campaigns that promote the benefits of sustainability to
our staff.
Climate change brings new challenges to our business both in direct effects to the
healthcare estates, but also to patient health. Examples of recent years include the
effects of heat waves, extreme temperatures and prolonged periods of cold, floods,
droughts etc. The organisation has identified the need for the development of a
governing body approved plan for future climate change risks affecting our area.
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ACCOUNTABILITY REPORT
2.1

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

2.1.1 Governing Body
The composition of the clinical commissioning group’s governing body throughout 2016/17
is detailed below:
Name

Title

During 2016/17

Dr Huw Charles-Jones
Dr Chris Ritchieson
Alison Lee
Dr Andy McAlavey
Chris Hannah
Pam Smith
Ken Morris
Kieran Timmins
Dr Steve Pomfret
Dr Jeremy Perkins
Dr Annabel Jones
Dr Peter Williams
Sarah Faulkner
Gareth James
Lee Hawksworth
Paula Wedd
Laura Marsh
Fiona Reynolds

GP Chair
GP Chair
Chief Executive Officer
Medical Director
Vice Chair / Lay Member
Lay Member (Patient Involvement)
Interim Lay Member (Audit & Finance)
Lay Member (Audit & Finance)
GP Network Chair (Rural)
GP Network Chair (Ellesmere Port & Neston)
GP Network Chair (City)
Hospital Doctor
Nurse Member
Chief Finance Officer
Director of Operations
Director of Quality and Safeguarding
Director of Commissioning
Interim Director of Public Health (Cheshire
West and Chester Council)

1/4/16 – 31/12/16
1/1/17 – 31/3/17
1/4/16 – 31/3/17
1/4/16 – 31/3/17
1/4/16 – 31/3/17
1/4/16 – 31/3/17
1/4/16 – 31/5/16
1/6/16 – 31/3/17
1/4/16 – 31/3/17
1/4/16 – 31/3/17
1/7/16 – 31/3/17
1/9/16 – 31/3/17
1/9/16 – 31/3/17
1/4/16 – 31/3/17
1/4/16 – 31/3/17
1/4/16 – 31/3/17
1/4/16 – 31/3/17
1/4/16 – 17/3/17

Provided at the appendices is the register of interests (Appendix 2) and biographies
(appendix 1) for the current governing body members.
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2.1.2 MEMBERS REPORT
The composition of the clinical commissioning group’s membership (GP practice
commissioning leads) throughout 2016/17 is detailed below:
Name
Dr Annabel Jones
Dr Helen Black
Dr Alex Teng
Dr Kate Bushell
Dr David Thorburn
Dr Chris Ritchieson
Dr Ellen Gilchrist
Dr Caroline Francey
Dr Carol Holme
Dr Tim Saunders
Dr Chris Fryar
Dr Jonathan Gregson
Dr Tony Bland
Dr Simon Powell
Dr Kylie Daniels
Dr Kevin Guinan
Dr Louise Davies
Dr Chris Steere
Dr Jeremy Perkins
Dr Martin Allan
Dr Robin Davies
Dr Clare Baker
Dr Emily Morton
Dr N Blacklock
Dr Alistair Adey
Dr Andrew Campbell
Dr Mike Lowrie
Dr Steve Pomfret
Dr Helen Asteriades
Dr Steve Pomfret
Dr Rowan Brookes
Dr David Inchley
Dr Melissa Siddorn
Dr Mark Adams
Dr Claire Westmoreland
Dr Alison Daly
Dr Emily Morton
Dr Jon Stinger
Dr Richard Martin
Dr Chris Macdonald

Practice
Boughton Health Centre
Bunbury Medical Practice
City Walls Medical Centre
Garden Lane Medical Centre
Great Sutton Medical Centre (McAlavey)
Great Sutton Medical Centre (Wearne)
Great Sutton Medical Centre (Wearne)
Great Sutton Medical Centre (Wood)
Handbridge Medical Centre
Heath Lane Medical Centre
Heath Lane Medical Centre
Helsby Health Centre
Hoole Road Surgery
Hope Farm Medical Centre
Kelsall Medical Centre
Lache Health Centre
Laurel Bank Surgery
Neston Medical Centre
Neston Surgery
Northgate Medical Centre
Northgate Village Surgery
Old Hall Surgery
Old Hall Surgery
Park Medical Centre
Tarporley Health Centre
Tarporley Health Centre
The Elms Medical Centre
The Knoll Surgery
The Rock Surgery, Frodsham
The Rock Surgery Frodsham
Upton Village Surgery
Upton Village Surgery
The Village Surgeries Group
Western Avenue Medical Centre
Westminster Surgery
Whitby Group Practice (Warren)
Whitby Group Practice (England)
Whitby Group Practice (Stringer)
Willaston Surgery
York Road Group Practice

During 2016/17
01/4/16–31/03/17
01/4/16–31/03/17
01/4/16–31/03/17
01/4/16–31/03/17
01/4/16–31/03/17
01/4/16–01/07/16
01/7/16–31/03/17
01/4/16–31/03/17
01/4/16–31/03/17
01/4/16–31/03/17
01/4/16–31/03/17
01/4/16–31/03/17
01/4/16–31/03/17
01/4/16–31/03/17
01/4/16–31/03/17
01/4/16–31/03/17
01/4/16–31/03/17
01/4/16–31/03/17
01/4/16–31/03/17
01/4/16–31/03/17
01/4/16–31/03/17
01/4/16–01/12/16
01/12/16-31/03/17
01/4/16–31/03/17
01/4/16–31/03/17
01/4/16–31/03/17
01/4/16–31/03/17
01/4/16–31/03/17
01/4/16–31/03/17
01/4/16–31/03/17
01/4/16–01/01/17
01/01/17-31/03/17
01/4/16–31/03/17
01/4/16–31/03/17
01/4/16–31/03/17
01/4/16–31/03/17
01/4/16–31/03/17
01/4/16–31/03/17
01/4/16–31/03/17
01/4/16–31/03/17

Provided at the appendices is the register of interests (Appendix 2) for the current
membership (GP practice commissioning leads).
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2.2

STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTABLE OFFICER RESPONSIBILITIES

The National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended) states that each Clinical
Commissioning Group shall have an Accountable Officer and that Officer shall be
appointed by the NHS Commissioning Board (NHS England). NHS England has
appointed the Chief Executive to be the Accountable Officer of NHS West Cheshire
Clinical Commissioning Group. The responsibilities of an Accountable Officer are set out
under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended), Managing Public Money and in
the Clinical Commissioning Group Accountable Officer Appointment Letter. They include
responsibilities for:
•

The propriety and regularity of the public finances for which the Accountable Officer
is answerable,

•

For keeping proper accounting records (which disclose with reasonable accuracy at
any time the financial position of the clinical commissioning group and enable them
to ensure that the accounts comply with the requirements of the Accounts
Direction),

•

For safeguarding the clinical commissioning group’s assets (and hence for taking
reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities).

•

The relevant responsibilities of accounting officers under Managing Public Money,

•

Ensuring the clinical commissioning group exercises its functions effectively,
efficiently and economically (in accordance with Section 14Q of the National Health
Service Act 2006 (as amended) and with a view to securing continuous
improvement in the quality of services (in accordance with Section14R of the
National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended),

•

Ensuring that the clinical commissioning group complies with its financial duties
under Sections 223H to 223J of the National Health Service Act 2006 (as
amended).

Under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended), NHS England has directed
each clinical commissioning group to prepare for each financial year financial statements
in the form and on the basis set out in the Accounts Direction. The financial statements are
prepared on an accruals basis and must give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of
the clinical commissioning group and of its net expenditure, changes in taxpayers’ equity
and cash flows for the financial year.
In preparing the financial statements, the Accountable Officer is required to comply with
the requirements of the Group Accounting Manual issued by the Department of Health and
in particular to:
•

Observe the Accounts Direction issued by NHS England, including the relevant
accounting and disclosure requirements, and apply suitable accounting policies on
a consistent basis;
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Make judgements and estimates on a reasonable basis;
•

State whether applicable accounting standards as set out in the Group Accounting
Manual issued by the Department of Health have been followed, and disclose and
explain any material departures in the financial statements; and,

•

Prepare the financial statements on a going concern basis.

To the best of my knowledge and belief, and subject to the disclosures set out below, I
have properly discharged the responsibilities set out under the National Health Service Act
2006 (as amended), Managing Public Money and in my Clinical Commissioning Group
Accountable Officer Appointment Letter.
Disclosures:
•

As described in the financial performance section of this report; the control issues
sections of this report; and financial statements, the clinical commissioning group
did not remain within its resource limit for 2016/17. A planned deficit was agreed
with NHS England at the beginning of the financial year, a planned position which
breached the clinical commissioning group’s resource limit. However, the clinical
commissioning group delivered the agreed year-end deficit position

I also confirm that:
•

as far as I am aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the clinical
commissioning group’s auditors are unaware, and that as Accountable Officer, I
have taken all the steps that I ought to have taken to make myself aware of any
relevant audit information and to establish that the clinical commissioning group’s
auditors are aware of that information.

•

that the annual report and accounts as a whole is fair, balanced and
understandable and that I take personal responsibility for the annual report and
accounts and the judgments required for determining that it is fair, balanced and
understandable
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2.3

REMUNERATION AND STAFF REPORT

2.3.1 Remit of remuneration and staff report
The remuneration and staff report provides an overview of all staff (substantive and
interim/off-payroll) at all levels of the organisation (governing body and other senior
managers/staff).

2.3.2 Pay Multiples
Reporting bodies are required to disclose the relationship between the remuneration of the
highest-paid director/member in their organisation and the median remuneration of the
organisation’s workforce.
The banded remuneration of the highest-paid director/member in NHS West Cheshire
Clinical Commissioning Group in the financial year 2016/17 was £167,500 (2015/16,
£167,500). This was 5.00 (2015/16, 4.78) times the median remuneration of the
workforce, which was £33,372 (2015/16, £34,876). The clinical commissioning group
acknowledges remuneration in excess of £142,000 (see remuneration table). The clinical
commissioning group remuneration committee has considered this, in-line with statements
of control and are assured this remuneration is appropriate for the level of responsibility for
the post.
In 2016/17, no employees received remuneration in excess of the highest-paid
director/member. Total remuneration includes salary, non-consolidated performance
related pay, benefits in kind as well as severance payments. It does not include employer
pension contributions and the cash equivalent transfer value of pensions. The calculation
is based on the full-time equivalent staff of the clinical commissioning group at the
reporting end date on an annualised basis.
Note 6 of the 2016/17 annual accounts confirms we incurred £11,000 on external
consultancy services during the reporting period.
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2.3.3 Off Payroll Engagements
For all off-payroll engagements (interim staff members) as of 31 March 2017, for
more than £220 per day and that last longer than six months:
Number
Number of existing engagements as of 31 March 2017

13

Of which, the number that have existed:
for less than one year at the time of reporting

2

for between one and two years at the time of reporting

1

for between 2 and 3 years at the time of reporting

7

for between 3 and 4 years at the time of reporting

3

for 4 or more years at the time of reporting
For all new off-payroll engagements (interim staff members) between 1 April
2016 and 31 March 2017, for more than £220 per day and that last longer than six
months:
Number
Number of new engagements, or those that reached six months in duration, between 1
April 2016 and 31 March 2017

12

Number of new engagements which include contractual clauses giving the [NHS body
name] the right to request assurance in relation to income tax and National Insurance
obligations

12

Number for whom assurance has been requested

12

The clinical commissioning group receives assurance that all off-payroll staff members
have confirmed in their contract for services that all relevant contributions are
made/provided to HMRC during the reporting period. If assurance is not provided the
interim/consultant for services would not be engaged with the clinical commissioning
group. In addition, each interim/consultant provides their tax reference code to the
financial services team to enable random checks of tax compliance.
Number of off-payroll engagements of board members, and/or senior officers with
significant financial responsibility, during the year
Number of individuals that have been deemed “board members, and/or senior officers
with significant financial responsibility” during the financial year. This figure includes
both off-payroll and on-payroll engagements

0

2

The individuals that have been deemed “board members, and/or senior officers with
significant financial responsibility” during the financial year are the Chief Executive
Officer and the Chief Finance Officer
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NHS West Cheshire Clinical Commissioning Group 1 April 2016 - 31st March 2017

Salary and Pension entitlements of Governing Body - subject to statutory audit
2016/17

Salary &
Fees
(bands of
£5,000)

2015/16

Taxable
Long-term
Annual
All Pension
Benefits
Performance Performance
Related
Compensation
Related
(rounded to
Related
Benefits
for Loss of Office
Bonuses
nearest
Bonuses
(bands of
(bands of
£100)
(bands of
£2,500)
£5,000
Note 7
£5,000)

Total
(bands of
£5,000)

Salary &
Fees
(bands of
£5,000)

Long-term
Taxable
Annual
Benefits
Performance Performance
Compensation
Related
(rounded to
Related
for Loss of
Bonuses
nearest
Bonuses
Office
(bands of
£100)
(bands of
£5,000
Note 7
£5,000)

All
Pension
Related
Benefits
(bands of
£2,500)

Total
(bands of
£5,000)

22.5 - 25
2.5 - 5.0

145-150
100-105

Name & Title
Governing Body
Alison Lee - Chief Executive
Dr Huw Charles-Jones - Chair - ceased employment 31st December 2016
Dr Chris Ritcheison - Chair - commenced employment 1st January 2017
Chris Hannah - Vice Chair. Chair of System Leaders Group from 11th April 2016
Dr Andy McAlavey - Medical Director
Dr Claire Westmoreland - Chester City Locality Representative - ceased 15 June 2015
Dr Annabel Jones - Chester City Locality Representative
Dr Jeremy Perkins - Ellesmere Port & Neston Locality Representative
Dr Steve Pomfret - Cheshire Rural Locality Representative
Gareth James - Chief Finance Officer
Laura Marsh - Director of Commissioning
Paula Wedd - Director of Quality and Safeguarding
Rob Nolan - Director of Contracts and Performance - ceased employment 19 July 2015
Philippa Robinson - Interim Director of Operations - 17 June to 30 November 2015
Philippa Robinson - Turnaround Director 1 December 2015 to 31 March 2016
Lee Hawksworth - Director of Operations - ceased employment 31st March 2017
Jonathan Lloyd - Associate Director of Policy and Planning - commenced 11th July 2016
David Gilburt - Lay Member - Audit and Finance - ceased employment 15 February 2016
Ken Morris - Lay Member - Interim Chair Audit and Finance - ceased 31st May 2016
Kieren Timmins - Lay Member - Chair Audit and Finance - commenced employment 1st June 2016
Pam Smith - Lay Member - Patient and Public Involvement
Mr Mike Zeiderman - Hospital Doctor Representative - ceased 31 July 2015
Mr Peter Williams - Hospital Doctor Representative - ceased 31 March 2017
Sheila Dilks - Nurse Representative - ceased 31 August 2015
Sarah Faulkner - Nurse Representative

(1)
(2)
(3)
(4)
(5)
(5)
(5)
(5)
(5)
(1)

(6)
(11)
(7)
(7)
(7)
(7)
(9) '(10
(8) '(10)

120-125
75 -80
25-30
50-55
80-85
0
30-35
30-35
30-35
95-100
70-75
85-90
0
0
0
85-90
100-105
0
0-5
10 -15
5-10
0
10 -15
0
5 -10

48

32.5 -35
7.5 - 10
225.5 - 227.5

54

32.5 -35
20 - 22.5
55 - 57.5

40-45

22.5 - 25

155 - 160
80 - 85
250 -255
50-55
80-85
0
30-35
30-35
30-35
135 -140
95 - 100
140 - 145
0
0
0
150 - 155
100 - 105
0
0-5
10 -15
5-10
0
10 -15
0
5 -10

115 -120
95-100

48
0

10-15
80-85
15-20
15-20
30-35
30-35
95-100
65-70
80-85
25-30
95-100
75-80
25-30

0
0
0
0
0
0
51
0
0
9
0
0
0

5-10
0 -5

0
0

5-10
0-5

5-10
0-5
5 - 10
5-10
5-10

0
0
0
0
0

5-10
0-5
5-10
5-10
5-10

70 - 72.5
32.5 - 35
57.5 - 60
0

25 - 27.5

10-15
80-85
15-20
15-20
30-35
30-35
175-180
100-105
140-145
25-30
95-100
75-80
55-60

Real
increase/(
decrease)
in pension
at
pension
age
(bands of
£2,500)

Real
increase/(de
crease) in
pension lump
sum at
pension age
(bands of
£2,500)

2.5 - 5
0 - 2.5
0 - 2.5

0 - 2.5
5 -7.5
0

35 -40
30-35
0

35-40
30-35
10-15

0 - 2.5
0 - 2.5
2.5 - 5

0 - 2.5
0 - 2.5
2.5 - 5

30-35
10-15
25-30

0 - 2.5

0 - 2.5

10-15

Total
accrued
pension at
pension age
at
31/03/2016
(bands of
£5000)

Total
accrued
pension at
pension age
at
31/03/2017
(bands of
£5000)

Lump sum
at pension
age related
to accrued
pension at
31/03/16
(bands of
£5000)

Lump sum
at pension
age related
to accrued
pension at
31/03/17
(bands of
£5000)

Cash
Equivalent
Transfer
Value as at
31/03/2016
£'000

Cash
Equivalent
Transfer
Value as at
31/03/2017
£'000

Real
increase/(decrea
se) in Cash
Equivalent
Transfer Value
£'000

100-105
90-95
0

100-105
90-95
25-30

599
642
0

647
0
29

48
0
29

30-35
15-20
25-30

90-95
35-40
75-80

90-95
40-45
75-80

550
174
435

587
192
490

38
18
55

10-15

35-40

35-40

182

200

18

Notes - NHS West Cheshire Clinical Commissioning Group from 1st April 2016 - 31st March 2017
Remuneration of the Governing Body is set by the Remuneration Committee.
(1)Taxable Benefits relate to the use of lease cars
(2) Huw Charles-Jones - Chair - ceased employment 31st December 2016
(3) Christopher Ritcheison - Chair - commenced employment 1st January 2017. Pension information for 2016-17 not available.
(4) Chris Hannah - Chair of System Leaders Group with effect from 11th april 2016 - £15,000 - £20,000** recharged equally to Countess of Chester NHSFT, Cheshire and Wirral Partnership NHSFT and Cheshire West and Chester Council.
(5) NHS Pension Scheme Contributions on salaries and fees received by Dr A McAlavey, Dr A Jones, Dr S Pomfret and Dr J Perkins have not been made by the Clinical Commissioning Group. Any contributions made have been declared through their GP Practice Parnerships.
(6) Lee Hawksworth - Director of Operations - following full consultation with the post-holder, this post was reviewed and presented as a voluntary redundancy proposal to the remuneration committee. Approval was granted in March 2017 . The termination date for the post-holder is 31/3/17.
(7) Lay members do not receive pensionable remuneration, there are no entries in respect of pensions for Lay members.
(8) Sarah Faulkner - Nurse Representative - on secondment from NWAS - £5,000 - £10,000** recharged from NWAS
(9) Peter Williams - Hospital Doctor Representative - salary and fees £10,000 - £15,000 has been accrued but not yet paid - awaiting invoice.
(10) Pension contributions have not been made on behalf of the hospital doctor or nurse representative
(11) Jonanthan Lloyd - Associate Director of Policy and Planning - Commenced 11th July 2016. Payments made to Lloyd and Lloyd Associates Ltd.

**recharges before employment costs (e.g.NIC).
NHS Pensions use the most recent available Government Actuary Department ('GAD') factors for the calculation of Cash equivalent Transfer Value factors ('CETV factors')
These factors were isued in April 2015 and have been updated since last year.
The Government announced in its Budget on 16 March 2016 that the discount rate for unfunded pension schemes would reduce with immediate effect which will have an impact on CETV factors.
However, as new CETV factors are not yet available, NHS Pensions have used existing factors effective on 15 March 2016 to calculate CETVs.
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2.4

STAFFING INFORMATION

2.4.1 Staffing Profile
Provided below is the clinical commissioning substantive staffing profile dashboard at the
end of March 2017. Staffing performance information is provided to the finance,
performance and commissioning committee quarterly for discussion.
Previous
Month
Mar 16

Apr 16

May
16

Jun 16

Jul 16

Aug 16

Sep 16

Oct 16

Nov 16

Dec 16

Jan 17

Feb 17

Mar 17

69.79

67.96

68.96

69.07

70.69

71.79

71.59

70.59

70.59

69.59

68.76

67.77

70.77

% Staff at band 1 - 4

13.30%

12.18%

13.46%

13.44%

14.54%

14.32%

15.76%

15.98%

15.98%

16.21%

14.95%

15.17%

14.53%

% Staff at band 5 - 7

50.72%

50.86%

50.13%

49.91%

49.65%

48.90%

48.75%

48.03%

48.03%

47.28%

49.30%

48.84%

51.01%

% Staff at band 8 and above

35.99%

36.95%

36.42%

36.65%

35.81%

36.78%

35.49%

35.99%

35.99%

36.51%

35.75%

35.99%

34.47%

% Ethnicity

1.30%

1.32%

1.32%

1.30%

2.53%

2.47%

2.47%

2.50%

2.50%

2.53%

2.56%

2.56%

2.47%

% Staff aged 50+

18.06%

19.80%

19.51%

19.77%

20.73%

23.20%

23.26%

26.43%

26.43%

26.81%

26.26%

26.95%

27.22%

2.00

1.00

0.00

1.00

0.00

2.00

0.00

2.00

0.00

1.60

0.00

1.80

0.00

Cumulative Turnover Rate

16.62%

17.07%

16.82%

16.79%

14.99%

13.65%

13.69%

13.88%

13.88%

15.23%

13.96%

16.82%

13.28%

Monthly Sickness Absence
Rate

4.52%

4.08%

4.43%

3.26%

1.44%

3.72%

3.05%

2.66%

2.53%

2.11%

1.62%

2.80%

1.43%

3.64%

3.78%

3.84%

3.88%

3.71%

3.87%

3.95%

3.91%

3.85%

3.59%

3.32%

3.19%

2.75%

99

84

96

69

32

82

65

59

54

46

35

54

31

31.31%

35.71%

16.70%

0.00%

0.00%

0.00%

0.00%

1.69%

55.79%

68.04%

25.92%

52.24%

100.00%

80.10%

86.68%

86.70%

90.00%

88.80%

86.60%

85.30%

84.50%

84.80%

82.40%

81.10%

85.20%

65.29%

Component

Staff in Post (FTE)

Leavers in Month (FTE)

Rolling Sickness Absence Rate
Calendar Days Lost to
Sickness
% Days Lost due
Stress/Anxiety/Depression
Statutory & Mandatory
Training Compliance

Provided below is a gender analysis of the governing body members at 31st March 2017:
Clinical Commissioning Group Governing Body Gender Analysis
Female
Full time
Part time
Sessional
Male
Full time
Part time
Sessional

3
0
4
2
0
6

Provided below is the gender analysis and whole time equivalent status of senior
managers and other staff (substantive and interim) as at 31st March 2017:
MALE

Substantive Full Time
Substantive Part Time
Interim Full Time
Interim Part Time

Senior
Managers
5
2
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11
1
1

FEMALE
Senior
Other
Managers
12
30
5
1
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2.4.2 Sickness rates
The clinical commissioning group has a robust attendance management policy and
procedure in place designed to establish a positive attendance culture and support its
managers and staff with attendance issues by ensuring that these are managed
consistently in a fair and equitable way. The clinical commissioning group managed both
short-term and long-term sickness absence in line with this policy, with sickness absence
being monitored on a monthly basis.
Monthly sickness absence levels for the clinical commissioning group stood at 1.43% at
the end of March 2017. The rolling absence for the period ending 31st March 2017 was
2.75%. Over the year there have been 704 WTE (whole time equivalent) days of absence
and the average sick days per employee is 10.05. The figures disclosed are based on the
ESR Absence Time Line Analysis report.
2.5

EQUALITY AND INCLUSION

The clinical commissioning group is required to pay due regard to the Public Sector
Equality Duty as defined by the Equality Act 2010. Failure to comply has legal, financial
and reputational risks. The key functions that enable the clinical commissioning group to
make commissioning decisions and monitor the performance of their providers have to
demonstrate (in an auditable manner) that the needs of protected groups have been
considered as part of our:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Commissioning processes
Consultation and engagement
Procurement functions
Contract specifications
Quality contract and performance schedules
Governance systems
Human resources and workforce

In 2016/17 the clinical commissioning group has made good progress in the
implementation of equality impact assessments to demonstrate our due regard towards
protected characteristic aspects of our patient, public and staff communities in the
commissioning, re-design or de-commissioning of services. Progress against the equality
impact assessments is reviewed at gateway review meetings to ensure a continued focus
towards equality and inclusion is maintained.
The clinical commissioning group held its first equalities grading event in January 2017 to
assess our progress against our 2015/16 equality delivery system goals and outcomes,
with the following results.
•

Services are commissioned, procured, designed and delivered to meet the health
needs of local communities – amber – developing – “you’re probably doing more
than you’re telling us”
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•

Transitions from one service to another, for people on care pathways, are made
smoothly with everyone well-informed – red – undeveloped – “again, we need to
see more evidence”

•

People are informed and supported to be as involved as they wish to be in
decisions about their care – green – achieving

Seven partner representatives attended the event and follow up meetings will be held with
each of the attendees to further establish our working relationships and a virtual network
will be established to include other partner organisations representatives. The network will
be used to consult and engage our partners with our plans for the delivery of the West
Cheshire Way and to ensure there is a continued focus towards the delivery of the equality
and inclusion aspects of the clinical commissioning group’s work. The 2017/18 equality
and inclusion delivery plan has been developed to incorporate a small amount of work
remaining from the 2016/17 plan, the actions resulting from the feedback from the
equalities grading event and the work required to meet the requirements of the 2017/18
equality delivery system outcomes. Progress against the delivery of the plan will be
monitored by the quality improvement committee.
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GOVERNANCE STATEMENT
3.1

INTRODUCTION AND CONTEXT

The clinical commissioning group was licenced from 1st April 2013 under provisions
enacted from the Health and Social Care Act 2012, which amended the National Health
Service Act 2006. As of 1st April 2015 the clinical commissioning group was licenced
without conditions.

3.2

SCOPE OF RESPONSIBILITY

As Accountable Officer I have responsibility for maintaining a sound system of internal
control that supports the achievement of the clinical commissioning group’s policies, aims
and objectives whilst safeguarding the public funds and assets for which I am personally
responsible in accordance with the responsibilities assigned to me in Managing Public
Money. I also acknowledge my responsibilities as set out my Clinical Commissioning
Group Accountable Officer Appointment Letter.
I am responsible for ensuring the clinical commissioning group is administered prudently
and economically and that resources are applied efficiently and effectively, safeguarding
financial propriety and regularity.
Throughout this annual report reference is made to the “formal directions” placed on the
clinical commissioning group in-line with our financial position. Our proposed
journey/programmes towards full financial recovery and the systems and processes in
place to monitor progress are reported to the finance, performance and commissioning
committee on a monthly basis.

3.3

COMPLIANCE WITH THE UK CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE

We are not required to comply with the UK Corporate Governance Code. However, we
have reported on our corporate governance arrangements by drawing upon best practice
available, including those aspects of the UK Corporate Governance Code we consider to
be relevant to the clinical commissioning group and best practice.

3.4

THE CLINICAL COMMISSIONING GROUP GOVERNANCE FRAMEWORK

The National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended), at paragraph 14L(2)(b) states:
The main function of the governing body is to ensure that the group has made appropriate
arrangements for ensuring that it complies with such generally accepted principles of good
governance as are relevant to it.
The clinical commissioning group is accountable for exercising its statutory functions. It
has granted authority to act on its behalf to:
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a)
b)
c)
d)

its membership council;
its governing body;
its employees;
committees or sub-committees of the group’s governing body.

The extent of the authority to act by the respective bodies and individuals depends on the
powers that the group delegates to them as expressed through:
a)
b)

its scheme of reservation and delegation; and
for the membership council, the governing body, committees of the governing
body, through their terms of reference.

3.4.1 Membership Council
The clinical commissioning group’s membership council is a committee of the clinical
commissioning group. It represents all of the member practices of the group and reflects
their opinions. The membership council has specific responsibility for:
a)

representing the interests of the clinical commissioning group as a whole;

b)

approving the clinical commissioning group’s constitution and proposed changes
to the constitution including:
i)

ii)
iii)

the powers reserved to the membership and those delegated to
committees, the governing body, members, employees or other persons
specified in the group’s constitution,
standing orders, scheme of reservation and delegation and prime financial
policies,
the membership of the group’s committees and of its governing body;

c)

the arrangements for members joining and leaving the clinical commissioning
group;

d)

nominating for appointment the group’s accountable officer;

e)

appointing:
i)
the chair of the governing body;
ii)
clinicians to represent member practices on the governing body of the
group,
iii)
all other governing body members;

f)

where appropriate, the removal of elected members, lay members and the
appointed nurse and consultant specialist, where they are not employees of the
clinical commissioning group;

g)

jointly publishing with the governing body, the clinical commissioning group’s
annual report and annual accounts;
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h)

holding the governing body members, both individually and collectively, to account
for the performance of the governing body;

i)

influencing the recommendations and decisions of the governing body;

j)

agreeing initiatives for implementation by member practices to improve the quality
and outcomes of patient care and better use of resources;

k)

contributing towards the goals of the clinical commissioning group as set out in the
group’s commissioning and financial plans;

l)

approving an application by the clinical commissioning group to enter into a
merger, separation or dissolution.

The membership council holds the governing body to account for the functions that the
clinical commissioning group has conferred on it through:
a)

its regular meetings with the chair and chief executive officer of the clinical
commissioning group and it may ask the chair, or the chief executive officer or the
governing body anything it wishes and they must answer, unless doing so would in
their opinion damage the clinical commissioning group’s interests;

b)

the appraisal of individual governing body members and the annual evaluation of
the effectiveness of the governing body as a whole. The committee will advise the
membership council on an appropriate appraisal system for members of the
clinical commissioning group’s governing body.

c)

the governing body’s remuneration committee will also advise the membership
council on an appropriate appraisal process for members of its governing body.

The voting membership council comprises:
a)
b)
c)
d)

the elected clinical chair of the clinical commissioning group and its governing
body;
the nominated clinical representatives of each member practice;
the group’s accountable (chief executive) officer
the group’s chief finance officer.

Practice managers and representatives of non-principal and sessional providers of
essential primary medical providers may attend meetings of the membership council but
may not vote.
The membership council has determined that the responsibilities of the governing body’s
audit committee shall include reviewing the effectiveness of the arrangements that the
membership council has in place for discharging those decisions reserved to the
membership and for its compliance with this constitution.
The council has also
determined that the responsibilities of the remuneration committee shall also include
advice on succession planning for governing body members; their induction and for the
organisational development of the clinical commissioning group. Both committees shall
report directly to the membership council on matters pertaining or relating to the
responsibilities of the membership council.
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Attendance at membership council meetings in 2016/17
Practice

25/5/16

28/09/16

13/11/16

22/02/17

Boughton Health Centre









Bunbury Medical Practice









City Walls Medical Centre





x



Frodsham Medical Practice

x

x

x



Garden Lane Medical Centre







x

Great Sutton Medical Centre (McAlavey)









Great Sutton Medical Centre (Wearne)







x

Great Sutton Medical Centre (Wood)







x

Handbridge Medical Centre

x







Heath Lane Medical Centre



x





Helsby & Elton Practice









Hoole Road Surgery/Fountains Medical Practice



x





Hope Farm Medical Centre









Kelsall Medical Centre

x

x



x

Lache Health Centre









Laurel Bank Surgery, Malpas









Neston Medical Centre







x

Neston Surgery









Northgate Medical Centre









Northgate Village Surgery









Old Hall Surgery



x

x
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Park Medical Centre

x

Tarporley Health Centre (Adey)



Tarporley Health Centre (Campbell)



The Elms Medical Centre

x

The Knoll Surgery



Upton Village Surgery



The Village Surgeries Group

x

Western Avenue Medical Centre



Westminster Surgery

x

Whitby Group Practice (Warren)



Whitby Group Practice (England)



Whitby Group Practice (Stringer)



Willaston Surgery



York Road Group Practice



x









x





X















x



X

x

x







x



x







x









x

x

x

x





x

Overview of membership council business in 2016/17
The Membership Council, with representation from each of our 35 practices, has continued
to evolve to meet the requirements of a membership organisation. In 2016/17 the
membership council received clinical commissioning group business items, the annual
report, accounts, draft audit findings report and the updated clinical commissioning group
constitution. The Membership Council also undertook in-depth workshop discussions on
our current commissioning programmes and future priorities in-line with national guidance.
3.4.2 Governing Body
The clinical commissioning group’s governing body has responsibility for the functions set
out below, which have been conferred on it by sections 14L(2) and (3) of the 2006 Act,
inserted by section 25 the 2012 Act, together with any other functions connected with its
main functions as may be specified in regulations or the clinical commissioning group’s
constitution. The governing body’s overall responsibilities are to:
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a)

ensure that the group has appropriate arrangements in place to exercise its
functions effectively, efficiently and economically and in accordance with the
groups principles of good governance (its main function);

b)

determine the remuneration, fees and other allowances payable to employees or
other persons providing services to the group, including nominated practice
representatives, and the allowances payable under any pension scheme it may
establish under paragraph 11(4) of Schedule 1A of the 2006 Act, inserted by
Schedule 2 of the 2012 Act;

c)

approve any functions of the group that are specified in regulations;

d)

with the exception of those functions reserved to the group’s membership council,
to discharge all of the groups remaining statutory functions including:
i)
ii)
iii)
iv)
v)

to lead and approve the setting of the group’s vision and strategy and its
annual commissioning and financial plans,
securing continuous improvement in the standards and outcomes of care,
financial and risk management,
jointly publishing, with the group’s membership council, the group’s annual
report and annual accounts,
where not specified in the terms of reference of the governing body
committees, receiving the minutes of meetings of joint or collaborative
arrangements between the group and another statutory body(ies).

The clinical commissioning group will have regard to the views of the group’s membership
council in preparing the group’s forward plans.
The governing body will report the outcome of the appraisal of governing body members
and the evaluation of the governing body’s effectiveness with the membership council.
The governing body comprises of:
a)

an elected clinical chair;

b)

three lay members one of whom acts as vice chair:
•
•
•

one to act as vice chair and one to lead on governance, appointments,
organisational development,
one to lead on patient and public engagement matters,
one to lead on audit and finance;

c)

Three elected clinical representatives of member practices, who each have
corporate as well as other specified functional responsibilities;

d)

An appointed Medical Director to lead on the quality improvement of general
practice;

e)

a registered nurse;

f)

a secondary care specialist doctor;
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g)

an accountable officer;

h)

a chief finance officer;

i)

a senior management team of Directors:
•
Director of Operations
•
Director of Quality and Safeguarding
•
Director of Commissioning
•
Director of Public Health (Cheshire West and Chester Council)

Attendance at governing body meetings held in public in 2016/17
Member’s Name

Member’s Title

Dr Huw Charles-Jones

GP Chair

Dr Chris Ritchieson

GP Chair

Alison Lee

Chief Executive Officer

Dr Andy McAlavey

Medical Director

Chris Hannah

Vice Chair / Lay Member

Kieran Timmins

Lay Member (Audit &
Finance)
Lay Member (Patient & Public
Involvement)
Nurse Representative

Pam Smith
Sarah Faulkner
Dr Peter Williams
Gareth James
Dr Jeremy Perkins

Hospital Doctor
Representative
Chief Finance Officer

Dr Steve Pomfret

GP Network Chair (Ellesmere
Port and Neston)
GP Network Chair (Rural)

Dr Annabel Jones

GP Network Chair (City)

Paula Wedd

Director of Quality and
Safeguarding
Director of Contracts and
Performance
Director of Commissioning

Lee Hawksworth
Laura Marsh
Fiona Reynolds

Interim Director of Public
Health, Cheshire West and
Chester Council

19/05/16

21/07/16

15/09/16

17/11/16

19/01/17

16/03/17









-

-

-

-

-

-























x





x

























x



x







x

x

x





x

x













x

































x









x









x





x

x

X























-

Meetings of the governing body also take place in private bi-monthly (April, June, August,
October, December and February).
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Overview of governing body business in 2016/17
Over the previous 12 months the governing body of the clinical commissioning group has
framed its discussions around its priority programmes. The governing body has received
reports on areas of key importance locally, including the health and wellbeing strategy,
integrated needs assessment, winter escalation plans and updates from our local adults
and children’s safeguarding boards. Our governance structure provides the governing
body oversight of business and decisions made at committees of the governing body and
the following standing items are presented at each governing body meeting:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

West Cheshire senate report
Quality improvement committee report
Finance, performance and commissioning committee Report
Audit committee report
Financial position updates
Programme delivery updates
Governing body assurance framework

To ensure robust governance oversight, the governing body also receives and discusses
policies and governance documents implemented across the organisation, the governing
body assurance framework, minutes and annual reports from each of the governing body
committees and receiving/signing of the annual report and annual accounts.
3.4.3 Senate
The West Cheshire Senate is an advisory body to the clinical commissioning group’s
governing body and comprises senior clinicians and non-clinicians from the clinical
commissioning group and its partner organisations in primary, community, mental health
and secondary care, public health and the local authority.
Overview of business at the West Cheshire Senate in 2016/17
The West Cheshire Senate met bi-monthly throughout 2016/17 with a range of meeting
topics to include:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

The introduction of the clinical commissioning group’s Own Life campaign, our
savings plan and the development of an accountable care organisation
An overview of 2016/17 quality, innovation, productivity and prevention proposals
Patient stories
The NHS Yeovil story - Symphony Care
The Buurtzorg Project
Demand management and health optimisation of patients
Demand management in primary and urgent care
North West Ambulance Service – frequent callers and current pressures
Countess of Chester Hospital - pressures at the front door

The terms of reference for the Senate were reviewed and agreed in March 2017 and its
responsibilities confirmed as:
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•

to review and discuss healthcare developments across West Cheshire, make
recommendations for change and support the strategic delivery of the West
Cheshire Way

•

to review wider footprint developments such as the Cheshire and Merseyside
delivery of the five year forward view and consider the application and impact of
plans for West Cheshire, making recommendations for change across the health
economy as applicable

•

to advise the clinical commissioning group and its partners on the clinical impact of
strategies and development plans across the health and social care community

•

to facilitate the progression of key priority workstreams.

•

supporting the translation of
developments into local delivery

national

and

international

health

economy

The Senate meetings in 2017/18 will continue to be aligned to the clinical priorities of the
delivery of the Five Year Forward View.

3.4.4 Remuneration Committee
The remuneration committee makes:
a)

recommendations to the governing body on determinations concerning the
remuneration, fees and other allowances for employees and for people who
provide services to the clinical commissioning group and on determinations
concerning allowances under any pension scheme that the group may establish as
an alternative to the NHS pension scheme.

b)

The membership council and governing body have also delegated the following
responsibilities to the remuneration committee:

c)

i)

recommending proposals for succession planning for governing body
members,

ii)

oversight of the group’s arrangements for the appointment of senior, staff;
ensuring that the selection and appointment processes are fair and
transparent and conform with best practice,

iii)

induction for governing body members,

iv)

the remuneration of nominated practice representatives, and

v)

recommending the group’s organisational development.

Where the audit and remuneration and development committees’ review or advise
on matters which concern the functions of the membership council, both
committees will report directly to the membership council on such matters.
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Attendance at remuneration committee in 2016/17
Member’s Name

Member’s Title

19/01/17

09/03/17





Kieran Timmins

Vice Chair/Lay Member
Chair of Remuneration Committee
Lay Member





Pam Smith

Lay Member





Chris Hannah

Overview of business at the remuneration committee in 2016/17
During 2016/17 the remuneration committee considered the options and commencement
dates for auto-enrolment into the NHS pension scheme, consultation on the relocation
(office base) of shared financial services team from Liverpool to Chester, GP Chair
remuneration and a voluntary redundancy proposal for the Director of Operations post.
3.4.5 Finance, Performance and Commissioning Committee
The finance, performance and commissioning committee:
a)

recommends the clinical commissioning group’s five year and annual
commissioning plans to the governing body and has operational oversight of the
implementation of those plans.

b)

provides assurance to the governing body that the clinical commissioning group’s
commissioning plans are effective, efficient and economic; that plans are informed
by patients and the public; that they are being delivered and that risks associated
with delivery are being mitigated.

c)

Recommends/has oversight of collaborative commissioning arrangements and
within delegated financial limits, the committee has authority to approve
commissioning decisions;

d)

The following sub-committees and advisory bodies are authorised by the
governing body and are accountable to the Finance, Performance Commissioning
Committee:
i.
ii.
iii.
iv.
v.
vi.
vii.
viii.
ix.

Programme delivery group;
Programme assurance boards;
Area prescribing committee;
Countess of Chester Hospital NHS Foundation Trust quality and
performance meeting;
Cheshire and Wirral Partnership NHS Foundation Trust quality and
performance meeting;
Grosvenor Nuffield Hospital quality and performance meeting;
Partners 4 Health quality and performance meeting;
Contract meetings of any provider on NHS standard contracts where
exceptions to quality requirements are reported;
Any task and finish group set up by the committee to assist it in carrying
out their duties
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Attendance and finance, performance and commissioning committee in 2016/17
Member’s Name
Chris Hannah
Kieran Timmins
Dr Huw CharlesJones
Dr Chris Ritchieson

Member’s Title
Committee Chair/ CCG Vice
Chair / Lay Member
Lay Member for Audit and
Finance
GP Chair
GP Chair

Dr Andy McAlavey

Medical Director

Alison Lee

Chief Executive Officer

Gareth James

Chief Finance Officer

Dr Steve Pomfret

Rural Locality Network GP
Chair

Dr Jeremy Perkins
Dr Annabel Jones

Ellesmere Port & Neston
Network GP Chair
City Network GP Chair

Laura Marsh

Director of Commissioning

Lee Hawksworth

Director of Operations, NHS
West Cheshire CCG
Head of Governance

Clare Dooley
Alistair Jeffs
Mark Palethorpe
Paul Dolan

Head of Strategic
Commissioning, Cheshire
West and Chester Council
Strategic Director, Cheshire
West and Chester Council
Cabinet Member for Adult
Social Care, CWAC
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21/04/16

05/05/16

09/06/16

07/07/16

01/09/16

06/10/16

03/11/16

01/12/16

05/01/16

02/02/17

09/03/17















x







-

-
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x
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x



-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-
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x



x



X
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Member’s Name
Louise Barry

Member’s Title
HealthWatch Cheshire
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21/04/16

05/05/16

09/06/16

07/07/16

01/09/16

06/10/16

03/11/16

01/12/16

05/01/16

02/02/17

09/03/17

x

x

x

x

x

x

x

x

x
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Overview of finance, performance and commissioning committee business 2016/17
During the financial year the finance, performance and commissioning committee has
closely monitored reported performance against financial duties (including to closely
scrutinise financial recovery), NHS contracts and other agreed performance measures.
Particular consideration has been given to performance areas of concern and detailed
discussions about the financial plan and in-year financial performance. In addition,
performance against the group’s commissioning and delivery plans is considered in detail
and summary reports escalated to the governing body to each meeting held in public.
Throughout the year the committee has also made investment decisions following the
agreed decision making procedure.
The committee has approved the process adopted to allocating commissioning for quality
and innovation scheme (CQUIN) payments. The committee receives regular reports from
the area prescribing committee and the minutes of the contract meetings held with local
foundation trusts.
3.4.6 Audit Committee
The audit committee provides:
a)

the governing body with an independent and objective view of the clinical
commissioning group’s financial systems, financial information and compliance
with laws, regulations and directions governing the clinical commissioning group in
so far as they relate to finance.

b)

The membership council and the governing body have also delegated to the audit
committee responsibility for:
i)
ii)

reviewing the effectiveness of the system of governance, risk
management and internal control, incorporating the arrangements for the
membership council;
the arrangements made by the clinical commissioning group for managing
conflicts of interest, whistle blowing and fraud (both clinical and nonclinical)

Attendance at the audit committee in 2016/17
Member’s Name

Member’s Title

07/04/16

25/05/16

16/09/16

07/12/16

Ken Morris

Interim Chair





-

-

Kieran Timmins

Audit Committee Chair / Lay
Member (Audit & Finance)

-







Chris Hannah

Vice Chair/Lay Member









Pam Smith

Lay Member (Patient & Public
Involvement)





x

x
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Overview of audit committee business in 2016/17
Over the previous 12 months the audit committee of the clinical commissioning group has
reviewed and approved the scheme of reservation and delegation and the provision of the
annual audit letter for 2015/16.
The committee reviewed progress and ensured compliance with the Information
Governance Toolkit, which was successfully submitted (fully compliant) in March 2017.
The committee approved an internal audit plan and debated a number of audit review
reports undertaken by Mersey Internal Audit Agency, including monitoring action plans and
progress against recommendations made therein.
The committee approved the anti-fraud strategy, policy and action plan and monitored
progress against these throughout the year.
The annual audit fee was agreed by the committee. An update of emerging themes and
developments from External Audit (Grant Thornton) was provided to each committee
meeting.
The committee ensured compliance against the clinical commissioning group’s risk
management strategy.
The committee considered and approved three waivers to our procurement/commissioning
policy.
3.4.7 Quality Improvement Committee
The quality improvement committee provides assurance to the governing body that:
a)

quality and patient experience is central to the work of the clinical commissioning
group;

b)

services the clinical commissioning group commissions are safe and effective, and

c)

there is continuous improvement in the quality of commissioned services; in
primary medical services and in patient outcomes.

d)

The following sub-committees and advisory bodies are authorised by the
governing body and are accountable to the quality improvement committee:
i.
Countess of Chester Hospital Foundation Trust Quality and Performance
meeting
ii.
Cheshire and Wirral Partnership Trust quality and performance meeting
iii.
Nuffield quality and performance meeting
iv.
Partners for Health Quality and Performance meeting
v.
Local Safeguarding Children Board for Cheshire West and Chester.
vi.
Local Safeguarding Adult Board for Cheshire West and Chester
vii.
GP Quality Group
viii.
Serious Incident Review Group
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ix.

Quality and performance meetings of any provider on NHS standard
contracts where exceptions to quality requirements are reported

Attendance at quality improvement committee meetings in 2016/17
Member’s Name
Sarah Faulkner
Lee Hawksworth

Member’s Title
Quality Improvement
Committee Chair / Clinical
Lead - Nursing
Director of Operations

14/04/16

09/06/16

11/08/16

20/10/16

08/12/16

09/02/17



x









x

x

x



x

x

Hayley Cavanagh

Quality Improvement
Manager









-

-

Anne Eccles

Designated Nurse
Safeguarding Children

x



x

x

x



Brian Green

Head of Quality and Safety

x

x







x

Tanya Jefcoate-Malam

Quality Improvement
Manager







x

x

x

Dr Andy McAlavey

Vice Chair







x





Dr Julia Riley

Clinical Lead for Urgent Care





x





x

Pam Smith

Lay Member (Patient & Public
Involvement)









x



Helen Wormald

Designated Nurse
Safeguarding Adults



x







x

Paula Wedd

Director of Quality and
Safeguarding
Prescribing Advisor

















x

x





Louise Milner

Clinical Quality &
Performance Coordinator

x

x

x

x

x



Debbie Smith

Patient Experience Manager



x





x



Alison Lee

Chief Executive Officer

Donald Read

Consultant in Public Health



Debbie Telford

Head of Complex Care



Sam Lacey

Quality Improvement
Manager





Pauline Roberts



Overview of quality improvement committee business in 2016/17
The key duty of the quality improvement committee is to secure continuous improvements
in the quality of services we commission for our population, with particular regard to clinical
effectiveness, safety and patient experience. The committee discharged this duty in
2016/17 by:
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•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Scrutinising detailed reports in relation to quality concerns escalated from contract
meetings with providers of NHS care.
Ensuring that quality continued to shape our strategic direction and featured strongly in
our annual commissioning plan.
Using the clinical expertise of our committee membership to scrutinise the intelligence
in the thematic reports we produce from reviewing serious incidents.
Identifying themes of concerns to patients through complaints and patient surveys.
Reporting serious quality concerns to the governing body meetings in public and
recommending appropriate courses of action.
Ensuring that all Equality and Inclusion requirements were monitored and actioned.
Ensuring that the Clinical Commissioning Group’s safeguarding duties were
discharged.

This focus on quality is visible in governing body reports which highlight where there have
been concerns and steps the committee has taken to challenge suboptimal practice. The
committee has continued to champion the production of the annual patient insight and
intelligence report which is central to the commissioning of local healthcare services. In
2016/17 the committee work plan was expanded to include more detailed and regular
information on:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

The delivery of high quality care in nursing homes
Transforming Care
Learning Disabilities Mortality Programme
Primary Care Quality
Nursing Revalidation
Quality Impact Assessments
Infection Prevention and Control

3.4.8 Primary Care Committee
The joint primary care commissioning committee will oversee, together with NHS England
all commissioning and quality of General Medical Services in West Cheshire, which will
include:
•

General Medical Services, Personal Medical Services and Alternative
Provider Medical Services contracts (including the design/development of
Personal Medical Services and Alternative Provider Medical Services
contracts, monitoring of contracts, taking contractual action such as issuing
breach/remedial notices, and removing a contract);

•

Newly designed enhanced services (“Local Enhanced Services” and “Directed
Enhanced Services”) ;

•

Consideration of local incentive schemes including as an alternative to the
Quality Outcomes Framework (QOF);

•

Decision making on whether to establish new GP practices in an area;

•

Approving practice mergers;
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•

Making decisions on ‘discretionary’ payments (e.g., returner/retainer
schemes);

•

Plan, including needs assessment, primary medical services in West
Cheshire;

•

To undertake reviews of primary medical care services in West Cheshire;

•

To co-ordinate a common approach to the commissioning of primary care
services generally;

•

To drive the continuous improvement of primary care; including quality
improvement, workforce training and development and changes to the model
of care in order to deliver the ambitions of the West Cheshire Way and ensure
continuous improvement of clinical outcomes;

•

Once delegated responsibilities will also include managing the budget for
commissioning of primary medical services;

•

Securing continuous improvements in the quality of services for patients with
particular regard to clinical effectiveness, safety and patient experience;

•

Providing assurance to the NHS West Cheshire Clinical Commissioning
Group governing body that patient safety and quality outcomes and benefits
are realised;

•

Escalation of concerns and issues/risk that impact on the delivery of the high
quality of services, and recommending appropriate courses of action;

•

Monitoring incidents, claims, concerns and complaints trends from
commissioned services to ensure corrective and preventative action is being
taken;

•

Identifying themes of concerns to patients through complaints, patient
surveys and engagement activities and recommend action to address those
themes;

•

Ensuring lessons are learnt from patient experience intelligence and serious
untoward incident;

•

Having oversight of exceptions and assurance received from reporting
groups;

•

Ensuring that the clinical commissioning group’s safeguarding duties are
discharged.
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Attendance at the primary care commissioning committee in 2016/17
Member’s Name
Pam Smith

Louise Barry
Huw CharlesJones
Laura Marsh

Sarah Murray

Steve Pomfret

Simon Powell
Carla Sutton

Alison Lee

Gareth James

Paula Wedd

Annabel Jones

Kevin Guinan

Jeremy Perkins

Andy McAlavey
Chris Hannah
Chris Ritchieson

Member’s Title
Lay Member, Patient and Public
Involvement, NHS West Cheshire
CCG
Health Watch Representative
Chair of NHS West Cheshire
Clinical Commissioning Group
Director of Commissioning, NHS
West Cheshire Clinical
Commissioning Group
Head of Primary Care, NHS West
Cheshire Clinical Commissioning
Group
Rural Network Representative,
NHS West Cheshire Clinical
Commissioning Group
Local
Medical
Committee
Representative
Senior Contract Manager, NHS
England North (Cheshire &
Merseyside)
Chief Executive Officer, NHS
West Cheshire Clinical
Commissioning Group
Chief Finance Officer, NHS West
Cheshire Clinical Commissioning
Group
Director of Quality and
Safeguarding, NHS West
Cheshire Clinical Commissioning
Group
City Network Representative,
NHS West Cheshire Clinical
Commissioning Group
Vice Chair, City Network, NHS
West Cheshire Clinical
Commissioning Group
Ellesmere Port and Neston
Network Representative, NHS
West Cheshire Clinical
Commissioning Group
Medical Director, NHS West
Cheshire Clinical Commissioning
Group
Lay Member, NHS West Cheshire
Clinical Commissioning Group
Chair, NHS West Cheshire
Clinical Commissioning Group
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Overview of primary care commissioning committee business in 2016/17
The primary care committee was newly formed in 2016, the items of business it
considered were:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Terms of reference for the committee
Implications for the clinical commissioning group and primary care of the NHS
operational planning and contracting guidance 2017-2019
Extended hours service
GP Forward View Plan
Primary care infrastructure
Delegation process
Repeat prescribing wastage

3.4.9 GP Locality Networks
The three GP locality networks, one for each of the Rural, City and Ellesmere Port and
Neston localities, are committees of the governing body. They provide the forum through
which the governing body engages with member practices on all matters pertaining to the
governing body’s responsibilities. Each network is responsible for the development of
locality based business plans for approval within delegated limits, they provide advice to
the governing body on the impact of proposed service developments on practice workload
and on patients and, in support of the group’s commissioning plans, they are able to
recommend and participate in the development and implementation of new care pathways.
The networks consider and act on the performance reports for the group.
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Attendance and GP Locality Network meetings in 2016/17

CITY
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City
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Bunbury
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April 2016
May 2016
June 2016
July 2016
August 2016
September 2016
October 2016
November 2016
December 2016
January 2017
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Overview of GP locality network meetings in 2016/17
The format of the meetings has changed whereby GPs now sit together in their clusters,
this change has proved successful in helping to move projects forward and in facilitating
relationship building. The focus of all three of the networks has been on supporting the
implementation of various projects within the Primary Care Development and the wider
commissioning agenda.
Dr Annabel Jones, GP at Boughton Medical Centre, is the Chair of the City GP Network
and Dr Kevin Guinan, GP at Lache Health Centre, is Vice Chair for the City Network.
Dr Steve Pomfret, GP at The Knoll Surgery was re-elected as the Chair of the rural
network and Dr Louise Davies, GP at Laurel Bank Surgery, is the Vice Chair for the Rural
Network.
Dr Jeremy Perkins, GP at Neston Village Surgery was re-elected as the Chair of the
Ellesmere Port & Neston network and Emily Morton, GP at Whitby Group Practice has
been appointed as Vice Chair for the Ellesmere Port & Neston network.

3.5

THE CLINICAL COMMISSIONING GROUP INTERNAL CONTROL FRAMEWORK

A system of internal control is the set of processes and procedures in place in the clinical
commissioning group to ensure it delivers its polices, aims and objectives. It is designed
to identify and prioritise the risks, to evaluate the likelihood of those risks being realised
and the impact should they be realised, and to manage them efficiently, effectively and
economically. The system of internal control allows risk to be managed to a reasonable
level rather than eliminating all risk; it can therefore only provide reasonable and not
absolute assurance of effectiveness.
The review of systems of internal control is informed by the work of the internal auditors,
the executive managers and clinical leads within the clinical commissioning group who
have responsibility for the development and maintenance of the internal control framework.
This is drawn on performance information available and informed by comments made by
the external auditors in their management letter and other reports.
The effectiveness of systems of internal control is overseen by the governing body, the
audit committee and the quality improvement committee, and plans to address
weaknesses and ensure continuous improvement of systems are in place.
The clinical commissioning group undertake a wide range of mandatory and statutory
training for all staff and there has been a greater emphasis on staff training during 2016/17
following via our of elearning system. Staff are required to undertake training in relation to
counter fraud, equality and diversity, fire safety, infection control, information governance,
safeguarding children and adults as well as health and safety. This training is mandatory
for all staff and is a key part of the organisation's core induction. This ensures that risk
management, risk assessment and incident reporting are highlighted together with key
strategies, policies and procedures. These include risk management strategy, infection
control, and complaints.
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The statutory & mandatory training compliance rate at March 2017 reports 85.2%
compliance across the 9 core courses.
In 2016/17 The clinical commissioning group has ensured:
•
•
•
•
•

•
•

3.6

Attendance and debate at the clinical commissioning group governing body and its
sub-committees via detailed reports from the senior management team.
The achievement of financial duties and the financial position of the clinical
commissioning group.
Director objectives aligned with key corporate objectives.
Commitment to engaging local independent contractors to facilitate the
development of good governance and risk management processes.
To seek independent assurances from third party providers of services to the
clinical commissioning group over the effectiveness of internal controls in place.
Relevant reports covering the review of third party provider controls are
presented to the audit committee during the year.
Control measures are in place to ensure that all the organisations' obligations
under equality, diversity and human rights legislation are complied with.
Responses are provided to staff and patient surveys and other external reviews.

INFORMATION GOVERNANCE

The NHS Information Governance Framework sets the processes and procedures by
which the NHS handles information about patients, the public and employees, in particular
person identifiable data and information. The NHS Information Governance Framework is
supported by an information governance toolkit and the annual submission process
provides assurances to the clinical commissioning group, other organisations and to
individuals that personal information is dealt with legally, securely, efficiently and
effectively.
We place high importance on ensuring that there are robust information governance
systems and processes in place to help protect personal and corporate information. We
have established an information governance management framework and have developed
information governance policies and procedures in line with the information governance
toolkit. We have ensured all staff undertake annual information governance training and
have implemented staff information briefings to ensure staff are aware of their roles and
responsibilities.
Data Security
We have submitted a satisfactory level of compliance (91%) with the information
governance toolkit assessment. The evidence used has also been independently audited,
with ‘significant assurance’ given, prior to submission. There have been no serious
untoward incidents relating to data security breaches, and no other incidents that were
required to be reported to the Information Commissioner’s Office during 2016/17.
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3.7

THE CLINICAL COMMISSIONING GROUP RISK MANAGEMENT FRAMEWORK

The corporate risk registers enable the clinical commissioning group to understand its
comprehensive risk profile. It records dependencies between risks and links between risks
on the governing body assurance framework and the risk registers of individual functions.
The corporate risk registers and their sponsors/owners are:
Register

Owner

Committee Oversight

Finance

Chief Finance Officer

Finance, Performance and
Commissioning Committee

Contracting & Performance

Chief Finance Officer
Director of Commissioning

Finance, Performance and
Commissioning Committee

Commissioning

Director of Commissioning
Director of Operations

Finance, Performance and
Commissioning Committee

Medicines Management

Medical Director

Finance, Performance and
Commissioning Committee

Continuing Healthcare

Director of Quality and
Safeguarding
Chief Finance Officer
Head of Governance

Finance, Performance and
Commissioning Committee
Audit Committee

Quality and Safeguarding

Director of Quality and
Safeguarding

Quality Improvement
Committee

Corporate

Chief Executive Officer
Head of Governance

Finance, Performance and
Commissioning Committee

Primary Care

GP Chair

Primary Care Committee

Governance

The corporate risk register is a dynamic document, held by head of governance. Risks
identified as significant or complex are entered on to the corporate risk register, quality
assured by the senior management team members before escalation to the oversight
committee (detailed above), and by exception to the governing body.
The governing body assurance framework has been developed in accordance with
guidelines provided by the Department of Health. This is a high level document that
records the principal risks that could impact on the clinical commissioning group
achieving its strategic objectives. Principal risks are not considered in isolation, but
are derived from the prioritisation of risks fed upwards through the whole
organisation, including risk registers and governing body assurance framework.
In this way the risk registers will contribute to the governing body assurance
framework and ensure that system risks are identified and monitored.
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The governing body assurance framework reports key information to the governing body at
each formal meeting held in public. It provides assurance that risks are being managed
effectively and objectives are delivered and also identifies which of the clinical
commissioning objectives are at risk because of gaps in controls or assurance about them.
During 2016/17 no major risks to governance and internal control were reported to the
clinical commissioning group governing body. The clinical commissioning group had no
principal risks to compliance with the group’s licence in 2016/17. The governance
structures of the clinical commissioning group are robust, the remit of the governing body
committees and responsibilities of governing body members on these committees are
clearly defined and adopted as set out in the clinical commissioning group’s constitution.

3.8

REVIEW OF ECONOMY, EFFICIENCY AND EFFECTIVENESS OF THE USE OF
RESOURCES

To ensure that resources are used economically, efficiently and with effectiveness:
• The governing body provides active leadership of the organisation within a framework
of prudent and effective controls, that enable risk to be assessed and managed.
• The audit committee, as part of the committee structure, is pivotal in advising the
governing body on the effectiveness of the system of internal control and use of
resources. Any significant issues would be reported to the governing body via the audit
committee report to each governing body meeting.
• Directors' roles and responsibilities are aligned to ensure systems of internal control
are in place and implemented effectively throughout the organisation.
• Internal Audit provides reports to each meeting of the audit committee meetings and
full reports to the Chief Finance Officer. The audit committee also receives details of
any actions that remain outstanding from the follow up of previous audit work. The
Chief Finance Officer also meets regularly with the Audit Manager.
• External Audit provides external audit annual management letter and progress reports
to the audit committee.
• The governing body meet with NHS England during each quarter for an assurance
assessment, as part of the national clinical commissioning group assurance framework
system. The reports, actions and overall annual assessment from NHS England on the
use resources that are economic, efficient and effective, is provided to the governing
body meetings held in public as part of the Chief Executive Officer’s business reports.
• The latest (year-end) results on the clinical commissioning group’s quality of leadership
indicator, as reported to NHS England, will be available from July 2017
at www.nhs.uk/service-search/scorecard/results/1175.
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3.9

REVIEW OF THE EFFECTIVENESS OF GOVERNANCE, RISK MANAGEMENT
AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Accountable Officer has responsibility for reviewing the effectiveness of the system of
internal control within the clinical commissioning group.
3.9.1 Capacity to Handle Risk
Mersey Internal Audit Agency has undertaken a review of risk management processes in
2016/17 and their assessment was:
An Assurance Framework has been established which is designed and
operating to meet the requirements of the Annual Governance Statement and
provide reasonable assurance that there is an effective system of internal
control to manage the principle risks identified by the organisation.
3.9.2 Audit Reviews
During 2016/17 Mersey Internal Audit Agency completed 9 audit reviews as follows:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Finance shared services review
Contract management review
Conflicts of interest review
Stakeholder engagement and impact review
Performance and programme management office review
Better care fund review
Information governance review
Financial recovery plan review
Commissioning investment decisions review

The recommendations from the audit review reports detailed above have been provided to
the audit committee and the committee members have reviewed the actions undertaken
and that are still outstanding in the format of an audit tracker. Mersey Internal Audit
Agency issued no audit reports with a limited assurance opinion.

3.9.3 Effectiveness of Governance Reporting
To provide assurance on the effectiveness of the governing body’s committees all
committee minutes are submitted to every formal governing body meeting. This practice
enables assurance through high level discussion on issues, including risk management,
identified at these committees. The audit committee in particular enables and supports
the development of governance arrangements. The governance structure for the
organisation is provided below:
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To provide further assurance on identifying and prioritising action on governance issues
the clinical commissioning group meets regularly with the following:
•

NHS England Area Team – quarterly improvement assurance framework review
meetings, monthly financial recovery checkpoint meetings and bi-monthly clinical
commissioning group account officers meeting with the NHS England Director of
Commissioning Operations;

•

Cheshire West and Chester Health and Wellbeing Board and Scrutiny Committee;

•

West Cheshire NHS and social care Systems Leaders Group, which has evolved
into the oversight body for the development of the West Cheshire Accountable Care
Organisation.

3.9.4 Disclosure of Serious Untoward Incidents
Specifically in relation to the statutory duties of the clinical commissioning group, no
serious untoward incidents have been reported during 2016/17.
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3.9.5 Principles for Remedy
The clinical commissioning group encourages a positive, open and honest approach to
receiving and responding to complaints. Complaints provide a valuable feedback about
patients’ experiences. Complaints made to the clinical commissioning group are handled in
accordance with the Complaints (England) Regulations 2009, The NHS Constitution and
principles published by the Health Service Ombudsman: getting it right; being customer
focused; being open and accountable; acting fairly and proportionately; putting things right;
and seeking continuous improvement. This supports us to ensure the good handling of
complaints to improve the quality of services for patients.
The clinical commissioning group handles complaints about services that we commission
on behalf of our population or about the exercise of any of our functions. We also get
involved in more complex complaints where there are multiple organisations involved and
we take on the role of coordinating the provision of a single response. Our aim is to ensure
that all complaints are handled with the patient/complainant at the centre of the response.
We have a clear process for tracking complaints and the responsibility for signing off
responses to complaints lies with the Chief Executive Officer. Every complaint is entered
into a repository alongside Patient Advice and Liaison Service (PALS), MP letters and
professional concerns to enable the monitoring of trends and patterns in complaints and
concerns raised by patients and healthcare professionals. This helps us to detect
systemic problems early by highlighting areas for improvement and development.
This information is reported to the clinical commissioning group’s Quality Improvement
Committee who analyse the information and consider any action required, driving
improvements to the quality of services commissioned by the clinical commissioning group
and sharing lessons learned. This information is also reported at our formal governing
body meetings held in public. During 2016/17, the patient experience team received:
•

64 Formal Complaints

•

318 PALS

•

52 MP Enquiries

•

9 Compliments

Themes from the complaints received included:
Access to services:
•

Many people find the NHS is confusing and complex, and many of the calls to the
patient experience team involved queries about this. Examples include enquiries about
how to access services such as the smoking cessation services, or queries from
patients who had experienced long waits and/or cancellations for their NHS
appointments.
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•

Continuing Healthcare Service (CHC):
The past year saw a marked increase in the number of queries about this service.
These have ranged from requests about how to refer family members to the service,
how to apply for funding, and how to proceed with a retrospective claim. The patient
experience team have worked closely with colleagues from the continuing healthcare
team to promote the ‘Beacon’ website and helplines in order to assist people to
understand a service which many people find confusing and complicated. In one case,
the patient experience team supported three members of the same family through their
concerns about arranging a continuing care package for a relative.

•

Individual Funding Requests (IFR):
The patient experience team received many queries regarding funding for services not
currently commissioned by the clinical commissioning group. The most frequent
contact was about applications for local In-Vitro fertilisation (IVF) services. The team
are currently working with the service to develop some guidelines for local fertility
services. Also, some but not all callers were aware of the individual funding request
(IFR) process, thus indicating a need for more public awareness of the service. Work is
currently underway to improve people’s access to the information and leaflet which is
currently on the clinical commissioning group website, but not easy to find. In addition,
concerns were received about the service itself. For example, in one case where new
leg splints were needed on a regular basis, the caller informed that a new application
would have to be made for every new splint ordered. As a result, the service is
currently reviewing ways of simplifying the service and to try and make it less
bureaucratic.

•

GP Services:
The patient experience team received several queries ranging from how to register with
a GP Practice to how they could obtain access to their healthcare records. There were
also queries from those who had ‘opted out’ of sharing their healthcare records. As a
result of the patient experience team working with the primary care team, more
simplified patient letters and leaflets have been produced. The patient experience team
were also approached for advice on how to handle complaints. As a result, a member
of the team attended a GP practice managers meeting to provide an explanation of the
process.

•

Public Consultations:
The patient experience team has worked closely with the communications and
engagement team during public consultation on the children at home services and the
medicines management consultations. The team used conventional and social media
to encourage those who felt personally affected by the proposals to come forward. As a
result, several people did come forward and the patient experience team supported
them through the process.
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•

Patient Transport Services:
The patient experience team received several queries regarding eligibility for patient
transport services. For example, there was one query whereby a member of the patient
experience team helped the emergency ambulance service transfer a patient involved
in a road traffic accident from the south of the United Kingdom back to West Cheshire.
Also, the patient experience team have also worked closely with the new provider of
the service, the West Midlands Ambulance Service, to ensure enquirers are provided
with the correct advice.

•

Wales/England Cross Border Issues:
The patient experience team received several calls from both patients and health
professionals who were confused about, or had experienced difficulties accessing
services on the Wales/England border. For example, one person contacted because
they had been referred to the Countess of Chester Hospital NHS Foundation Trust
rather than the Wrexham Maelor hospital. Another was from a GP who was unsure
whether or not she could refer his patient to an English hospital.

3.9.6 Employee Consultation
The clinical commissioning group recognizes that its staff are its greatest asset, as it
is through staff that the clinical commissioning group is able to achieve the
fundamental positive outcomes in clinical commissioning required as part of the
organisation’s corporate strategy and objectives. In support of this the clinical
commissioning group places a high importance on the delivery of effective
communications, involvement and engagement with all of its employees and
discharges these duties through a variety of means including:
o
o
o
o
o
o

A weekly briefing from the senior management team to heads of service
A weekly full team briefing session delivered by the Chief Executive Officer
A weekly commissioning e-bulletin
A weekly “digest” of national, regional and local briefings and intelligence
A monthly staff development group open to all staff
Quarterly half day organisational development sessions

These meeting/briefing arrangements give ample time for engagement of the whole
organisation in the development of the clinical commissioning group’s strategic business
and personal and organisational development.
Regular briefings from the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Finance Officer ensure that
staff at all levels in the organisation are made aware of new risks and challenges facing the
team as well as financial and business performance issues. We have consciously taken the
time to ensure that we celebrate team and individual successes.
In 2016/17 the clinical commissioning group undertook to formally consult with affected staff
on the relocation of the shared financial services team (who provide support to four clinical
commissioning groups across Cheshire and Wirral), from Wavertree in Liverpool to Chester
(1829 Building on the Countess of Chester Health Park). This consultation was undertaken
with support from the HR Business Partner from our commissioning support unit/service
and was discussed/reported at our remuneration committee.
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Staff Partnership Forum
The clinical commissioning group acknowledges that the effective and productive conduct
of employee relations benefits significantly for a recognised forum within which all
stakeholders play an active role in partnership working. In support of this the clinical
commissioning group has a recognition agreement with trade unions and staff side
representatives and participates in the Cheshire and Merseyside Staff Partnership Forum,
which aims to identify and facilitate workforce and employment aspects of the NHS locally
in developing arrangements to implement required changes that may affect the workforce.
The Partnership Forum in the clinical commissioning group’s main body for actively
engaging, consulting and negotiating with key staff side stakeholders. The forum is
authorised to agree, revise and review policies and procedures which may relate to
changes in employment legislation and regulation and the terms and conditions of
employment affecting clinical commissioning group staff covered by the national Agenda
for Change terms and conditions. Any policies approved by the Staff Partnership Forum
during 2016/17 were subsequently ratified by the governing body. The Staff Partnership
Forum ensures to provide the clinical commissioning group with policies which specifically
reference and provide guidance for the full and fair consideration of employment
applications, continuing employment and training/career development and promotion of
disabled persons.
Personal Development Reviews
The clinical commissioning group has adopted an annual appraisal system for all of its
employees in order to manage the performance and development of its staff. The clinical
commissioning group has adopted the stance that the current organisation’s objectives and
appraisal system are the method by which performance achievement of corporate
objectives would be measured. Further work is currently being undertaken to develop the
process in line with the clinical commissioning group’s organizational development plan
and priorities.
Staff Support
During the year the clinical commissioning group continued to remain fully committed to
the health and positive wellbeing of its employees and understands that the health and
wellbeing of the workforce is crucial to the delivery of the improvements in patient care
outlined in the clinical commissioning group’s strategic commissioning plan. All staff have
access to a comprehensive occupational health service including support for visual display
unit users and confidential counselling services. Managers are supported by the human
resources team to make appropriate referrals to support any health concerns raised by an
employee in a bid to ensure health and wellbeing remains a priority for the organisation.
Disabled employees
The clinical commissioning group is committed to equality of opportunity for all employees
and is committed to employment practices, policies and procedures which ensure that no
employee, or potential employee receives less favourable treatment on the grounds of
gender, race, colour, ethnic or national origin, sexual orientation, marital status, religion or
belief, age, trade union membership, disability, offending background, domestic
circumstances, social and employment status, HIV status, gender reassignment political
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affiliation or any other person characteristic as outlines in the Equality Act ( 2010) and any
other status covered by the Human Rights Act (1998). Diversity will be viewed positively
and in recognising that everyone is different, the unique contribution that each individual’s
experience, knowledge and skills can make is valued equally.
The promotion of equality and diversity is actively pursued through policies and ensures
that employees receive fair equitable and consistent treatment and ensures that
employees, and potential employees, are not subject to direct or indirect discrimination.
To ensure that clinical commissioning group policies do not have an adverse impact in
response to the requirements of the Equality Act (2010), policies are screen for relevance
during policy development processes and full equality impact assessments are conducted
where necessary.
It is a condition of employment that all employees respect and act in accordance with the
equality and diversity policy. The clinical commissioning group takes equality and diversity
serious and will not tolerate discrimination in any form. As such failure to act in accordance
with the clinical commissioning group’s equality and diversity policy could lead to
disciplinary action.
The clinical commissioing group operates a fair and objective system for recruiting, which
places emphasis on individual skills, abilities and experience. This enables a full diversity
of people to demonstrate their ability to do a job. Selection criteria contained within our job
descriptions and person specifications are regularly reviewed to ensure that they are
justifiable and so do not unfairly discriminate directly or indirectly and are essential for the
effective performance of the role. We offer a guaranteed interview scheme for disabled
applicants who meet our essential selection criteria. During 2016/17 we continued to
maintain our “Positive About Disabled People/2 Tick” accreditation.
3.9.7 Emergency Preparedness, Resilience and Response
The NHS England Cheshire and Merseyside Area Team are responsible for emergency
planning (EPRR). The clinical commissioning group fulfil its responsibilities for working
with NHS England through its membership of the Local Health Resilience Partnership. We
certify that the clinical commissioning group has incident response plans in place, which
are fully compliant with NHS England Emergency Preparedness Framework. They are
continuously tested and updated through the West Cheshire Systems Resilience Group.

3.10

HEAD OF INTERNAL AUDIT OPINION

Following completion of the planned audit work for the financial year 2016/17 for the
clinical commissioning group, the Head of Internal Audit will issue an independent and
objective opinion on the adequacy and effectiveness of the clinical commissioning group’s
system of risk management, governance and internal control. The opinion received on
31st March 2017 is:
Significant assurance, can be given that there is a generally sound system of
internal control designed to meet the organisation's objectives, and that
controls are generally being applied consistently.
However, some
weaknesses in the design or inconsistent application of controls put the
achievement of a particular objective at risk.
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3.11

EXTERNAL AUDIT OPINION

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF THE GOVERNING BODY
OF NHS WEST CHESHIRE CLINICAL COMMISSIONING GROUP
We have audited the financial statements of NHS West Cheshire Clinical Commissioning
Group (the ‘CCG’) for the year ended 31 March 2017 under the Local Audit and
Accountability Act 2014 (the "Act"). The financial statements comprise the Statement of
Comprehensive Net Expenditure, the Statement of Financial Position, the Statement of
Changes in Taxpayers’ Equity, the Statement of Cash Flows and the related notes. The
financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law
and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European
Union, as interpreted and adapted by the Department of Health Group Accounting Manual
2016/17 (the “2016/17 GAM”) and the requirements of the Health and Social Care Act
2012.
This report is made solely to the members of the Governing Body of NHS West Cheshire
CCG, as a body, in accordance with Part 5 of the Act and as set out in paragraph 43 of the
Statement of Responsibilities of Auditors and Audited Bodies published by Public Sector
Audit Appointments Limited. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to
the members of the Governing Body of the CCG those matters we are required to state to
them in an auditor's report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law,
we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the CCG and the
members of the Governing Body of the CCG, as a body, for our audit work, for this report,
or for the opinions we have formed.
Respective responsibilities of the Accountable Officer and auditor
As explained more fully in the Statement of Accountable Officer’s Responsibilities, the
Accountable Officer is responsible for the preparation of the financial statements and for
being satisfied that they give a true and fair view and is also responsible for ensuring the
regularity of expenditure and income. Our responsibility is to audit and express an opinion
on the financial statements in accordance with applicable law, the Code of Audit Practice
published by the National Audit Office on behalf of the Comptroller and Auditor General
(the “Code of Audit Practice”) and International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland).
Those standards require us to comply with the Auditing Practices Board’s Ethical
Standards for Auditors. We are also responsible for giving an opinion on the regularity of
expenditure and income in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice as required by the
Act.
As explained in the Governance Statement the Accountable Officer is responsible for the
arrangements to secure economy, efficiency and effectiveness in the use of the CCG's
resources. We are required under Section 21 (1)(c) of the Act to be satisfied that the CCG
has made proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its
use of resources and to report by exception where we are not satisfied.
We are not required to consider, nor have we considered, whether all aspects of the
CCG's arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of
resources are operating effectively.
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Scope of the audit of the financial statements
An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements sufficient to give reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free
from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error. This includes an
assessment of: whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the CCG’s
circumstances and have been consistently applied and adequately disclosed; the
reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by the Accountable Officer; and
the overall presentation of the financial statements. In addition, we read all the financial
and non-financial information in the Performance Report and the Accountability Report to
identify material inconsistencies with the audited financial statements and to identify any
information that is apparently materially incorrect based on, or materially inconsistent with,
the knowledge acquired by us in the course of performing the audit. If we become aware of
any apparent material misstatements or inconsistencies we consider the implications for
our report.
In addition, we are required to obtain evidence sufficient to give reasonable assurance that
the expenditure and income recorded in the financial statements have been applied to the
purposes intended by Parliament and the financial transactions conform to the authorities
which govern them.
Scope of the review of arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and
effectiveness in the use of resources
We have undertaken our review in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice, having
regard to the guidance on the specified criteria issued by the Comptroller and Auditor
General in November 2016, as to whether the CCG had proper arrangements to ensure it
took properly informed decisions and deployed resources to achieve planned and
sustainable outcomes for taxpayers and local people. The Comptroller and Auditor
General determined these criteria as that necessary for us to consider under the Code of
Audit Practice in satisfying ourselves whether the CCG put in place proper arrangements
for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources for the year
ended 31 March 2017, and to report by exception where we are not satisfied.
We planned our work in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice. Based on our risk
assessment, we undertook such work as we considered necessary.
Opinion on financial statements
In our opinion:
•

the financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of NHS West
Cheshire CCG as at 31 March 2017 and of its expenditure and income for the year
then ended; and

•

the financial statements have been prepared properly in accordance with IFRSs as
adopted by the European Union, as interpreted and adapted by the Department of
Health Group Accounting Manual 2016/17 and the requirements of the Health and
Social Care Act 2012.
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Basis for qualified opinion on regularity
The CCG reported a deficit of £5.719 million in its financial statements for the year ending
31 March 2017, thereby breaching its duty under the National Health Service Act 2006, as
amended by paragraph 223I of Section 27 of the Health and Social Care Act 2012, to
break even on its commissioning budget.
Qualified Opinion on regularity
In our opinion, except for the effects of the matter described in the Basis for qualified
opinion on regularity paragraph, in all material respects the expenditure and income
recorded in the financial statements have been applied to the purposes intended by
Parliament and the financial transactions in the financial statements conform to the
authorities which govern them.
Opinion on other matters
In our opinion:
•

the parts of the Accountability Report to be audited have been properly prepared in
accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European Union, as interpreted and
adapted by the Department of Health Group Accounting Manual 2016/17 and the
requirements of the Health and Social Care Act 2012; and

•

the other information published together with the audited financial statements in the
Performance Report and the Accountability Report for the financial year for which
the financial statements are prepared is consistent with the audited financial
statements.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception
We are required to report to you if we refer a matter to the Secretary of State under section
30 of the Act because we have reason to believe that the CCG, or an officer of the CCG, is
about to make, or has made, a decision which involves or would involve the body incurring
unlawful expenditure, or is about to take, or has begun to take a course of action which, if
followed to its conclusion, would be unlawful and likely to cause a loss or deficiency.
On 17 January 2017 we referred a matter to the Secretary of State under section 30 of the
Act in relation to NHS West Cheshire CCG’s planned breach of its revenue resource limit
for the year ending 31 March 2017.
We are required to report to you if we are not satisfied that the CCG has put in place
proper arrangements to secure economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of
resources.
Basis for qualified value for money conclusion
Our review of the CCG's arrangements identified a number of matters:

NHS West Cheshire Clinical Commissioning Group
Annual Report 2016/17

Page 93

•

the CCG reported a deficit of £5.719 million in its financial statements for the year
ended 31 March 2017 which reflects a deterioration from its initial 2016/17 deficit
budget of £3.2 million;

•

Cost Improvement Programme (CIP) savings delivered during the year of £8.6m
were less than those planned of £12.8m; and

•

the CCG was assessed as ‘Inadequate’ under NHS England’s Improvement and
Assessment Framework on 23 August 2016 and remains under formal Directions.

These identify weaknesses in the CCG's arrangements for setting a sustainable budget
with sufficient capacity to absorb emerging cost pressures and delivery of savings plans.
These issues are evidence of weaknesses in proper arrangements for planning finances
effectively to support the sustainable delivery of strategic priorities and maintain statutory
functions.
Qualified Value for Money Conclusion
On the basis of our work, having regard to the guidance issued by the Comptroller &
Auditor General in November 2016, except for the effects of the matter described in the
Basis for qualified value for money conclusion paragraph, we are satisfied that, in all
significant respects, NHS West Cheshire CCG has put in place proper arrangements for
securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources for the year ended
31 March 2017.
We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters where we are required to
report by exception if:
•
•
•

in our opinion the Governance Statement does not comply with the guidance issued
by the NHS Commissioning Board; or
we have reported a matter in the public interest under section 24 of the Act in the
course of, or at the conclusion of the audit; or
we have made a written recommendation to the CCG under section 24 of the Act in
the course of, or at the conclusion of the audit.

Certificate
We certify that we have completed the audit of the financial statements of NHS West
Cheshire CCG in accordance with the requirements of the Act and the Code of Audit
Practice.
Robin Baker
Robin Baker
for and on behalf of Grant Thornton UK LLP, Appointed Auditor
Royal Liver Building
Liverpool
L3 1PS
26 May 2017
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3.12

BUSINESS CRITICAL MODELS

A framework/environment is in place to provide quality assurance of business critical
models, in line with the Macpherson Report. All business critical models have been
identified and information about quality assurance processes for those models have been
provided to analytical oversight committee. To ensure that all performance data used is fit
for purpose, a number of quality checks are performed, including reconciliations to third
party information. As the majority of data used by the clinical commissioning group is
sourced from our providers, assurances are sought through the contracts that audit
reviews are being performed on their source data and capture processes.

3.13

DISCHARGE OF STATUTORY FUNCTIONS

During establishment, the arrangements put in place by the clinical commissioning group
and explained within the corporate governance framework were developed with extensive
expert external legal input, to ensure compliance with all the relevant legislation. That
legal advice also informed the matters reserved for membership body and governing body
decision and the scheme of delegation.
In light of the Harris Review, the clinical commissioning group has reviewed all of the
statutory duties and powers conferred on it by the National Health Service Act 2006 (as
amended) and other associated legislative and regulations. As a result, the Accountable
Officer confirms that the clinical commissioning group is clear about the legislative
requirements associated with each of the statutory functions for which it is responsible,
including any restrictions on delegation of those functions.
Responsibility for each duty and power has been clearly allocated to a lead Director.
Directorates have confirmed structures in place to provide the necessary capability and
capacity to undertake all of the clinical commissioning group’s statutory duties.
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3.14 CONCLUSION
GOVERNANCE STATEMENT
No significant internal control issues have been identified in the body of the governance
statement above.
However, whilst there are no significant control issues, as noted elsewhere in the annual
report, the clinical commissioning group is facing a recurrent deficit position and at this
stage remains in formal directions with NHS England. Mitigating actions are in place to
address the key risks faced by the clinical commissioning group.
The clinical
commissioning group continues to be in financial recovery and will look to build on the
improving delivery of quality, innovation, productivity and prevention (QIPP) schemes
achieved in 2016/17.
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NHS West Cheshire Clinical Commissioning Group - Annual Accounts 2016-17
Statement of Financial Position as at
31 March 2017

Note
Non-current assets:
Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets
Investment property
Trade and other receivables
Other financial assets
Total non-current assets

9

2016-17

2015-16

£'000

£'000
176
0
0
0
0
176

99
0
0
0
0
99

0
6,853
0
0
18
6,871

0
2,854
0
0
14
2,868

0

0

Total current assets

6,871

2,868

Total assets

7,047

2,967

(14,438)
0
0
0
(268)
(14,706)

(15,371)
0
0
0
(541)
(15,912)

(7,659)

(12,945)

0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0

Assets less Liabilities

(7,659)

(12,945)

Financed by Taxpayers’ Equity
General fund
Revaluation reserve
Other reserves
Charitable Reserves
Total taxpayers' equity:

(7,659)
0
0
0
(7,659)

(12,945)
0
0
0
(12,945)

10

Current assets:
Inventories
Trade and other receivables
Other financial assets
Other current assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Total current assets

10

11

Non-current assets held for sale

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables
Other financial liabilities
Other liabilities
Borrowings
Provisions
Total current liabilities

12

13

Non-Current Assets plus/less Net Current Assets/Liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Trade and other payables
Other financial liabilities
Other liabilities
Borrowings
Provisions
Total non-current liabilities

12

13

The notes on pages 5 to 25 form part of this statement

2

Data entered below will be used throughout the workbook:

Entity name:
This year
Last year
This year ended
Last year ended
This year commencing:
Last year commencing:

NHS West Cheshire Clinical Commissioning Group
2016-17
2015-16
31-March-2017
31-March-2016
01-April-2016
01-April-2015

These account templates are a proforma for a set of NHS England Group Entity Accounts, this is not a
mandatory layout for local accounts.
Please review and adjust to local reporting requirements
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Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended 31st March 2017
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Accounting policies
Financial performance targets
Other operating revenue
Revenue
Employee benefits and staff numbers
Operating expenses
Better payment practice code
Operating leases
Property, plant and equipment
Trade and other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents
Trade and other payables
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Contingencies
Financial instruments
Operating segments
Pooled budgets
Related party transactions
Events after the end of the reporting period
Impact of IFRS

1
2
3
4

5
11
11
11
12
15
15
16
17
18
18
19
20
21
21
23
23
24
25
25

NHS West Cheshire Clinical Commissioning Group - Annual Accounts 2016-17
Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure for the year ended
31 March 2017
Note

2016-17
£'000

2015-16
£'000

Income from sale of goods and services
Other operating income
Total operating income

3
3

(878)
(701)
(1,579)

(932)
(134)
(1,066)

Staff costs
Purchase of goods and services
Depreciation and impairment charges
Provision expense
Other Operating Expenditure
Total operating expenditure

5
6
6
6
6

4,018
339,363
21
(46)
517
343,873

3,070
334,547
12
(45)
288
337,872

342,294

336,806

0
342,294
0
342,294

0
336,806
0
336,806

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

342,294

336,806

Net Operating Expenditure
Finance income
Finance expense
Net expenditure for the year
Net Gain/(Loss) on Transfer by Absorption
Total Net Expenditure for the year
Other Comprehensive Expenditure
Items which will not be reclassified to net operating costs
Net (gain)/loss on revaluation of PPE
Net (gain)/loss on revaluation of Intangibles
Net (gain)/loss on revaluation of Financial Assets
Actuarial (gain)/loss in pension schemes
Impairments and reversals taken to Revaluation Reserve
Items that may be reclassified to Net Operating Costs
Net gain/loss on revaluation of available for sale financial assets
Reclassification adjustment on disposal of available for sale financial assets
Sub total
Comprehensive Expenditure for the year ended 31 March 2017

The notes on pages 5 to 25 form part of this statement

1

NHS West Cheshire Clinical Commissioning Group - Annual Accounts 2016-17
Statement of Changes In Taxpayers' Equity for the year ended
31 March 2017
General fund
£'000

Revaluation
reserve
£'000

Other
reserves
£'000

Total
reserves
£'000

Balance at 01 April 2016

(12,945)

0

0

(12,945)

Transfer between reserves in respect of assets transferred from closed NHS bodies
Adjusted NHS Clinical Commissioning Group balance at 31 March 2017

0
(12,945)

0
0

0
0

0
(12,945)

Changes in NHS Clinical Commissioning Group taxpayers’ equity for 2016-17
Net operating expenditure for the financial year

(342,294)

0

0

(342,294)

0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
(355,239)

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
(355,239)

347,580

0

0

347,580

(7,659)

0

0

(7,659)

General fund
£'000

Revaluation
reserve
£'000

Other
reserves
£'000

(10,457)

0

0

(10,457)

0
(10,457)

0
0

0
0

0
(10,457)

(336,806)

0

0

(336,806)

0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
(347,263)

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
(347,263)

Changes in taxpayers’ equity for 2016-17

Net gain/(loss) on revaluation of property, plant and equipment
Net gain/(loss) on revaluation of intangible assets
Net gain/(loss) on revaluation of financial assets
Total revaluations against revaluation reserve
Net gain (loss) on available for sale financial assets
Net gain (loss) on revaluation of assets held for sale
Impairments and reversals
Net actuarial gain (loss) on pensions
Movements in other reserves
Transfers between reserves
Release of reserves to the Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure
Reclassification adjustment on disposal of available for sale financial assets
Transfers by absorption to (from) other bodies
Reserves eliminated on dissolution
Net Recognised NHS Clinical Commissioning Group Expenditure for the Financial Year
Net funding
Balance at 31 March 2017

Total
reserves
£'000

Changes in taxpayers’ equity for 2015-16
Balance at 01 April 2015
Transfer of assets and liabilities from closed NHS bodies as a result of the 1 April 2013
transition
Adjusted NHS Clinical Commissioning Group balance at 31 March 2016
Changes in NHS Clinical Commissioning Group taxpayers’ equity for 2015-16
Net operating costs for the financial year
Net gain/(loss) on revaluation of property, plant and equipment
Net gain/(loss) on revaluation of intangible assets
Net gain/(loss) on revaluation of financial assets
Total revaluations against revaluation reserve
Net gain (loss) on available for sale financial assets
Net gain (loss) on revaluation of assets held for sale
Impairments and reversals
Net actuarial gain (loss) on pensions
Movements in other reserves
Transfers between reserves
Release of reserves to the Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure
Reclassification adjustment on disposal of available for sale financial assets
Transfers by absorption to (from) other bodies
Reserves eliminated on dissolution
Net Recognised NHS Clinical Commissioning Group Expenditure for the Financial Year
Net funding

334,318

0

0

334,318

Balance at 31 March 2016

(12,945)

0

0

(12,945)

The notes on pages 5 to 25 form part of this statement
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NHS West Cheshire Clinical Commissioning Group - Annual Accounts 2016-17
Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended
31 March 2017
Note
Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Net operating expenditure for the financial year
Depreciation and amortisation
Impairments and reversals
Movement due to transfer by Modified Absorption
Other gains (losses) on foreign exchange
Donated assets received credited to revenue but non-cash
Government granted assets received credited to revenue but non-cash
Interest paid
Release of PFI deferred credit
Other Gains & Losses
Finance Costs
Unwinding of Discounts
(Increase)/decrease in inventories
(Increase)/decrease in trade & other receivables
(Increase)/decrease in other current assets
Increase/(decrease) in trade & other payables
Increase/(decrease) in other current liabilities
Provisions utilised
Increase/(decrease) in provisions
Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) from Operating Activities

6
6

10
12
13
13

Cash Flows from Investing Activities
Interest received
(Payments) for property, plant and equipment
(Payments) for intangible assets
(Payments) for investments with the Department of Health
(Payments) for other financial assets
(Payments) for financial assets (LIFT)
Proceeds from disposal of assets held for sale: property, plant and equipment
Proceeds from disposal of assets held for sale: intangible assets
Proceeds from disposal of investments with the Department of Health
Proceeds from disposal of other financial assets
Proceeds from disposal of financial assets (LIFT)
Loans made in respect of LIFT
Loans repaid in respect of LIFT
Rental revenue
Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) from Investing Activities
Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) before Financing
Cash Flows from Financing Activities
Grant in Aid Funding Received
Other loans received
Other loans repaid
Capital element of payments in respect of finance leases and on Statement of Financial Position PFI and LIFT
Capital grants and other capital receipts
Capital receipts surrendered
Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) from Financing Activities
Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash & Cash Equivalents

11

Cash & Cash Equivalents at the Beginning of the Financial Year
Effect of exchange rate changes on the balance of cash and cash equivalents held in foreign currencies
Cash & Cash Equivalents (including bank overdrafts) at the End of the Financial Year

The notes on pages 5 to 25 form part of this statement

4

2016-17
£'000

2015-16
£'000

(342,294)
21
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
(3,999)
0
(983)
0
(227)
(46)
(347,528)

(336,806)
12
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
999
0
1,584
0
0
(45)
(334,256)

0
(47)
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
(47)

0
(62)
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
(62)

(347,575)

(334,318)

347,579
0
0
0
0
0
347,579

334,318
0
0
0
0
0
334,318

4

(0)

14

14

0

0

18

14

NHS West Cheshire Clinical Commissioning Group - Annual Accounts 2016-17
Notes to the financial statements
1

Accounting Policies
NHS England has directed that the financial statements of clinical commissioning groups shall meet the accounting requirements of the Group
Accounting Manual issued by the Department of Health. Consequently, the following financial statements have been prepared in accordance with
the Group Accounting Manual 2016-17 issued by the Department of Health. The accounting policies contained in the Group Accounting Manual
follow International Financial Reporting Standards to the extent that they are meaningful and appropriate to clinical commissioning groups, as
determined by HM Treasury, which is advised by the Financial Reporting Advisory Board. Where the Group Accounting Manual permits a choice
of accounting policy, the accounting policy which is judged to be most appropriate to the particular circumstances of the clinical commissioning
group for the purpose of giving a true and fair view has been selected. The particular policies adopted by the clinical commissioning group are
described below. They have been applied consistently in dealing with items considered material in relation to the accounts.

1.1

Going Concern
These accounts have been prepared on the going concern basis (despite the issue of a report to the Secretary of State for Health under Section
30 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014).
Public sector bodies are assumed to be going concerns where the continuation of the provision of a service in the future is anticipated, as
evidenced by inclusion of financial provision for that service in published documents.
Where a clinical commissioning group ceases to exist, it considers whether or not its services will continue to be provided (using the same
assets, by another public sector entity) in determining whether to use the concept of going concern for the final set of Financial Statements. If
services will continue to be provided the financial statements are prepared on the going concern basis.

1.2

Accounting Convention
These accounts have been prepared under the historical cost convention modified to account for the revaluation of property, plant and
equipment, intangible assets, inventories and certain financial assets and financial liabilities.

1.3

Acquisitions & Discontinued Operations
Activities are considered to be ‘acquired’ only if they are taken on from outside the public sector. Activities are considered to be ‘discontinued’
only if they cease entirely. They are not considered to be ‘discontinued’ if they transfer from one public sector body to another.

1.4

Movement of Assets within the Department of Health Group
Transfers as part of reorganisation fall to be accounted for by use of absorption accounting in line with the Government Financial Reporting
Manual, issued by HM Treasury. The Government Financial Reporting Manual does not require retrospective adoption, so prior year transactions
(which have been accounted for under merger accounting) have not been restated. Absorption accounting requires that entities account for their
transactions in the period in which they took place, with no restatement of performance required when functions transfer within the public sector.
Where assets and liabilities transfer, the gain or loss resulting is recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure, and is
disclosed separately from operating costs.
Other transfers of assets and liabilities within the Department of Health Group are accounted for in line with IAS 20 and similarly give rise to
income and expenditure entries.

1.5

Charitable Funds
Under the provisions of IAS 27: Consolidated & Separate Financial Statements, those Charitable Funds that fall under common control with NHS
bodies are consolidated within the entities’ accounts.

1.6

Pooled Budgets
Where the clinical commissioning group has entered into a pooled budget arrangement under Section 75 of the National Health Service Act 2006
the clinical commissioning group accounts for its share of the assets, liabilities, income and expenditure arising from the activities of the pooled
budget, identified in accordance with the pooled budget agreement.
If the clinical commissioning group is in a “jointly controlled operation”, the clinical commissioning group recognises:
·                The assets the clinical commissioning group controls;
·                The liabilities the clinical commissioning group incurs;
·                The expenses the clinical commissioning group incurs; and,
·                The clinical commissioning group’s share of the income from the pooled budget activities.
If the clinical commissioning group is involved in a “jointly controlled assets” arrangement, in addition to the above, the clinical commissioning
group recognises:
·                The clinical commissioning group’s share of the jointly controlled assets (classified according to the nature of the assets);
·                The clinical commissioning group’s share of any liabilities incurred jointly; and,
·                The clinical commissioning group’s share of the expenses jointly incurred.

1.7

Critical Accounting Judgements & Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty
In the application of the clinical commissioning group’s accounting policies, management is required to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated
assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from those
estimates and the estimates and underlying assumptions are continually reviewed. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the
period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision
affects both current and future periods.

1.7.1

Critical Judgements in Applying Accounting Policies
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- During 2016/17 the clinical commissioning group entered into a ‘block’ contract arrangement with the Countess of Chester NHS Foundation
Trust. The value of this contract was £144 million included all activity undertaken during the financial year. There was, therefore, no requirement
to calculate a year-end estimate for this contract. In addition, there has been no provision in respect of ‘work in progress’ as the £144 million is a
full and final settlement for the financial year.
For all other healthcare contracts, both NHS and non-NHS, an estimate of full year activity and cost has been made based on activity between
April 2016 and February 2017. As with previous years, and movements from this estimate will be actioned via the normal ‘payments by results’
charging mechanism during quarter 1 of 2017/18.

1.7.2

Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty
The following are the key estimations that management has made in the process of applying the clinical commissioning group’s accounting
policies that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements:
- Primary Care practice prescribing information is received by the clinical commissioning group approximately 6 weeks following the end of each
reporting period. Management have estimated the year-end prescribing expenditure based on the forecast provided by the Prescription Pricing
Division of the NHS Business Services Authority. This forecast is based on 11 months actual prescribing data. Analysis of previous year's data
would suggest that there is no reason for this forecast to be materially different to actual year-end prescribing results. In addition, an estimate of
the impact of the clinical commissioning group’s efficiency programmes has been made and actioned against the year-end prescribing accrual.
- Following a ruling by the NHS Ombudsman/Parliamentary and Healthcare Ombudsman, the clinical commissioning group is potentially liable for
continuing healthcare restitution payments from West Cheshire residents who have previously been denied continuing healthcare funding by the
clinical commissioning group or its predecessor organisations. Management have calculated a provision to reflect the likely cost of all known
restitution claims received during the financial year, following both IAS37, contingent liabilities and contingent assets and the clinical
commissioning group's accounting policy (note 1.18).
- The clinical commissioning group has decided to provide for the potential claims arising from the backlog of reviews. As with the provision for
closedown claims, local intelligence in relation to the average claim period and average cost per week have been used to calculate the potential
provision arising. This has required a significant degree of judgement and estimation.

1.8

Revenue
Revenue in respect of services provided is recognised when, and to the extent that, performance occurs, and is measured at the fair value of the
consideration receivable.
Where income is received for a specific activity that is to be delivered in the following year, that income is deferred.

1.9

Employee Benefits

1.9.1

Short-term Employee Benefits
Salaries, wages and employment-related payments are recognised in the period in which the service is received from employees, including
bonuses earned but not yet taken.
The cost of leave earned but not taken by employees at the end of the period is recognised in the financial statements to the extent that
employees are permitted to carry forward leave into the following period.

1.9.2

Retirement Benefit Costs
Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the NHS Pensions Scheme. The scheme is an unfunded, defined benefit scheme
that covers NHS employers, General Practices and other bodies, allowed under the direction of the Secretary of State, in England and Wales.
The scheme is not designed to be run in a way that would enable NHS bodies to identify their share of the underlying scheme assets and
liabilities. Therefore, the scheme is accounted for as if it were a defined contribution scheme: the cost to the clinical commissioning group of
participating in the scheme is taken as equal to the contributions payable to the scheme for the accounting period.
For early retirements other than those due to ill health the additional pension liabilities are not funded by the scheme. The full amount of the
liability for the additional costs is charged to expenditure at the time the clinical commissioning group commits itself to the retirement, regardless
of the method of payment.

1.10

Other Expenses
Other operating expenses are recognised when, and to the extent that, the goods or services have been received. They are measured at the fair
value of the consideration payable.
Expenses and liabilities in respect of grants are recognised when the clinical commissioning group has a present legal or constructive obligation,
which occurs when all of the conditions attached to the payment have been met.

1.11

Property, Plant & Equipment

1.11.1

Recognition
Property, plant and equipment is capitalised if:
·                It is held for use in delivering services or for administrative purposes;
·                It is probable that future economic benefits will flow to, or service potential will be supplied to the clinical commissioning group;
·                It is expected to be used for more than one financial year;
·                The cost of the item can be measured reliably; and,
·                The item has a cost of at least £5,000; or,
·                Collectively, a number of items have a cost of at least £5,000 and individually have a cost of more than £250, where the assets are
functionally interdependent, they had broadly simultaneous purchase dates, are anticipated to have simultaneous disposal dates and are under
single managerial control; or,
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·                Items form part of the initial equipping and setting-up cost of a new building, ward or unit, irrespective of their individual or collective
cost.
Where a large asset, for example a building, includes a number of components with significantly different asset lives, the components are treated
as separate assets and depreciated over their own useful economic lives.
1.11.2

Valuation
All property, plant and equipment are measured initially at cost, representing the cost directly attributable to acquiring or constructing the asset
and bringing it to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by management. All assets are
measured subsequently at valuation.
Land and buildings used for the clinical commissioning group’s services or for administrative purposes are stated in the statement of financial
position at their re-valued amounts, being the fair value at the date of revaluation less any impairment.
Revaluations are performed with sufficient regularity to ensure that carrying amounts are not materially different from those that would be
determined at the end of the reporting period. Fair values are determined as follows:
·                Land and non-specialised buildings – market value for existing use; and,
·                Specialised buildings – depreciated replacement cost.
HM Treasury has adopted a standard approach to depreciated replacement cost valuations based on modern equivalent assets and, where it
would meet the location requirements of the service being provided, an alternative site can be valued.
Properties in the course of construction for service or administration purposes are carried at cost, less any impairment loss. Cost includes
professional fees but not borrowing costs, which are recognised as expenses immediately, as allowed by IAS 23 for assets held at fair value.
Assets are re-valued and depreciation commences when they are brought into use.
Fixtures and equipment are carried at depreciated historic cost as this is not considered to be materially different from current value in existing
use.
An increase arising on revaluation is taken to the revaluation reserve except when it reverses an impairment for the same asset previously
recognised in expenditure, in which case it is credited to expenditure to the extent of the decrease previously charged there. A revaluation
decrease that does not result from a loss of economic value or service potential is recognised as an impairment charged to the revaluation
reserve to the extent that there is a balance on the reserve for the asset and, thereafter, to expenditure. Impairment losses that arise from a clear
consumption of economic benefit are taken to expenditure. Gains and losses recognised in the revaluation reserve are reported as other
comprehensive income in the Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure.

1.11.3

Subsequent Expenditure
Where subsequent expenditure enhances an asset beyond its original specification, the directly attributable cost is capitalised. Where
subsequent expenditure restores the asset to its original specification, the expenditure is capitalised and any existing carrying value of the item
replaced is written-out and charged to operating expenses.

1.12

Depreciation & Impairments
Freehold land, properties under construction, and assets held for sale are not depreciated.
Otherwise, depreciation is charged to write off the costs or valuation of property, and plant and equipment, less any residual value, over their
estimated useful lives, in a manner that reflects the consumption of economic benefits or service potential of the assets. The estimated useful life
of an asset is the period over which the clinical commissioning group expects to obtain economic benefits or service potential from the asset.
This is specific to the clinical commissioning group and may be shorter than the physical life of the asset itself. Estimated useful lives and
residual values are reviewed each year end, with the effect of any changes recognised on a prospective basis. Assets held under finance leases
are depreciated over their estimated useful lives.
At each reporting period end, the clinical commissioning group checks whether there is any indication that any of its tangible non-current assets
have suffered an impairment loss. If there is indication of an impairment loss, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated to determine
whether there has been a loss and, if so, its amount.
A revaluation decrease that does not result from a loss of economic value or service potential is recognised as an impairment charged to the
revaluation reserve to the extent that there is a balance on the reserve for the asset and, thereafter, to expenditure. Impairment losses that arise
from a clear consumption of economic benefit are taken to expenditure. Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount
of the asset is increased to the revised estimate of the recoverable amount but capped at the amount that would have been determined had there
been no initial impairment loss. The reversal of the impairment loss is credited to expenditure to the extent of the decrease previously charged
there and thereafter to the revaluation reserve.

1.13

Leases
Leases are classified as finance leases when substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are transferred to the lessee. All other leases
are classified as operating leases.

1.13.1

The Clinical Commissioning Group as Lessee
Property, plant and equipment held under finance leases are initially recognised, at the inception of the lease, at fair value or, if lower, at the
present value of the minimum lease payments, with a matching liability for the lease obligation to the lessor. Lease payments are apportioned
between finance charges and reduction of the lease obligation so as to achieve a constant rate on interest on the remaining balance of the
liability. Finance charges are recognised in calculating the clinical commissioning group’s surplus/deficit.
Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Lease incentives are recognised initially as
a liability and subsequently as a reduction of rentals on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
Contingent rentals are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred.
Where a lease is for land and buildings, the land and building components are separated and individually assessed as to whether they are
operating or finance leases.

1.13.2

The Clinical Commissioning Group as Lessor
Amounts due from lessees under finance leases are recorded as receivables at the amount of the clinical commissioning group’s net investment
in the leases. Finance lease income is allocated to accounting periods so as to reflect a constant periodic rate of return on the clinical
commissioning group’s net investment outstanding in respect of the leases.
Rental income from operating leases is recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating
and arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised on a straight-line basis over the lease
term.
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1.14

Cash & Cash Equivalents
Cash is cash in hand and deposits with any financial institution repayable without penalty on notice of not more than 24 hours. Cash equivalents
are investments that mature in 3 months or less from the date of acquisition and that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash with
insignificant risk of change in value.
In the Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalents are shown net of bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand and that form an
integral part of the clinical commissioning group’s cash management.

1.15

Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the clinical commissioning group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past event, it is
probable that the clinical commissioning group will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the
obligation. The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the obligation at the end of the
reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties. Where a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the
obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of those cash flows using HM Treasury’s discount rate as follows:
·                Timing of cash flows (0 to 5 years inclusive): Minus 2.70% (previously: minus 1.55%)
·                Timing of cash flows (6 to 10 years inclusive): Minus 1.95% (previously: minus 1.%)
·                Timing of cash flows (over 10 years): Minus 0.80% (previously: minus 0.80%)
When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a third party, the receivable is
recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursements will be received and the amount of the receivable can be measured reliably.
A restructuring provision is recognised when the clinical commissioning group has developed a detailed formal plan for the restructuring and has
raised a valid expectation in those affected that it will carry out the restructuring by starting to implement the plan or announcing its main features
to those affected by it. The measurement of a restructuring provision includes only the direct expenditures arising from the restructuring, which
are those amounts that are both necessarily entailed by the restructuring and not associated with on-going activities of the entity.

1.16

Clinical Negligence Costs
The NHS Litigation Authority operates a risk pooling scheme under which the clinical commissioning group pays an annual contribution to the
NHS Litigation Authority which in return settles all clinical negligence claims. The contribution is charged to expenditure. Although the NHS
Litigation Authority is administratively responsible for all clinical negligence cases the legal liability remains with the clinical commissioning group.

1.17

Non-clinical Risk Pooling
The clinical commissioning group participates in the Property Expenses Scheme and the Liabilities to Third Parties Scheme. Both are risk
pooling schemes under which the clinical commissioning group pays an annual contribution to the NHS Litigation Authority and, in return,
receives assistance with the costs of claims arising. The annual membership contributions, and any excesses payable in respect of particular
claims are charged to operating expenses as and when they become due.

1.18

Continuing healthcare risk pooling
In 2014-15 a risk pool scheme was introduced by NHS England for continuing healthcare claims, for claim periods prior to 31 March 2013.
Under the scheme clinical commissioning group contribute annually to a pooled fund, which is used to settle the claims.

1.19

Contingencies
A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from past events and whose existence will be confirmed only by the occurrence or nonoccurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the clinical commissioning group, or a present obligation that is
not recognised because it is not probable that a payment will be required to settle the obligation or the amount of the obligation cannot be
measured sufficiently reliably. A contingent liability is disclosed unless the possibility of a payment is remote.
A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises from past events and whose existence will be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence
of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the clinical commissioning group. A contingent asset is disclosed where an
inflow of economic benefits is probable.
Where the time value of money is material, contingencies are disclosed at their present value.

1.20

Financial Assets
Financial assets are recognised when the clinical commissioning group becomes party to the financial instrument contract or, in the case of trade
receivables, when the goods or services have been delivered. Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights have expired or the
asset has been transferred.
Financial assets are classified into the following categories:
·                Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss;
·                Held to maturity investments;
·                Available for sale financial assets; and,
·                Loans and receivables.
The classification depends on the nature and purpose of the financial assets and is determined at the time of initial recognition.

1.20.1

Financial Assets at Fair Value Through Profit and Loss
Embedded derivatives that have different risks and characteristics to their host contracts, and contracts with embedded derivatives whose
separate value cannot be ascertained, are treated as financial assets at fair value through profit and loss. They are held at fair value, with any
resultant gain or loss recognised in calculating the clinical commissioning group’s surplus or deficit for the year. The net gain or loss incorporates
any interest earned on the financial asset.

1.20.2

Held to Maturity Assets
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Held to maturity investments are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturity, and there is a positive
intention and ability to hold to maturity. After initial recognition, they are held at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any
impairment. Interest is recognised using the effective interest method.
1.20.3

Available For Sale Financial Assets
Available for sale financial assets are non-derivative financial assets that are designated as available for sale or that do not fall within any of the
other three financial asset classifications. They are measured at fair value with changes in value taken to the revaluation reserve, with the
exception of impairment losses. Accumulated gains or losses are recycled to surplus/deficit on de-recognition.

1.20.4

Loans & Receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments which are not quoted in an active market. After
initial recognition, they are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any impairment. Interest is recognised using the
effective interest method.
Fair value is determined by reference to quoted market prices where possible, otherwise by valuation techniques.
The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial asset, to the
initial fair value of the financial asset.
At the end of the reporting period, the clinical commissioning group assesses whether any financial assets, other than those held at ‘fair value
through profit and loss’ are impaired. Financial assets are impaired and impairment losses recognised if there is objective evidence of
impairment as a result of one or more events which occurred after the initial recognition of the asset and which has an impact on the estimated
future cash flows of the asset.
For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of the impairment loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying
amount and the present value of the revised future cash flows discounted at the asset’s original effective interest rate. The loss is recognised in
expenditure and the carrying amount of the asset is reduced through a provision for impairment of receivables.
If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after
the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed through expenditure to the extent that the carrying amount
of the receivable at the date of the impairment is reversed does not exceed what the amortised cost would have been had the impairment not
been recognised.

1.21

Financial Liabilities
Financial liabilities are recognised on the statement of financial position when the clinical commissioning group becomes party to the contractual
provisions of the financial instrument or, in the case of trade payables, when the goods or services have been received. Financial liabilities are derecognised when the liability has been discharged, that is, the liability has been paid or has expired.
Loans from the Department of Health are recognised at historical cost. Otherwise, financial liabilities are initially recognised at fair value.

1.21.1

Financial Guarantee Contract Liabilities
Financial guarantee contract liabilities are subsequently measured at the higher of:
·                The premium received (or imputed) for entering into the guarantee less cumulative amortisation; and,
·                The amount of the obligation under the contract, as determined in accordance with IAS 37: Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and
Contingent Assets.

1.21.2

Financial Liabilities at Fair Value Through Profit and Loss
Embedded derivatives that have different risks and characteristics to their host contracts, and contracts with embedded derivatives whose
separate value cannot be ascertained, are treated as financial liabilities at fair value through profit and loss. They are held at fair value, with any
resultant gain or loss recognised in the clinical commissioning group’s surplus/deficit. The net gain or loss incorporates any interest payable on
the financial liability.

1.21.3

Other Financial Liabilities
After initial recognition, all other financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, except for loans from
Department of Health, which are carried at historic cost. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash
payments through the life of the asset, to the net carrying amount of the financial liability. Interest is recognised using the effective interest
method.

1.22

Value Added Tax
Most of the activities of the clinical commissioning group are outside the scope of VAT and, in general, output tax does not apply and input tax on
purchases is not recoverable. Irrecoverable VAT is charged to the relevant expenditure category or included in the capitalised purchase cost of
fixed assets. Where output tax is charged or input VAT is recoverable, the amounts are stated net of VAT.

1.23

Losses & Special Payments
Losses and special payments are items that Parliament would not have contemplated when it agreed funds for the health service or passed
legislation. By their nature they are items that ideally should not arise. They are therefore subject to special control procedures compared with the
generality of payments. They are divided into different categories, which govern the way that individual cases are handled.
Losses and special payments are charged to the relevant functional headings in expenditure on an accruals basis, including losses which would
have been made good through insurance cover had the clinical commissioning group not been bearing its own risks (with insurance premiums
then being included as normal revenue expenditure).

1.24

Joint Operations
Joint operations are activities undertaken by the clinical commissioning group in conjunction with one or more other parties but which are not
performed through a separate entity. The clinical commissioning group records its share of the income and expenditure; gains and losses; assets
and liabilities; and cash flows.

1.25

Accounting Standards That Have Been Issued But Have Not Yet Been Adopted
The Government Financial Reporting Manual does not require the following Standards and Interpretations to be applied in 2016-17, all of which
are subject to consultation:
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·                IFRS 9: Financial Instruments ( application from 1 January 2018)
·                IFRS 14: Regulatory Deferral Accounts ( not applicable to DH groups bodies)
·                IFRS 15: Revenue for Contract with Customers (application from 1 January 2018)
·                IFRS 16: Leases (application from 1 January 2019)
The application of the Standards as revised would not have a material impact on the accounts for 2016-17, were they applied in that year.
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2 Financial performance targets
NHS Clinical Commissioning Group have a number of financial duties under the NHS Act 2006 (as amended).
NHS Clinical Commissioning Group performance against those duties was as follows:

Expenditure not to exceed income
Capital resource use does not exceed the amount specified in Directions
Revenue resource use does not exceed the amount specified in Directions
Capital resource use on specified matter(s) does not exceed the amount
specified in Directions
Revenue resource use on specified matter(s) does not exceed the amount
specified in Directions
Revenue administration resource use does not exceed the amount
specified in Directions

2016-17

2016-17

2015-16

2015-16

Target

Performance

Target

Performance

£000
338,253

£000
343,972

£000
338,014

£000
337,921

99

99

50

49

336,575

342,294

336,898

336,806

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

5,450

5,448

5,765

4,907

NHS West Cheshire CCG ended financial year 2016/17 with a deficit of £5.719 million. This reflects a deterioration of £2.53 million from the 2016/17 planned deficit; made up
£1.5 million in relation to nationally agreed NHS Funded Care price increases and other in-year pressures of approximately £1 million.
This year-end deficit position was achieved following the delay in investment of several in-year revenue allocations of approximately £1 million. If these actions had not been
taken the deficit would have been approximately £6.7m
As set out in the 2016/17 NHS Planning Guidance, CCGs were required to hold a 1 percent reserve uncommitted from the start of the year, created by setting aside the
monies that CCGs were otherwise required to spend non-recurrently. This was intended to be released for investment in Five Year Forward View transformation priorities to
the extent that evidence emerged of risks not arising or being effectively mitigated through other means.
In the event, the national position across the provider sector has been such that NHS England has been unable to allow CCGs’ 1% non-recurrent monies to be spent.
Therefore, to comply with this requirement, NHS West Cheshire CCG has released its 1% reserve to the bottom line, resulting in an additional surplus for the year of £3.3m.
This additional surplus has been offset against other cost pressures from the current financial year
3 Other Operating Revenue

Education, training and research
Non-patient care services to other bodies
Prescription fees and charges
Charitable and other contributions to revenue expenditure: non-NHS
Other revenue
Total other operating revenue

2016-17
Total

2016-17
Admin

2016-17
Programme

2015-16
Total

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

33
845
20
96
585
1,579

0
4
0
0
6
10

33
841
20
96
579
1,569

0
932
0
0
134
1,066

Admin Revenue is revenue received that is not directly attributable to the provision of healthcare or healthcare services.
Revenue in this note does not include cash received from NHS England, which is drawn down directly into the bank account of the Clinical Commissioning Group and credited
to the General Fund.
4 Revenue

From rendering of services
From sale of goods
Total

2016-17
Total
£'000
1,579
0
1,579
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2016-17
Admin
£'000
10
0
10

2016-17
Programme
£'000
1,569
0
1,569

2015-16
Total
£'000
1,066
0
1,066
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5. Employee benefits and staff numbers
5.1.1 Employee benefits

2016-17

Total
£'000

Total
Permanent
Employees
£'000

Admin

Other
£'000

Total
£'000

Permanent
Employees
£'000

Programme

Other
£'000

Permanent
Employees
£'000

Total
£'000

Other
£'000

Employee Benefits
Salaries and wages
Social security costs
Employer Contributions to NHS Pension scheme
Other pension costs
Other post-employment benefits
Other employment benefits
Termination benefits
Gross employee benefits expenditure

3,366
301
351
0
0
0
0
4,018

2,509
301
351
0
0
0
0
3,161

857
0
0
0
0
0
0
857

2,795
271
320
0
0
0
0
3,386

2,113
271
320
0
0
0
0
2,704

682
0
0
0
0
0
0
682

571
29
31
0
0
0
0
631

396
29
31
0
0
0
0
456

175
0
0
0
0
0
0
175

Less recoveries in respect of employee benefits (note 5.1.2)
Total - Net admin employee benefits including capitalised costs

0
4,018

0
3,161

0
857

0
3,386

0
2,704

0
682

0
631

0
456

0
175

Less: Employee costs capitalised
Net employee benefits excluding capitalised costs

0
4,018

0
3,161

0
857

0
3,386

0
2,704

0
682

0
631

0
456

0
175

5.1.1 Employee benefits

2015-16
Total
£'000

Total
Permanent
Employees
£'000

Other
£'000

Total
£'000

Admin
Permanent
Other
Employees
£'000
£'000

Programme
Permanent
Other
Employees
£'000
£'000

Total
£'000

Employee Benefits
Salaries and wages
Social security costs
Employer Contributions to NHS Pension scheme
Other pension costs
Other post-employment benefits
Other employment benefits
Termination benefits
Gross employee benefits expenditure

2,561
212
296
0
0
0
0
3,070

1,947
212
296
0
0
0
0
2,455

615
0
0
0
0
0
0
615

2,301
205
285
0
0
0
0
2,791

1,929
205
285
0
0
0
0
2,418

372
0
0
0
0
0
0
372

262
7
11
0
0
0
0
279

19
7
11
0
0
0
0
36

243
0
0
0
0
0
0
243

Less recoveries in respect of employee benefits (note 5.1.2)
Total - Net admin employee benefits including capitalised costs

0
3,070

0
2,455

0
615

0
2,791

0
2,418

0
372

0
279

0
36

0
243

Less: Employee costs capitalised
Net employee benefits excluding capitalised costs

0
3,070

0
2,455

0
615

0
2,791

0
2,418

0
372

0
279

0
36

0
243

Net costs of £22k have been included in the above table relating to redundancy payments as a result of the decision, following a consultation process, to relocate the Financial Services (Treasury and Systems Team) function and
associated staff from Bevan House, Liverpool to the 1829 Building, Countess of Chester Health Park. The total costs of £66k have been split equally between NHS West Cheshire Clinical Commissioning Group, NHS Wirral Clinical
Commissioning Group and NHS Warrington Clinical Commissioning Group.
5.1.2 Recoveries in respect of employee benefits
The clinical commissioning group did not receive any recoveries in respect of employee benefits during the period (2015/16, £0).
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5.2 Average number of people employed

Total
Number

2016-17
Permanently
employed
Number

Other
Number

Total
Number

80

70

10

63

0

0

0

0

2016-17
Number
2,275
150
15

2015-16
Number
1,984
141
14

Total
Of the above:
Number of whole time equivalent people engaged
on capital projects

2015-16

5.3 Staff sickness absence and ill health retirements

Total Days Lost
Total Staff Years
Average working Days Lost

Number of persons retired early on ill health grounds

Total additional Pensions liabilities accrued in the year

2016-17
Number
0

2015-16
Number
0

£'000
0

£'000
0

5.4 Exit packages agreed in the financial year

Less than £10,000
£10,001 to £25,000
£25,001 to £50,000
£50,001 to £100,000
£100,001 to £150,000
£150,001 to £200,000
Over £200,001
Total

2016-17
Compulsory redundancies
Number
£
0
0
0
0
2
65,818
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
2
65,818

2016-17
Other agreed departures
Number
£
0
0
0
0
1
40,796
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
1
40,796

Less than £10,000
£10,001 to £25,000
£25,001 to £50,000
£50,001 to £100,000
£100,001 to £150,000
£150,001 to £200,000
Over £200,001
Total

2015-16
Compulsory redundancies
Number
£
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

2015-16
Other agreed departures
Number
£
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

Less than £10,000
£10,001 to £25,000
£25,001 to £50,000
£50,001 to £100,000
£100,001 to £150,000
£150,001 to £200,000
Over £200,001
Total

2016-17
Departures where special
payments have been made
Number
£
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

2015-16
Departures where special
payments have been made
Number
£
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

2016-17
Total
Number

£
0
0
3
0
0
0
0
3

0
0
106,614
0
0
0
0
106,614

2015-16
Total
Number

£
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

Analysis of Other Agreed Departures
2016-17

Voluntary redundancies including early retirement contractual costs
Mutually agreed resignations (MARS) contractual costs
Early retirements in the efficiency of the service contractual costs
Contractual payments in lieu of notice
Exit payments following Employment Tribunals or court orders
Non-contractual payments requiring HMT approval*
Total

Other agreed departures
Number
£
1
40,796
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
1
40,796

2015-16
Other agreed departures
Number
£
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0

These tables report the number and value of exit packages agreed in the financial year. The expense associated with these departures may have been
recognised in part or in full in a previous period.
Exit costs are accounted for in accordance with relevant accounting standards and at the latest in full in the year of departure.

Where entities has agreed early retirements, the additional costs are met by NHS Entities and not by the NHS Pension Scheme, and are included in the
tables. Ill-health retirement costs are met by the NHS Pension Scheme and are not included in the tables.
The Remuneration Report includes the disclosure of exit payments payable to individuals named in that Report.
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5.5 Pension costs
Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the NHS Pension Scheme. Details of the benefits payable under these
provisions can be found on the NHS Pensions website at www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/Pensions.
The Scheme is an unfunded, defined benefit scheme that covers NHS employers, GP practices and other bodies, allowed under the
direction of the Secretary of State, in England and Wales. The Scheme is not designed to be run in a way that would enable NHS bodies
to identify their share of the underlying scheme assets and liabilities.
Therefore, the Scheme is accounted for as if it were a defined contribution scheme: the cost to the clinical commissioning group of
participating in the Scheme is taken as equal to the contributions payable to the Scheme for the accounting period.
The Scheme is subject to a full actuarial valuation every four years (until 2004, every five years) and an accounting valuation every year.
An outline of these follows:
5.5.1 Full actuarial (funding) valuation

The purpose of this valuation is to assess the level of liability in respect of the benefits due under the Scheme (taking into account its
recent demographic experience), and to recommend the contribution rates to be paid by employers and scheme members. The last such
valuation, which determined current contribution rates was undertaken as at 31 March 2012 and covered the period from 1 April 2008 to
that date. Details can be found on the pension scheme website at www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/pensions.
For 2016-17, employers’ contributions of £364,618 were payable to the NHS Pensions Scheme (2015-16: £310,597) were payable to the
NHS Pension Scheme at the rate of 14.3% of pensionable pay. The scheme’s actuary reviews employer contributions, usually every four
years and now based on HMT Valuation Directions, following a full scheme valuation. The latest review used data from 31 March 2012
and was published on the Government website on 9 June 2012. These costs are included in the NHS pension line of note 5.1.1
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6. Operating expenses
2016-17
Total
£'000
Gross employee benefits
Employee benefits excluding governing body members
Executive governing body members
Total gross employee benefits

2016-17
Admin
£'000

2016-17
Programme
£'000

2015-16
Total
£'000

3,172
846
4,018

2,588
800
3,388

584
46
630

2,270
800
3,070

Other costs
Services from other CCGs and NHS England
Services from foundation trusts
Services from other NHS trusts
Services from other WGA bodies
Purchase of healthcare from non-NHS bodies
Chair and Non Executive Members
Supplies and services – clinical
Supplies and services – general
Consultancy services
Establishment
Transport
Premises
Impairments and reversals of receivables
Depreciation
Audit fees
Other non statutory audit expenditure
·          Internal audit services
·          Other services
Prescribing costs
GPMS/APMS and PCTMS
Other professional fees excl. audit
Research and development (excluding staff costs)
Education and training
Provisions
CHC Risk Pool contributions
Other expenditure
Total other costs

2,947
227,962
14,149
0
39,654
327
324
6,810
11
760
6
361
182
21
63

810
64
58
0
0
327
0
156
0
170
6
272
0
21
63

2,137
227,898
14,091
0
39,654
0
324
6,654
11
590
0
89
182
0
0

3,830
222,193
14,801
79
36,324
288
335
8,550
146
706
14
31
0
12
63

0
0
39,757
5,529
545
8
155
(46)
330
0
339,855

0
0
0
0
95
5
25
0
0
0
2,072

0
0
39,757
5,529
450
3
130
(46)
330
0
337,783

0
0
40,456
5,310
687
0
196
(45)
825
1
334,802

Total operating expenses

343,873

5,460

338,413

337,872

Admin expenditure relates to payments other than direct payments for the provision of healthcare or healthcare services.
Expenditure classified as ‘Purchase of Healthcare from Non NHS bodies’ has increased by £3.3 million from 2015/16. This, in the main, relates to an increase in the cost of
continuing healthcare packages, a nationally agreed increase the cost of NHS funded Nursing Care and healthcare provided at non-NHS providers.

7.1 Better Payment Practice Code
Measure of compliance
Non-NHS Payables
Total Non-NHS Trade invoices paid in the Year
Total Non-NHS Trade Invoices paid within target
Percentage of Non-NHS Trade invoices paid within target
NHS Payables
Total NHS Trade Invoices Paid in the Year
Total NHS Trade Invoices Paid within target
Percentage of NHS Trade Invoices paid within target
7.2 The Late Payment of Commercial Debts (Interest) Act 1998
There were no late payments of commercial debts during the period (2015/16, £0).
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2016-17
Number

2016-17
£'000

2015-16
Number

2015-16
£'000

11,009
10,402
94%

55,882
52,969
95%

9,795
9,523
97%

51,516
49,875
97%

3,537
3,398
96%

246,910
244,827
99%

3,430
3,340
97%

241,384
238,324
99%
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8. Operating Leases
8.1 As lessee
Whilst our arrangements with NHS Property Services Limited fall within the definition of operating leases, rental charge for future
years has not yet been agreed . Consequently this note does not include future minimum lease payments for the arrangements only.

8.1.1 Payments recognised as an Expense
Land
£'000
Payments recognised as an expense
Minimum lease payments
Contingent rents
Sub-lease payments
Total

0
0
0
0

2016-17
Buildings
£'000

Other
£'000

Total
£'000

Land
£'000

11
0
0
11

372
0
0
372

0
0
0
0

361
0
0
361

2015-16
Buildings
Other
£'000
£'000
14
0
0
14

9
0
0
9

Total
£'000
23
0
0
23

The increase in lease payments to buildings between 15-16 and 16-17 is as a result of the change to market rent recovery from NHS Property Services Limited.
The CCG received an increase to Non recurrent allocation in 16-17 to fund this.
8.1.2 Future minimum lease payments

2016-17
Buildings
Other
£'000
£'000

Land
£'000
Payable:
No later than one year
Between one and five years
After five years
Total

0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0

Total
£'000
16
12
0
28

8.2 As lessor
8.2.1 Rental revenue
The clinical commissioning group was not party to any agreements as a lessor during the period (2015/16, £0).
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2015-16
Buildings
Other
£'000
£'000

Land
£'000
16
12
0
28

0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0

7
11
0
18

Total
£'000
7
11
0
18
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9 Property, plant and equipment

Land
£'000
0
0
0

Information
technology
£'000
93
99
192

Furniture &
fittings
£'000
18
0
18

Total
£'000
111
99
210

Depreciation 01 April 2016

0

12

0

12

Charged during the year
Cumulative depreciation adjustment following revaluation
Depreciation at 31 March 2017

0
0
0

19
0
31

3
0
3

22
0
34

Net Book Value at 31 March 2017

0

161

15

176

Purchased
Total at 31 March 2017

0
0

161
161

15
15

176
176

0
0

161
161

15
15

176
176

Land
£'000
0

Information
technology
£'000
0

Furniture &
fittings
£'000
0

Total
£'000
0

0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0

Minimum
Life (years)
4
7

Maximum
Life (Years)
5
7

2016-17
Cost or valuation at 01 April 2016
Additions purchased
Cost/Valuation at 31 March 2017

Asset financing:
Owned
Total at 31 March 2017
Revaluation Reserve Balance for Property, Plant & Equipment

Balance at 01 April 2016
Revaluation gains
Impairments
Release to general fund
Other movements
Balance at 31 March 2017

9.1 Economic lives

Information technology
Furniture & fittings
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10 Trade and other receivables

Current
2016-17
£'000

Non-current
2016-17
£'000

NHS receivables: Revenue
NHS receivables: Capital
NHS prepayments
NHS accrued income
Non-NHS and Other WGA receivables: Revenue
Non-NHS and Other WGA receivables: Capital
Non-NHS and Other WGA prepayments
Non-NHS and Other WGA accrued income
Provision for the impairment of receivables
VAT
Other receivables and accruals
Total Trade & other receivables

2,011
0
288
1,373
752
0
180
551
(182)
0
1,880
6,853

Total current and non current

6,853

Current
2015-16
£'000
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

Non-current
2015-16
£'000

664
0
0
259
429
0
197
51
0
6
1,248
2,854

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

2,854

The increase in receivables from £2.8m in 15-16 to £6.8m in 16-17 relates to a number of increases, the largest of which are: an
increase of £1m in the balance owed by NHS England between 15-16 and 16-17, an increase of £310k on the amount owed by
Primary Care Cheshire, increases in accrued income for contract agreements of £1.1m, and an increase of £632k for the re-charge of
payroll services to the Hospice of the Good Shepherd.

10.1 Receivables past their due date but not impaired

2016-17
£'000

2015-16
£'000

152
161
51
364

285
0
18
303

By up to three months
By three to six months
By more than six months
Total

£114k of the amount above has subsequently been recovered post the statement of financial position date.
The clinical commissioning group did not hold any collateral against receivables outstanding at 31st March 2017 (2015/16 £0).

10.2 Provision for impairment of receivables

2016-17
£'000

Balance at 01 April 2016
(Increase) decrease in receivables impaired
Balance at 31 March 2017

2015-16
£'000
0

0

(182)
(182)

0
0

2016-17
Receivables are provided against at the following rates:
NHS debt
Non NHS debt

2015-16

0%
0% - 100%

0%
0%

In 2016-17 the clinical commissioning group provided £182k. £163k related to doubt over recovery of a balance in
dispute, £19k related to self-funding overseas visitor income.
These provisions are providing for a level of uncertainty around challenges of expenditure, not relating to a
potential drop in income receivables.
In 2015-16 the clinical commissioning group provided £262 for the possibility of not receiving debts relating to charges

11 Cash and cash equivalents
2016-17
£'000

2015-16
£'000

Balance at 01 April 2016
Net change in year
Balance at 31 March 2017

14
4
18

14
(0)
14

Made up of:
Cash with the Government Banking Service
Cash with Commercial banks
Cash in hand
Current investments
Cash and cash equivalents as in statement of financial positi

18
0
0
0
18

14
0
0
0
14

0
0
0

0
0
0

18

14

Bank overdraft: Government Banking Service
Bank overdraft: Commercial banks
Total bank overdrafts
Balance at 31 March 2017
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12 Trade and other payables

Current
2016-17
£'000

Interest payable
NHS payables: revenue
NHS payables: capital
NHS accruals
NHS deferred income
Non-NHS and Other WGA payables: Revenue
Non-NHS and Other WGA payables: Capital
Non-NHS and Other WGA accruals
Non-NHS and Other WGA deferred income
Social security costs
VAT
Tax
Payments received on account
Other payables and accruals
Total Trade & Other Payables

0
1,443
0
2,361
0
2,173
2
3,957
0
71
33
65
0
4,333
14,438

Total current and non-current

14,438

Non-current
2016-17
£'000

Current
2015-16
£'000
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

Other payables include £74k (2015-16 £71k) of outstanding pension contributions at 31 March 2017
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0
3,453
0
263
0
2,724
49
8,421
0
67
0
64
0
330
15,371
15,371

Non-current
2015-16
£'000
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
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13 Provisions
Current
2016-17
£'000

Non-current
2016-17
£'000

Pensions relating to former directors
Pensions relating to other staff
Restructuring
Redundancy
Agenda for change
Equal pay
Legal claims
Continuing care
Other
Total

0
0
0
107
0
0
0
161
0
268

Total current and non-current

268
Pensions
Relating to
Former
Directors
£'000

Current
2015-16
£'000
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

Non-current
2015-16
£'000
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
541
0
541

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

541

Pensions
Relating to
Other Staff
£'000

Restructuring
£'000

Redundancy
£'000

Agenda for
Change
£'000

Equal Pay
£'000

Legal Claims
£'000

Continuing
Care
£'000

Other
£'000

Total
£'000

Balance at 01 April 2016

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

541

0

541

Arising during the year
Utilised during the year
Reversed unused
Unwinding of discount
Change in discount rate
Transfer (to) from other public sector body
Transfer (to) from other public sector body under absorption
Balance at 31 March 2017

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

107
0
0
0
0
0
0
107

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

161
(227)
(314)
0
0
0
0
161

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

268
(227)
(314)
0
0
0
0
268

Expected timing of cash flows:
Within one year
Between one and five years
After five years
Balance at 31 March 2017

0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0

107
0
0
107

0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0

161
0
0
161

0
0
0
0

268
0
0
268

A provision of £30,000 (2015-16 £48,000) has been included in respect of the potential costs of restitution payments resulting from the NHS Ombudsman/Parliamentary and Healthcare Ombudsman's ruling of continuing
healthcare. The provision has been calculated in line with the clinical commissioning group's accounting policies (see note 1.7.2, key source of estimation uncertainty and provisions).
The clinical commissioning group has provided £131,000 (2015-16 £493,000) for the potential claims arising from the backlog of continuing healthcare and NHS Funded nursing care reviews . This is a reduction from last years
provision as less than half of the £493k provided for was required in year. As with the provision for closedown claims, local intelligence in relation to the average claim period and average cost per week have been used to
calculate the potential provision arising. This has required a significant degree of judgement and estimation.
Under the Accounts Direction issued by NHS England on 12 February 2014, NHS England is responsible for accounting for liabilities relating to NHS Continuing Healthcare claims relating to periods of care before establishment of
the clinical commissioning group. However, the legal liability remains with the CCG. The total value of legacy NHS Continuing Healthcare provisions accounted for by NHS England on behalf of this CCG at 31 March 2016 is
£517,651 (2015-16 £1,888,737)
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14 Contingencies
2016-17
£'000
Contingent liabilities
Redundancy
Continuing Healthcare
Legal Claim
Dilapidations
NHS Prop Co
Retrospective Social Care claims
Other
Other employee related litigation
Amounts recoverable against contingent liabilities
Net value of contingent liabilities

0
262
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
262

2015-16
£'000
0
986
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
986

A provision £131,000 (2015-16 £493,000) has been included for the anticipated costs of the backlog of funded nursing care reviews (see
Note. 13). This is a reduction from last years provision as less than half of the £493k provided for was required in year. The provision for
2016-17 is again based on 10% being eligible for continuing healthcare funding but the number of weeks of potential backdated refund has
been reduced. There remains a possibility that the number of cases eligible for continuing healthcare maybe higher than this. Therefore, a
contingency of £262,000 (2015-16 £986,000) has been included to reflect an additional 20% being eligible.

15 Financial instruments
15.1 Financial risk management
Financial reporting standard IFRS 7 requires disclosure of the role that financial instruments have had during the period in creating or
changing the risks a body faces in undertaking its activities.
Because NHS Clinical Commissioning Group is financed through parliamentary funding, it is not exposed to the degree of financial risk
faced by business entities. Also, financial instruments play a much more limited role in creating or changing risk than would be typical of
listed companies, to which the financial reporting standards mainly apply. The clinical commissioning group has limited powers to borrow or
invest surplus funds and financial assets and liabilities are generated by day-to-day operational activities rather than being held to change
the risks facing the clinical commissioning group in undertaking its activities.
Treasury management operations are carried out by the finance department, within parameters defined formally within the NHS Clinical
Commissioning Group standing financial instructions and policies agreed by the Governing Body. Treasury activity is subject to review by
the NHS Clinical Commissioning Group and internal auditors.
15.1.1 Currency risk
The NHS Clinical Commissioning Group is principally a domestic organisation with the great majority of transactions, assets and liabilities
being in the UK and sterling based. The NHS Clinical Commissioning Group has no overseas operations. The NHS Clinical Commissioning
Group and therefore has low exposure to currency rate fluctuations.
15.1.2 Interest rate risk
The Clinical Commissioning Group borrows from government for capital expenditure, subject to affordability as confirmed by NHS England.
The borrowings are for 1 to 25 years, in line with the life of the associated assets, and interest is charged at the National Loans Fund rate,
fixed for the life of the loan. The clinical commissioning group therefore has low exposure to interest rate fluctuations.
15.1.3 Credit risk
Because the majority of the NHS Clinical Commissioning Group and revenue comes parliamentary funding, NHS Clinical Commissioning
Group has low exposure to credit risk. The maximum exposures as at the end of the financial year are in receivables from customers, as
disclosed in the trade and other receivables note.
15.1.4 Liquidity risk
NHS Clinical Commissioning Group is required to operate within revenue and capital resource limits, which are financed from resources
voted annually by Parliament. The NHS Clinical Commissioning Group draws down cash to cover expenditure, as the need arises. The
NHS Clinical Commissioning Group is not, therefore, exposed to significant liquidity risks.
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15 Financial instruments cont'd
15.2 Financial assets

Embedded derivatives
Receivables:
·          NHS
·          Non-NHS
Cash at bank and in hand
Other financial assets
Total at 31 March 2017

At ‘fair value
through profit and
loss’
2016-17
£'000

Loans and
Receivables
2016-17
£'000

0

0

0

0
0
0
0
0

3,384
1,303
18
1,880
6,585

3,384
1,303
18
1,880
6,585

At ‘fair value
through profit and
loss’
2015-16
£'000
Embedded derivatives
Receivables:
·          NHS
·          Non-NHS
Cash at bank and in hand
Other financial assets
Total at 31 March 2016

Loans and
Receivables
2015-16
£'000

Total
2016-17
£'000

Total
2015-16
£'000

0

0

0

0
0
0
0
0

923
481
14
1,248
2,665

923
481
14
1,248
2,665

15.3 Financial liabilities
At ‘fair value
through profit and
loss’
2016-17
£'000
Embedded derivatives
Payables:
·          NHS
·          Non-NHS
Private finance initiative, LIFT and finance lease obligations
Other borrowings
Other financial liabilities
Total at 31 March 2017
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Total
2016-17
£'000

0

0

0

0
0
0
0
0
0

3,805
10,464
0
0
0
14,269

3,805
10,464
0
0
0
14,269

At ‘fair value
through profit and
loss’
2015-16
£'000
Embedded derivatives
Payables:
·          NHS
·          Non-NHS
Private finance initiative, LIFT and finance lease obligations
Other borrowings
Other financial liabilities
Total at 31 March 2016

Other
2016-17
£'000

Other
2015-16
£'000

Total
2015-16
£'000

0

0

0

0
0
0
0
0
0

3,716
11,524
0
0
0
15,240

3,716
11,524
0
0
0
15,240
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16 Operating segments
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) require financial performance to be analysed across key decision making segments. The clinical
commissioning group only has one segment; commissioning of healthcare services.
17 Pooled budgets

The NHS Clinical Commissioning Group shares of the income and expenditure handled by the pooled budget in the financial year were:

Income
Expenditure

2016-17
£'000
0
(10,055)

2015-16
£'000
0
(8,905)

With effect from 1 April 2015, NHS West Cheshire Clinical Commissioning Group entered into a pooled budget arrangement with Cheshire West and
Chester Local Authority in respect of the Better Care Fund. This arrangement is supported by a section 75 agreement that was agreed at the Health and
Wellbeing Board in March 2015.

Cheshire West and Chester - Better Care Fund 2016-17 Memorandum Note
Cheshire West and Chester Council
£'000
Plan

£'000
Actual

BCF Funding B/ Fwd
Income
Expenditure

0
11,007
-11,007

Total
BCF Funding C/ Fwd

0

0

West Cheshire Clinical
Commissioning Group

Vale Royal Clinical Commissioning
Group

60
11,237
-11,297

£'000
Plan
0

£'000
Actual
0

£'000
Plan
0

10,027
-10,027

10,055
-10,055

3,848
-3,848

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0
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Total

£'000
Actual
0

£'000
Plan

£'000
Actual

0
3,503 24,882
-3,503 -24,882

60
24,795
-24,855

0
0

0
0

0
0
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18 Related party transactions
Details of related party transactions with individuals are as follows:

Brian Green, Head of Quality and Safety, Wife is Director of Governance and Corporate Affairs East Cheshire NHS Trust
Chris Hannah, Vice Chair / Lay Member , Husband, Neil Goodwin is Independent chair of Caring Together Board East Cheshire NHS Trust
Chris Hannah, Vice Chair / Lay Member , Husband, Neil Goodwin, Chair Aintree University Hospital NHS Foundation Trust
David Hobday, Interim Clinical Commissioning Manager, Friends with the Director of Marketing BPAS
Dr Huw Charles-Jones, Chair, Sessional GP for GP Out of Hours Cheshire & Wirral Partnership FT
Gareth James, Chief Finance Officer, Wife is Associate Director of Effective Services Cheshire & Wirral Partnership FT
Pam Smith, Lay Member Governing Body, Governor Cheshire & Wirral Partnership FT
Dr Philip Milner, CCG Clinical Lead for Planned Care and Nursing Home Network Chair, GP Extended Hours Cheshire & Wirral Partnership FT
Dr Raj Avula, GP Western Avenue, Advice to Board Cheshire & Wirral Partnership FT
Westmoreland, Claire, GP Representative for Westminster Surgery at Ellesmere Port and Neston Network, Stepfather is a community psychiatric nurse Cheshire &
Wirral Partnership FT
Dolores Jones, Deputy Head of Intermediate Care, Bank Staff Cheshire & Wirral Partnership FT
Walsh, Cathy, Programme Manager for Mental Health and Learning Disabilities, Employee Cheshire & Wirral Partnership FT
Russell, Vivien, Patient Experience Co-ordinator, Brother-in-Law, Mark Palethorpe, is the Strategic director of Adult Social Care and Health East Cheshire Council
Fiona Reynolds, Director of Public Health, Cheshire West and Chester Council
Chris Hannah, Vice Chair / Lay Member , Chair Skills for Health and Justice
Nathan Downie, Patient Experience Adviser, Brother is Assistant Divisional Director, Planned Care Countess of Chester Hospital
Dr Louise Davies, Rural Network Vice Chair, Director of Integration Countess of Chester Hospital
Molly Morgan, Business Administrator, Auntie works as a registered nurse Countess of Chester Hospital
Sarah Faulkner, Lead Nurse Governing Body , Director of Quality North West Ambulance Service NHS Trust
Sue Huxham, Treasury Accountant, My daughter is a HR Assistant Liverpool Heart & Chest Hospital
Charlotte Aboushakra, Head of Finance – Financial Services, My husband is a Rehab Assistant on the stroke ward St Helens & Knowsley Hospitals NHS Trust
Suzanne Fennah, Head of Operations, Governor Wirral Community NHS Trust
Chris Hannah, Vice Chair / Lay Member , Chair Alternative Futures Group
Jonathon Lloyd, Interim Associate Director of Planning & Policy, Trustee Alternative Futures Group
Annabel Jones, Practice Representative,
Boughton Health Centre
Dr Andrew Dunbavand, GP Lead for Medicine Management,
City Walls Medical Centre
Diane Taska, Membership Support officer, Brother in law GP City Walls Medical Centre
Dr Alexander Teng, Practice Representative,
City Walls Medical Centre
Dr Ellen Dilchrist, Practice Representative,
Great Sutton Wearne
Westmoreland, Claire, Practice Representative,
Westminster Surgery
Dr Carole Holme, Practice Representative,
Handbridge Medical Centre
Dr Tim Saunders, GP Clinical Commissioning Lead Heath Lane Medical Centre and CCG Clinical Lead Mental Health, Wife: Dr Carole Holme Handbridge medical
centre
Russell, Vivien, Patient Experience Co-ordinator, Member of the Patient Participation Group Heath Lane Medical Centre
Dr Tim Saunders, GP Clinical Commissioning Lead Heath Lane Medical Centre and CCG Clinical Lead Mental Health,
Heath Lane Medical Centre
Dr Jonathan Gregson, Practice Representative,
Helsby Health Centre
Dr Steve Pomfret, Practice Representative,
Knoll
Dr Louise Davies, Practice Representative,
Laurel Bank Surgery
Dr Jeremy Perkins, Practice Representative,
Neston Surgery
Dr Martin Allan , Practice Representative,
Northgate Medical Centre
Dr Robin Davies, Practice Representative,
Northgate Village
Dr Andy McAlavey, Medical Director, Partner in Old Hall Surgery Old Hall Surgery
Dr Karen Griffiths, Practice Representative,
Old Hall Surgery
Dr Neil Blacklock, Practice Representative,
Park Medical Centre
Dr Helen Black, Bunbury CCG Represenative, Husband is medical director Tarporley War Memorial Hospital
Dr David Inchley, Practice Representative,
Upton Village Surgery
Dr Christopher MacDonald, Practice Representative,
York Road Group Practice
Dr Helen Black, Practice Representative,
Bunbury
Aidan Magrath, Clinical Lead for Ageing Well, Partner Elms Medical Practice
Dr Michael Lowrie, Practice Representative,
Elms Medical Practice
Dr Andy McAlavey, Medical Director, GP Principal Great Sutton Medical Centre (Blue)
David Thorburn, Practice Representative,
Great Sutton Medical Centre (Blue)
Caroline Francey, Practice Representative,
Great Sutton Medical Centre (Red)
Dr Karen Edwards, Practice Representative,
Whitby Group practice Stringer
Dr Alison Daly, Practice Representative,
Whitby Group Practice Surgery (Black)
Dr Christopher Ritchieson, Clinical Chair, Salaried GP at Frodsham Medical Practice Frodsham Medical Practice
Dr Kate Bushell, Practice Representative,
Garden Lane Medical Centre
Dr Tony Bland, Practice Representative,
Hoole Surgery
Dr Simon Powell, Practice Representative,
Hope Farm Medical Centre
Dr Kylie Daniels, Practice Representative,
Kelsall Medical Practice
Dr Huw Charles-Jones, Chair, Partner Lache Health Centre
Dr Kevin Guinan, Practice Representative,
Lache Health Centre
Dr Chris Steere, Practice Representative,
Neston Medical Centre
Dr Andy Campbell, Practice Representative, Honorary Medical Officer Tarporley Health Centre (Campbell)
Dr Melissa Siddorn, Practice Representative,
Village Surgeries Group
Dr Alistair Adey, Practice Representative,
Tarporley Health Centre
Dr Mark Adams, Practice Representative,
Western Avenue Medical Centre
Emily Morton, Practice Representative,
Whitby Group Practice (Green)
Richard Martin, Practice Representative,
Willaston Surgery
Quinlan, Fay, Starting Well Commissioning Lead, Sister-in-law Age UK Cheshire
Dr Andrew Dunbavand, GP Lead for Medicine Management, Director - Shareholder Partners 4 Health
Dr Philip Milner, CCG Clinical Lead for Planned Care and Nursing Home Network Chair, GP Board Director and Shareholder Partners4Health
Dr Tony Bland, Network Vice Chair Representative Chester City GP Network, Director/Shareholder Partners4Health
Dr Chris Fryar, Network Representative, Director Partners4Health
Dr Tim Saunders, GP Clinical Commissioning Lead Heath Lane Medical Centre and CCG Clinical Lead Mental Health, Chair and Director Partners4Health
Dr Carole Holme, Commissioning Lead GP for my practice for network and membership council, Wife of Dr Timothy Saunders, Chairman and shareholder
Partners4Health
Helen Ashcroft, Head of Commissioning, Sister in law works ad hoc sessions for Mediscan endoscopy clinics in Manchester Mediscan
Dr Philip Milner, GP Locum working independently , GP Appraiser NHSE
Robin Gleek, Education Lead, Clinical Advice to complaints team NHSE
Robin Gleek, Education Lead,
GP appraisals NHSE
Robin Gleek, Education Lead, Case Investigations NHSE
Nathan Downie, Patient Experience Adviser, Father works for Virgin Care
Robin Gleek, Eduation Lead , Director Gleek Medical Ltd
Jonathon Lloyd, Interim Associate Director of Planning & Policy, Director Lloyd & lloyd Associates
Dr Kevin Thomas Guinan , Vice Chair of Chester Networks. Cluster Lead for South Chester, GP Rep at ACO Meetings on behalf of City GPs Primary Care Cheshire
Dr Andy McAlavey,

Medical Director,

Payments to
Related Party
£'000
141
1628
253
45137

Receipts Amounts Amounts
from owed to due from
Related Related Related
Party
Party
Party
£'000
£'000
£'000
0
37
0
0
0
0

67
0
1093

0
0
0

276

0

0

0

5343
5
145031

486
0
15

1022
0
340

0
0
0

8205
1215
805

0
0
0

132
29
0

0
0
9

1118
862

0
0

18
0

0
0

253
347

1
0

63
80

0
0

148
38
130

0
0
0

32
16
33

4
0
0

146

0

35

0

217
693
663
194
125
205
128

0
0
0
0
1
0
0

55
89
41
48
28
39
31

0
0
3
0
0
0
0

171
352
106
178
600
201

0
0
0
0
0
1

43
0
27
89
27
47

4
0
0
0
0
5

124

0

27

3

139
109
80
90
224
96
277
340
122

0
0
0
0
1
0
0
0
0

35
29
23
23
55
24
66
25
28

3
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
3

139
515
251
116
84
108
43
77
1872

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

34
40
41
28
18
24
32
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

40
300

0
261

0
30

0
0

1
6
103
297

0
0
0
432

0
0
0
32

0
0
0
0

1
15
106

0
0
0

0
0
0

0
0
0

3828
17213

0
0

126
0

0
950

Great Sutton Medical Centre is a member of Primary Care Cheshire – a Community Interest Company; Primary Care Cheshire

Dr Jeremy Perkins, Board Member, Member of Primary Care Cheshire
Dr Jonathan Gregson, Rural GP Quality Lead,
Member of Primary Care Cheshire
Dr Carole Holme, Commissioning Lead GP for my practice for network and membership council, Member practice of Primary Care Cheshire
Catherine Wall, Clinical Lead 111 and diabetes, Board member Primary Care Cheshire
Dr Simon Powell, Practice Representative, declared interest in Hope Farm Pharmacy
Georgina Mvere, Interim PMO Manager, Director HTAN
Carl Jones, Project Support Officer, Director Inspired Management Ltd
Helen Thorniley-Jones, Commissioning Manager, Director Inspired Management Ltd
Peter Williams, Secondary Care Adviser, MD Royal Liverpool University Hospital Royal Liverpool University Hospital
Toni Hancock, Senior Contract Accountant, Husband is Head of Business Intelligence Wirral University Teaching Hospital

The Department of Health is regarded as a related party. During the year the clinical commissioning group has had a significant number of material transactions with entities for which the Department is regarded as the
parent Department. For example: NHS Choices, Warrington and Wirral Area Team, and other NHS Foundation Trusts such as the Countess of Chester, Wirral, Cheshire and Wirral Partnership and Warrington and Halton.
In addition, the clinical commissioning group has had a number of material transactions with other government departments and other central and local government bodies. Most of these transactions have been with
Cheshire West and Chester Local Authority.
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19 Events after the end of the reporting period
There are no post balance sheet events which will have a material effect on the financial statements of the clinical
20 Impact of IFRS
Accounting under International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) had no impact on the results of the clinical

21 Losses and special payments
21.1 Losses
As parliament does not agree or approve provision for future losses when voting money or passing specific legislation, such transactions when they arise
A provision for impairment of receivables of £182k has been made at 31st March 2017 (2015-16 £nil) - see note 10.2
There were no reported losses in 2016/17 (2015/16 £1,767)

21.2 Special payments

Compensation payments
Extra contractual Payments
Ex gratia payments
Extra statutory extra regulatory payments
Special severance payments
Total

Total
Number of
Cases
2016-17
Number
0
0
0
0
0
0

Total Value
of Cases
2016-17
£'000
0
0
0
0
0
0

Total Number
of Cases
2015-16
Number
0
0
1
0
0
1

Total Value
of Cases
2015-16
£'000
0
0
24
0
0
24

In voting money or passing specific legislation, parliament does not and cannot approve special payments outside of the normal range of departmental
There were no ex gratia payments in 2016/17 (2015/16 1 payment of £24k).
A payment of £10,000 was made in year to NHS Litigation Authority to settle a claim for damages (2015-16 £nil).
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APPENDIX 1
Governing Body Members – During 2016/17
Dr Huw Charles-Jones - Chair
Dr Huw Charles-Jones qualified as a doctor in 1984 having
trained at the Universities of Cambridge and London. He has
been a GP principal at the Lache Health Centre, Chester
since 2001 having previously been a GP principal at Upton
Village Surgery, Chester for 9 years. He has also worked as a
GP in New Zealand, Australia, and several other Chester and
rural Cheshire practices. He had a short spell out of clinical
practice as Research Training Fellow at the University of
Manchester while he completed his PhD (Distributing and
Redistributing Work in General Practice. What are the
Consequences for General Practitioners, Nurses and Patients)
in 2004.
In 2006 Huw became a board member of the Practice Based
Commissioning consortium for West Cheshire and in 2007 he joined the Professional
Executive Committee of NHS Western Cheshire Primary Care.
In January 2011 he was elected as chair of West Cheshire Health Consortium, a first
wave "pathfinder" GP commissioning consortium with a population of around 260,000. Until
his election to the chair of West Cheshire Health Consortium he was the Medical Director
of Western Cheshire Out of Hours service and the Named Doctor for Child Protection for
NHS Western Cheshire Primary Care Trust.
Huw believes that the recent NHS reforms, whilst presenting many well publicised
challenges, provide an important opportunity for clinicians from primary and secondary care,
our local authority colleagues and our local population to come together to commission
integrated pathways of care that place patients’ needs at their centre.

Dr Chris Ritchieson
Chris grew up locally in Ellesmere Port before undertaking his
medical degree at the University of Liverpool, qualifying in 2005. He
worked for several years as a junior doctor at the Countess of
Chester Hospital before completing his General Practice training on
the Wirral.
He worked as a GP partner in Great Sutton Medical Centre until July
2016 and since then has worked as a GP at The Rock Surgery,
Frodsham. He enjoys the variety of General practice and the
opportunity to practice holistic family medicine, getting to know his
patients and the local community.
Chris was elected as Chair of the Clinical Commissioning Group,
taking up the roll in January 2017 following the retirement of the
previous Chair and is eager to build upon the work already done in breaking down barriers
between parts of the healthcare system and keeping patients’ needs at the centre of decision
making. His role as Chair includes providing a clinical voice and leadership to the organisation
and chairing its governing body and membership council.
In his spare time he is kept busy with his young family and enjoys reading, listening to music
and running.
NHS West Cheshire Clinical Commissioning Group
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Chris Hannah - Vice Chair/Lay Member

Chris has three decades of experience in NHS management,
holding a number of chief executive positions. She was Chief
Executive of Cheshire and Merseyside Strategic Health
Authority from 2002 – 2006. She ran her own consultancy
business for seven years specialising in board development. For
twelve years, until March 2017, she was Chair of Skills for Health
and Justice, a charity and company limited by guarantee. The
organisation works with employers across the majority of Public
Services in the UK focusing on improving work force skills and
productivity.
Chris is also Chair of Alternative Futures Group, a charity
providing supported living and independent treatment/ recovery services to people with
Learning Disabilities and mental health issues.
Chris is a qualified executive coach and has an MA in management learning from
theUniversity of Lancaster.

Alison Lee - Chief Executive Officer
Alison started her working life in Marks and Spencer, working in
accounts and then the food division in Baker Street London.
In 1992, after graduating from the University of Kent with a
degree in Industrial Relations and Human Resource
Management she joined the NHS Graduate Management
Training Scheme. The majority of her NHS experience has been
in primary care. Previously she worked as a neighbourhood
commissioning manager in Liverpool starting with just 7 GP
practices, growing over time to over 20 practices as a Primary
Care Trust Director of Planning and Performance.
Alison has also worked as part of a national “turnaround” team
focusing on improving performance in NHS organisations
including the ambulance service. She has worked with West Cheshire for nearly 10 years. Her
personal ambition is to help everyone feel part of the NHS and for the 250,000 people in West
Cheshire to live the best life possible.
As well as working for the NHS, Alison enjoys a busy family life. She is married to a
photographer and is a mother to two children. She is a charity trustee of two scouting
organisations in Birkenhead and enjoys all the challenges that this work-life balance brings.
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Gareth James - Chief Finance Officer
After graduating from the University of Teesside in 1991, Gareth
began his career in the NHS working in the Finance Department of
Chester Health Authority. For more than twenty years he has
worked in various commissioning organisations across Cheshire
surviving many reorganisations.
For 6 years Gareth worked for Western Cheshire Primary Care
Trust as Deputy Director of Finance supporting financial recovery
through the 'turnaround' process. In addition, Gareth combined this
role with that of Director of Finance of Community Care Western
Cheshire and supported the transfer of community services to a
local foundation trust.
Gareth is a father of three and remains a resident of Western
Cheshire living in Upton, Chester. Far from being a typical accountant, Gareth is a sports
enthusiast, recently hanging up his rugby boots to concentrate on coaching his son's junior
rugby team.

Dr Andy McAlavey - Medical Director
Andy is married with three children. He qualified in medicine from
Liverpool University in 1992 and became a GP Partner at Great
Sutton Medical Centre in 2000.
He was appointed Prescribing Lead for Ellesmere Port Primary Care
Group in 2002 Andy feels that one of the greatest challenges that
clinical commissioning faces is one of clinical leadership. He has
excellent networks with regional and national colleagues and looks
forward to learning lessons from clinical commissioning group
colleagues and having the confidence to make real changes for our
patients in Western Cheshire.

In his spare time Andy is a member of the Chester Round Table and gets involved with lots
of charity fundraising activities.

Dr Jeremy Perkins – GP Network Chair (Ellesmere Port and Neston)
Dr Jeremy Perkins was born and brought up in Ellesmere Port,
qualified from Liverpool Medical School in 1994 and has worked
as a GP in Neston since 1999. He is married with 2 daughters.
Jeremy enjoys training medical students, assists in registrar
tuition and is hoping to become a GP trainer in the near future.
Outside work interests tend to be of a sporting nature with
masters rowing and junior rowing coaching on the Dee,
badminton and running (including Snowdonia, Liverpool and
Amsterdam marathons).
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Dr Steve Pomfret – GP Network Chair (Rural)
Steve trained at Southampton Medical School, graduating in 1987.
He returned to Cheshire to complete his professional training in
Chester and has been in full-time general practice at the Knoll
Surgery, Frodsham for the last 18 years.
Having accumulated experience in previous systems of health
service administration, including a position as prescribing lead to
the Rural Primary Care Group, he has been elected as a
representative for the rural locality on the governing body

Pam Smith - Lay Member (Patient & Public Involvement)
Pam is an Occupational Therapist by profession. She worked in
Local Government for 32 years in social care, during which time
she managed care homes, inspected and redesigned services and
worked in various management positions. Her last role was
Executive Director in Warrington where she managed adult social
care; environmental health; trading standards; libraries; culture,
sport and leisure services, and neighbourhood development. She
was also a member of the PCT Board and Professional Executive
Committee.
Pam has her own consultancy company advising health, local
government and housing associations; is an AQuA associate; a
non-executive director of a Housing Association and has a history
of undertaking work in order to improve the quality of social care services. She has worked
with the Care Quality Commission as a professional advisor and worked to produce the
Department of Health document “Homes are for Living In” and the National Dementia
strategy.
Pam has been responsible for working in partnership to deliver large housing with care
services in the North West, and has worked with many health and local authorities to
encourage Dignity in Care.
In her spare time she lives on a farm with her husband in Cheshire, likes travelling, cooking
and gardening.
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Dr Annabel Jones – GP Network Chair
Dr Annabel Jones was brought up in Chester and qualified as a
doctor in 1991 having trained at the Universities of Cambridge
and London. She returned to her home town where she
completed her professional training as a GP. Annabel joined
Boughton Health Centre, Chester, in 1997 where she continues
to practice as a GP.
Annabel has worked for the clinical commissioning group as a
clinical lead for long term conditions since 2013 and has
recently been elected as GP representative for the Chester City
locality on the Governing Body.

Peter Williams – Hospital Physician Representative

Peter held several junior doctor roles and worked as a
kidney research fellow before becoming a senior registrar in
nephrology at the Royal Liverpool University Hospital.
With several years in Manchester as a consultant, Peter
returned to Liverpool in 1997 as a consultant nephrologist. He
has since remained at the Trust taking on a variety of roles
including clinical director for general internal medicine,
divisional medical director and, most recently, medical
director.

Kieran Timmins – Lay Member
Kieran is a qualified accountant with significant strategic
management experience in public services.
He runs his own consultancy company with a range of fire and
rescue service, local government and housing clients.
Previous to that he was as Deputy Chief Executive at
Merseyside Fire and Rescue Authority.
Kieran has extensive experience of operating at board level
having sat on the boards of a range of different housing
associations over the last 15 years as well as the Housing
Market Renewal board for Merseyside, the Chief Fire Officer’s
Association board and the board of the charitable company
Toxteth Firefit Hub.
In his spare time Kieran is an enthusiastic horse rider
competing in local competitions.
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Sarah Faulkner – Nurse Lead

Sarah qualified as a nurse in Manchester in 1986 and has
substantial clinical and management experience in acute and
specialist medical nursing. Sarah became a Director of
Nursing at the Robert Jones and Agnes Hunt NHS Trust in
2003, moving to the post of Chief Nurse at the University
Hospital of North Staffordshire in 2006. Before joining the
North West Ambulance Service in 2009, Sarah worked for the
North West Strategic Health Authority on a national project to
ensure and improve standards in nursing care, and the
experience of patients in the region.

Massachusetts (2013).

As the North West Ambulance Service’s Director of Quality
and Executive Nurse, Sarah has responsibility for the Trust’s
Quality Strategy and compliance with all Quality Governance
standards. Sarah is a Florence Nightingale Scholar. She has
studied Leading Strategic Change at Ashridge Business
College (2012) and Improvement Science at the IHI in Boston,

The North West is a large geographic footprint, including five counties and both urban and
rural health economies. As a result, Sarah has extensive experience in partnership working
with a diverse range of stakeholders and communities in order to improve care for patients.

Paula Wedd – Director of Quality and Safeguarding
Prior to moving into commissioning, Paula worked for 20 years in
clinical services both as an occupational therapist and as a clinical
manager. She has delivered and managed health care services in
all the local providers across Wirral and Cheshire and social
services.
Paula is responsible for securing continuous quality improvements
in care delivered by providers of community, mental health,
learning disabilities and acute hospital services. The role also
promotes the protection of children and adults at risk from harm.
Alongside this quality role she is also the lead Allied Health
Professional in commissioning and promotes the involvement of
therapy staff in commissioning work streams.
Paula is responsible for commissioning the kind of care we would want for ourselves and
holding providers to account for achieving that standard.
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Laura Marsh - Director of Commissioning
After graduating from the University of Nottingham in 2000 with a
first class honours degree in Neuroscience, Laura began her
career in the NHS within primary care at North Cheshire Health
Authority. Since then, Laura has had a number of senior
management roles working across primary, secondary and tertiary
care, most recently as Head of Collaborative Commissioning for
Western Cheshire Primary Care Trust.
In her role as Director of Commissioning, Laura has responsibility
for the on-going development and review of the clinical
commissioning group strategy and the delivery of these strategic
intentions through the annual Commissioning Delivery Plan and its
constituent programmes. To achieve this aim Laura works closely
with all key stakeholders including the acute Trust, Cheshire and Wirral Partnership NHS
Foundation Trust, the Local Authority and GP practices. Laura is responsible for strategic
oversight of the Service Level Agreement with NHS Midlands and Lancashire Commissioning
Support Unit, to maintain a strong contractual relationship approach to their support with the
delivery of the clinical commissioning group’s commissioning plan.
Laura has recently completed a Masters in Public Administration with the Open University. In
her spare time, as well as looking after her two young children, Laura enjoys running, Zumba
and going to the theatre.

Lee Hawksworth – Director of Commissioning
Lee Hawksworth has previously worked at the Lancashire Care
Trust leading on transformation and business development. Prior
to this he spent 5 years in the independent sector, in the
consulting and the commercial sectors. He grew up professionally
in the NHS as a diabetic podiatrist and also spent time as a PCT
strategic lead commissioner for long term conditions.
He lives in Knutsford with his wife, Maria, their 5 children and
Labrador dog and goldfish. Lee’s wife, Maria is a Physiotherapy
Service lead in an integrated health and social care team.
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Declaration of Interest Register
Governing Body
Name

Title

Declaration information

Dr Huw
Charles-Jones

Chair

• Partner Lache Health Centre
• Sessional GP for CWP GP Out of Hours

Date
Declared
March
2016

Sarah
Faulkner

Governing Body
Nurse Member

• Director of Quality, North West
Ambulance Service NHS Trust

February
2017

Chris Hannah

Vice Chair / Lay
Member

• Chair, Skills for Health and Justice,
registered charity and sector skills council
for UK health and justice sectors
• Chair, Alternative Futures Group,
registered charity - providing support to
people with learning disabilities and
mental health issues
• Husband, Neil Goodwin is Chair of
Aintree University Hospital NHS
Foundation Trust
• Husband, Neil Goodwin is Independent
chair of Caring Together Board, NHS
Eastern Cheshire
• Independent Chair, West Cheshire
Systems Leadership Group

January
2017

Gareth James

Chief Finance
Office

• Wife is Head of Effective Services at
Cheshire & Wirral Partnership NHS
Foundation Trust.

January
2017

Annabel
Jones

GP Governing
Body Member
City Network

• GP Principal Partner at Boughton Health
Centre Practice member of Primary Care
Cheshire
• GP Practice Member of Primary care
Cheshire

March
2017

Lee
Hawksworth

Director of
Operations

• Wife – Therapy Lead & Manager
Intermediate Care Service, Tameside &
Glossop

October
2016

Alison Lee

Chief Executive
Officer

• Husband – Photo-Journalist with AgenceFrance Press (press agency).
• Charity Trustee Birkenhead Scouts

January
2017

Laura Marsh

Director of
Commissioning

• Husband works for NHS England Right
Care as Delivery Partner

January
2017

Dr Andy
McAlavey

Medical Director

• GP Principal, Drs McAlavey, Anderton, January
Cunningham & Thornburn, Great Sutton 2017
Medical Centre, Old Chester Road,
Ellesmere Port, CH66 3SP;
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Name

Title

Dr Jeremy
Perkins

GP Governing
Body Member
Ellesmere Port &
Neston Network

Dr Steve
Pomfret

GP Governing
Body Member
Rural Network

Declaration information

Date
Declared

• Great Sutton Medical Centre is a member
of Primary Care Cheshire – a Community
Interest Company;
• Area 36 Round Table (Cheshire, Wirral,
North Wales).
• Partner in Old Hall Surgery
March
• General Practitioner Neston Surgery
(provider of primary care) and chair of the 2017
Ellesmere Port and Neston Locality
• Member of Primary Care Cheshire
•
•

March
2017

•

GP Partner in the Knoll GP Practice
Wife works for Jigsaw Medical
(Paramedic Recruitment Co)
Member of Primary Care Cheshire

Fiona
Reynolds

Director of Public
Health, Cheshire
West and Chester
Council

•

None

January
2017

Christopher
Ritchieson

Clinical Chair

•

Salaried GP at Frodsham Medical
Practice
Wife: Victoria Stellings is salaried GP at
Haydock Medical centre
Director of Pam Smith Consultancy Ltd
Governor of CWP

February
2017

•
Pam Smith

Lay Member
(PPI)

•
•

Kieran
Timmins

Lay Member
(Audit)

•

Paula Wedd

Director of Quality
& Safeguarding

•

Alpha Homes Ltd- Housing association
providing supported housing for older
people predominantly on Wirral
Forviva- Manchester based housing
association that has been successful in
winning contract from Cheshire west for
the management of the housing stock in
Ellesmere Port and Neston for the next 10
years
None.

Peter Williams

Hospital Doctor
Member

•
•

Medical Director Royal Liverpool
Secondary Care Adviser

•

NHS West Cheshire Clinical Commissioning Group
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Clinical Commissioning Group Staff
Name

Title

Declaration information:

Date
Declared
October
2016

Charlotte
Aboushakra

Head of Finance – Financial
Services

•

My husband is employed by St Helens &
Knowsley Hospitals NHS Trust as a
Rehab Assistant on the stroke ward

Debra
Alexander

Programme and Project
Support Business
Administrator

•

Short Term apartment let to interim
(WCCG) members of staff

March
2017

Chris Amery

Commissioning and
Engagement Manager

•

None

March
2017

Jill Baker

Interim Estates Project
Manager

•

Operations Director for Core Integrated
Healthcare Solutions

March
2017

Berenice
Astbury

Designated Nurse Children in
Care

•

No interests to declare

February
2017

Jen Bailey

Management Accountant

•

None

Lynne
Blackhall
Aled Bonds

Head of Finance

•

None

March
2017
April 2017

Assistant Financial Accountant •

None

March
2017
April 2017

Jim Britt

Commissioner PES/PESA,
111

•

None

Jennifer
Brooks

Programme and Project
Support Co-ordinator

•

None

January
2017

Kevin
Carbery
Sally Collins

Primary Care Project Manager

•

None

NHS 111 Directory of Services
(DoS) Support Manager and
Administrator

•

None

March
2017
January
2017

Commissioning Manager
Locality Project Manager

•
•
•

CWP
Job at UrgentCare24
None

Senior Finance Officer

•

None

March
2017
March
2017
April 2017

Commissioning Manager
Business Intelligence Analyst

•
•

None

April 2017
April 2017

Phillipa
Compson
Emma
Cousens
Vivien
Curran
April Davis
Donna Dodd

NHS West Cheshire Clinical Commissioning Group
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Clare
Dooley

Head of Governance

•

None

January
2017

Nathan
Downie

Patient Experience Adviser

•

April 2017

Learning Disabilities
Commissioning Manager

•
•
•
•

Brother is Assistant Divisional Director,
Planned care at COCH
Father works for Virgin Care
Councillor for Knowsley MBC
Trustee for Knowsley Careers Centre
Vice chair of Governor’s at Bluebell Park
School Knowsley
Member of Trade Unions
Associate for Public Service Excellence
Managing Director of North Wales
Health

Sean
Donnelly

•
•
•

March
2017

October
2016

James
Duckers

Commissioning Manager

Eccles,
Anne

Designated Nurse,
Safeguarding Children

•

None

March
2017

Adam ElLamie

Primary Care Locality Project
Manager

•

None

February
2017

Tom Elrick

Programme Lead Ageing Well

•

Flat rental from Staff Member

Dean
Flanagan

Health Economist

•

Director of Total Monitor Limited

January
2017
October
2016

Suresh
George

Finance Officer

•

None

April 2017

Goodchild,
Sarah

Business Intelligence Analyst

•

None

April 2017

Grant, John

Incidents co-ordinator

•

None

Brian Green

Head of Quality and Safety

•

Tracy
Greenwood

Commissioning Manager

•

My Wife is Director of Governance and
Corporate Affairs at East Cheshire NHS
Trust
Director, TIAG Limited

March
2017
January
2017

Toni
Hancock

Business Intelligence Analyst

•

Husband works as Business Intelligence
Manager- Wirral CCG

March
2017

Hardy,
Cheryl

Business Administrator

•

None

January
2017

James,
HardyPickering
Lesley
Hilton

Urgent Care Commissioning
Manager

•

Personal- Partner works at MID
Cheshire Foundation Trust

April 2017

Commissioning Manager

•

None

April 2017

NHS West Cheshire Clinical Commissioning Group
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David
Hobday

Interim Commissioning
Manager

•

Joanna
Howarth

Project Support Officer

Julie James

October
2016

•

Friends with the Director of Marketing
from the British Pregnancy Advisory
Service.
None

Commissioning Manager

•

Director, Enjoyable Learning Ltd

October
2016

Sue
Huxham

Treasury Accountant

•

None

April 2017

Tanya
JefcoateMalam

Primary Care Manager

•

None

February
2017

David John

Assistant Financial Accountant

•

None

Carl Jones

Project Support Officer

•

Director of Inspired Management Ltd

Clare Jones

Governing Body and
Committees coordinator

•

Husband is an energy assessor and
occasionally undertakes energy
assessments on GP properties

March
2017
February
2017
October
2017

Dolores
Jones

Community Healthcare
Commissioner

•

Bank Contract working with CWP as
Community physiotherapist (occasional
weekends)

February
2017

Laura Jones

Primary Care Locality Support
Manager

•

None

January
2017

Sam Lacey

Quality Manager

•

None

January
2017

Andy
Lavender

Community Liaison Officer

•

Chair Diabetes UK voluntary Group
Chester

January
2017

Marie LewisSmith

Commissioning Manager

•

Chief Executive of International
Cholesteatoma Association
Started Own Business as Independent
Jamberry Consultant

January
2017

Chair, South Derbyshire CAB
Trustee
Alternative Futures Group
Director
Lloyd and Lloyd Associates Ltd
None

January
2017

•
Jonathan
Lloyd

Associate Director of Policy
and Planning

•
•

Charlotte
Love

Interim Commissioning
Manager

NHS West Cheshire Clinical Commissioning Group
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Martin,
Kimberley

Incident Co-ordinator

•

Step mother is employed by CSU

October
2017

Loraine
Maughan

Executive Assistant

•

Related to an employee of one of the
suppliers

January
2017

Andy
McGivern

Head of Contracts and
Performance

•

None

March
2017

Colin
McGuffie

Project Manager

•

Partner works for AQuA

March
2017

Molly
Morgan

Apprentice Business
Administrator

•

Related to someone who is employed by
COCH (Registered Nurse)

January
2017

Sarah
Murray

Head of Primary Care

•

January
2017

Patricia
Parker

Commissioning Manager

•
•

Husband is Director of Anwyl
Construction
Friend is a partner of DTM Legal
Related to Catherine Jones, Nurse
Consultant at Royal Liverpool University
Hospital Trust.
Related to Helen Moroney, Staff Nurse
at Arrow Park University Teaching
Hospital
Voluntary Board Director for Wirral
Change
None

•
•

May 2016

Matt Phillips

Senior Treasury Advisor

•

Powell, Ria
Quinlan, Fay

Business Intelligence Lead
Starting Well Commissioning
Lead

•
•

None
Sister-in-law employed by Age UK
Cheshire

April 2017
March
2017

Reza
RahmaniTorkaman
Reilly,
Eugene

Programme Management
Office Manager

•

Kingfisher Technologies Limited

February
2017

Commissioning Manager

•

Partner works as Head of
Commissioning – Warrington CCG

January
2017

Amanda
Ridge

Head of commissioning

•

None

April 2017

Amanda
Rice

Finance Assistant

•

None

March
2017

Mathew
Roberts

Directory of Services (NHS
111) Administrator

•

None

January
2017

Rogers,
Julie

Business Administrator

•

None

January
2017

NHS West Cheshire Clinical Commissioning Group
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Russell,
Vivien

Patient Experience Coordinator

•

February
2017

Anthony
Ryan

Commissioning Manager

•

Brother-in-Law, Mark Palethorpe, is the
Strategic director at Cheshire East
Chester Council
I am a Patient Participation Group at
Heath Lane Medical Centre, Boughton
None

Dawn
Sandry

Management Accountant
Contracting

•

None

January
2017

Tim Shaw

Management Accounts
Assistant

•

None

January
2017

Debbie
Smith

Patient Experience Manager

•

None

March
2017

Syrett,
Debbie

Management Accountant

•

None

February
2017

Taska,
Diane

Membership Support Officer

•

Brother-in-law- GP City Walls

January
2017

Jonathan
Taylor

Head of Communications &
Engagement

•

None

January
2017

Kathryn
Titchen

Acute Care Commissioner

Project Support Officer

Christine
Turner
Anna
Vogiatzis

Senior Finance Officer

•

Private Practise NIMH
Relative in Local Care Home
Private Nursing Work ad hoc
Director of Clockwork Project
Management Ltd-Interim Project
Services to the NHS
None

January
2017

Joanna
Thomas

•
•
•
•

Commissioning Manager

•
•

Walsh,
Cathy

Programme Manager for
Mental Health and Learning
Disabilities

•

CWAC 0-19 Service
Friends with Lead Manager of an
applicant organisation
Employed by CWP

Karen
Warren

Organisational Development
Manager

•

None

January
2017

Virginia
Williams
Helen
Wormald

Interim Financial Accountant

•

None

Designated Nurse for
Safeguarding Adults

•

None

March
2017
January
2017

•

NHS West Cheshire Clinical Commissioning Group
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Rural GP Network
Name

Title

Declaration information

Date
Declared
January
2017

Dr Alistair
Adey

Clinical Commissioning Lead
GP, Tarporley Health Centre
(Gleek)

• None

Dr Helen Black

Bunbury CCG
Representative

• GP in Bunbury
• Husband is medical director of
Tarporley War Memorial Hospital

November
2015

Dr Andy
Campbell

Practice Representative on
Rural WCCCG
Subcommittee

• Honorary Medical Officer of
Tarporley War Memorial Hospital

October
2017

Dr Melissa
Siddorn
Dr Louise
Davies

GP

April 2017

Dr Jonathan
Gregson

Rural GP Quality Lead
Clinical Commissioning Lead
GP, Helsby Health Centre

Dr Kylie
Daniels

Kelsall Medical Centre

• Senior Partner of Village Surgeries
Group
• Member of Primary Care Cheshire
• Director of Integration , countess of
Chester Hospital
• Chair, Primary Care Cheshire,
Provider 2011 to Present
• GP Advisor for Transformation for
Cheshire and Wirral Partnership
NHS Trust
• Partner at Kelsall Medical Centre

Rural Network Vice Chair

NHS West Cheshire Clinical Commissioning Group
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City GP Network
Name

Title

Declaration information

Date
Declared
March
2017

Dr Martin Allan

Lead GP for CCG for my
practice

•

Dr Raj Avula

GP Weston Avenue

•

Also Director of Foundations Property
Management Ltd (set up to manage
Foundations Health building)
None

Neil Blacklock

GP Representing Park
Medical Centre

•

GP Partner at Park Medical Centre

January
2017

Dr Tony Bland

Network Vice Chair
Representative Chester City
GP Network

•

None

March
2017

Dr Rowan
Brookes

Network (city) representative
Clinical Commissioning Lead
GP Upton Village Surgery

•
•

GP Partner Upton Village Surgery
Husband Neil Blacklock Park Medical
Centre

April 2017

Dr Kate
Bushell
Dr Robin
Davies
Dr Chris Fryar

Practice Network CCG Lead
Northgate Village

•
•
•

Partner at Garden Lane Medical Centre
Member of Primary Care
None

Network Representative

•

Director of Partners 4 Health

January
2017
March
2017
April 2017

Dr Kevin
Thomas
Guinan

Vice Chair of Chester
Networks. Cluster Lead for
South Chester

•

Dr Carole
Holme

GP at Handbridge Medical
Centre

•

Spouse is a Chartered Physiotherapists
in Private Practice
GP Representative at ACO Meetings on
behalf of Chester City GP’s with fee
claimed from Primary Care Cheshire
Senior partner of Handbridge Medical
Centre
Practice is a member practice of Primary
Care Cheshire
Wife of Dr Timothy Saunders, Chairman
and shareholder of Hospital@Home
Director at Fountains Property
Management
GP Partner Heath Lane Medical Centre
Chair and Director Partners 4 Health ltd
(unplanned care provider)
Wife: Dr Carole Holme. GP Handbridge
medical centre
Wife is a pharmacist working in MRI
(Manchester Royal infirmary)
Charity medical work overseas in
developing third world countries

•

•
•
Dr Michael
Lowrie
Dr Tim
Saunders

Dr Alexander
Teng

Elms Representative

•

CCG Clinical Lead Mental
Health
GP Clinical Commissioning
Lead Heath Lane Medical
Centre
City Network City Walls
Medical Centre Lead

•
•
•
•
•

NHS West Cheshire Clinical Commissioning Group
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March
2017

March
2017

March
2017
April 2017

December
2015

Ellesmere Port & Neston GP Network
Name

Title

Declaration information:

Date
Declared
February
2017
April 2016
February
2017

•

Richard Martin
Dr Christopher
MacDonald

Lead GP for CCG for my
practice
GP Willaston Surgery
Lead GP York Road Group
Practice, Ellesmere Port

•
•

GP Representative at all membership
council and locality meetings
None
None

Emily Morton

Network Member
Clinical Commissioning Lead
GP, Hope Farm Medical
Centre

Partnership at Old Hall Surgery
ACO rep with Primary Care Cheshire
Hope Farm Pharmacy
Local Medical Committee

April 2016

Dr Simon
Powell

•
•
•
•
•

None

April 2016

•

Primary Care Cheshire Board Member

April 2016

•

None

March
2017
February
2017

Dr Alison Daly

Dr Chris Steere Clinical Commissioning Lead
GP, Neston Medical Centre
David Thorburn Lead GP for CCG for my
practice
Caroline
Great Sutton Medical Centre
Francey
(Red/Wood)
Claire
GP Representative for
Westmoreland Westminster Surgery at

Ellesmere Port and Neston
Network

Ellen Gilchrist

Great Sutton Medical
Centre (Green/Wearne)
Whitby Group Practice

NHS West Cheshire Clinical Commissioning Group
Declaration of Interest Register – March 2017

April 2016

• Salaried GP Westminster Surgery,
employed by Cheshire and Wirral
Partnership NHS Trust (CWP)
• Stepfather is a community psychiatric
nurse employed by CWP
• Private business with Arbonne
International (skin care, health and
wellness)
•
•
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Clinical Leads
Name
Banks,
Rebecca
Pauline
Finlay
Robin
Gleek

Aidan
Magrath
Dr PM
Milner

Title

Declaration information:

Clinical Lead for Urgent Care

• None

WCCCG

•

Education Lead

• Training Programme Director for Chester
GP Vocational Training Scheme, HENW
• Director of Gleek Medical Ltd a Limited
company which provides
• Medico-legal reporting for Civil Courts
• Clinical Advice to NHS England (NW)
complaints team
• GP appraisals – NHS England (NW)
• Case Investigations NHS England (NW)
• Partner at the Elms Medical Practice

Clinical Lead for Ageing Well

Date
Declared
March
2017
March
2017
March
2016

None

March
2017
February
2017

Sue O’Dell
Julia Riley

Starting Well Clinical Lead
Clinical Lead

• GP Independent Locum/Sessional GP
• GP Extended Hours Sessional role
employed by CWP
• GP Board Director and Shareholder
Partners4Health APMS Provider
• Appraiser employed by NHSE (N) doing
GP and RO Appraisals
• My daughter Miss Catherine Milner is a
Business Manager employed by Nuffield
Hospitals Manchester
• None
• None

Catherine
Wall
Rachel
Warner
John
Wearne
Jones, Dan
Dr Tim
Saunders

Clinical Lead 111 and diabetes

• On the Board of Primary Care Cheshire

April 2017
March
2017
April 2016

GP Clinical Lead Cancer

• None

April 2016

Ophthalmology Clinical Lead

• None

April 2017

GP Clinical Lead ICT
CCG Clinical Lead Mental
Health
GP Clinical Commissioning
Lead Heath Lane Medical
Centre
Dementia Clinical Lead

• None
• GP Partner Heath Lane Medical Centre
• Chair and Director Partners 4 Health ltd
(unplanned care provider)
• Wife: Dr Carole Holme. GP Handbridge
medical centre
• None

April 2016
January
2017

Clinical Lead for Being Well,
111 and NWAS

• Governance and Quality Officer for
Primary Care Cheshire
•

CCG Clinical Lead for Planned
Care and Nursing Home
Network Chair
GP Locum working
independently and or working
as GP locum for CWP as a
sessional GP in extended
Hours service

Smith,
Sarah
Catherine
Wall
Claire
Baker
Andy
Dumbavand
Jane
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Wilkinson
Julia Riley
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